
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 8 July 2021 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Council Chamber, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr. Matthew Hand (Tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC (Chairman) 

 
Rupert Matthews 

Mark Powell 
Cllr Cheryl Cashmore 

Hayley Jackson 
Harsha Kotecha 

Jane Moore 
Ch. Supt Adam Streets 
Dr. Vivek Varakantam 

Mark Wightman 
Mike Sandys 

 
 

Jon Wilson 
Jane Toman 
John Sinnott 
Cllr. J. Kaufman 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC 
Andy Williams 
Mrs D. Taylor CC 
Mukesh Barot 
Sarah Prema 
Dr Mayur Lakhani 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Appointment of Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

 To note that the County Council’s Lead Member for Health, Mrs. L. Richardson 
CC,  has been appointed Chairman 
 

 

2.  
  

Appointment of Vice Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 
2021.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works


 
 
 
 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Position Statement by the Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 11 - 24) 

8.  
  

Overview of the Integrated Care System and 
its Purpose, Principles and Priorities.  
 

Leicester, 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Health 
and Care 
Partnership  
 

(Pages 25 - 44) 

9.  
  

Outputs and Recommendations arising from 
the Health and Wellbeing Board Development 
Session held on 25 March 2021.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 45 - 58) 

10.  
  

Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Health 
Inequalities Framework.  
 

Executive Director 
for Strategy and 
Planning LLR 
CCGs and Director 
of Public Health 
 

(Pages 59 - 
102) 

11.  
  

Wider Determinants of Health Action Plan.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 103 - 
124) 

12.  
  

Air Quality and Health Action Plan.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 125 - 
134) 

13.  
  

Leicestershire Children and Families 
Partnership Plan: Progress Update.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 135 - 
140) 

14.  
  

Domestic Abuse Act 2021.  
 

Director of Public 
Health and 
Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 141 - 
144) 

15.  
  

Transforming Care for those with Learning 
Disabilities and/or Autism.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
and Leicestershire 
Partnership Trust 
 

(Pages 145 - 
200) 

16.  
  

Framework for Integrated Personalised Care.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
and Executive 
Director of 
Integration and 
Transformation 
LLR CCGs 
 
 

(Pages 201 - 
234) 

17.  
  

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 
2020/21.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 235 - 
264) 



 
 
 
 

18.  
  

Healthwatch Annual Report 2020/21.  
 

Healthwatch 
 

(Pages 265 - 
286) 

19.  
  

Housing Services Update.  
 

Housing Services 
Partnership 
 

(Pages 287 - 
290) 

20.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 25 November 
at 2.00pm. 

 

 

21.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Thursday, 28 January 2021.  
 

PRESENT 
 
Leicestershire County Council 
 
Mr. L. Breckon CC (in the Chair)   Jane Moore 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC                                  Mike Sandys 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC    Jon Wilson 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 
Dr Ahyow 
Dr Lakhani 
Andy Williams 
Caroline Trevithick 
 
District Councils 
 
Cllr. J. Kaufman 
Cllr. P. King 
Jane Toman 
 
In Attendance 
 
Mark Wightman   University Hospital of Leicester 
Lord Willy Bach   Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Ch Supt Adam Streets  Leicestershire Police 
Harsha Kotecha   Healthwatch Leicestershire 
Helen Thompson   Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 
Apologies 
 
Mr. R. Blunt CC, Hayley Jackson, John Sinnott, Dr. Vivek Varakantam and Mukesh Barot 
 
 

251. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 November 2020 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed. 
 

252. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 

5 Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 

253. Declarations of Interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. Cllr Kaufman declared a personal interest in the 
substantive items on the agenda as his son worked for NHS England.  
 

254. Position Statement by the Chairman.  
 
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:- 
 

 The crucial work being undertaken by health, social care and community partners 
during the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. 
 

 The ‘Its down to us’ media campaign which had seen partners work together to 
produce a range of communications to encouraging residents to play their part in 
controlling the spread of coronavirus. 
 

 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment chapters published during the 2018 – 21 
cycle and the two outstanding chapters which were due to be completed in the 
next year. 
 

 The Start a Conversation and Mental Health Campaigns which signposts to a 
range of wellbeing or mental health support for adults locally and nationally, 
collated on the Start a Conversation website. 
 

 Weight Management Service which continues to be raising awareness of the 
service and its free, personalised support over the phone and online. 
 

 The Leicestershire Warm Homes Fund Project which was working with E.ON to 
provide people across the region with free, first-time gas central heating 
installation. 

  
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.  
 
 

255. Technology Enabled Care.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and 
Communities concerning the diagnostic work undertaken to explore opportunities to 
maximise the use of technology enabled care (TEC) across the adult social care 
pathway. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director said that a commissioning exercise undertaken with Hampshire County 
Council, which had a strong track record in implementing TEC within its social care offer, 
had highlighted the fragmented nature of the current social care pathway across the 
County. He added that there was an eagerness amongst practitioners within the Council 
for change which would be based on service user outcomes.  
 
He added that based on the diagnostic work undertaken, the County Council’s Cabinet 
would be asked to approve the proposal to commission a county wide transformation 
approach - establishing a new service with the responsibility for providing TEC to those 
people who were eligible for adult social care. 
 

6



 
 

 

 

In response to questions from members, the following points were noted;  
 

 The County Council had been in discussion with district council colleagues with 
regard to the development of the new approach. The new offer would complement 
existing services, which were already delivering vital provision across the County. 
Work would continue to explore how the new service could incorporate the offer 
being provided by the Lightbulb Project. It was suggested that a TEC pilot could be 
undertaken to aid understanding before the full service was introduced.   

 

 The Council was not seeking to introduce a response service as part of the 
commissioning exercise and it was therefore important the new provision aligned 
to the existing provision delivered by partners. The Council would work closely 
with providers to ensure this happened.  
 

 The NHS were piloting the use of technology in homes to help people with their 
health and wellbeing. There was an opportunity for social care and health to work 
together to provide technological solutions which could deliver multiple outcomes 
of care. 
 

 When introducing new technologies, consideration would need to be given to 
those service users who were reluctant to embrace new technology to ensure their 
needs continued to be met.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the findings of the diagnostic work undertaken to explore opportunities to 
maximise the use of Technology Enabled Care (TEC) as summarised in 
paragraphs 17 and 18 of the report be noted; 
 

b) That is be noted that the conclusions of a detailed business case and 
recommendations concerning the proposed approach to deliver TEC in 
Leicestershire will be considered by the Cabinet on the 5 February 2021; 
 

c) That is be noted that a further update will be considered by the Board later in 
2021. 

 
256. Recommendations and Actions arising from the Healthwatch report concerning Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Services in Leicester and Leicestershire.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) which 
provided an update on the progress to address concerns arising from Healthwatch 
Leicester and Leicestershire’s report concerning Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) in Leicester and Leicestershire. A copy of the paper marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is 
filed with these minutes.  
 
It was noted that the Healthwatch report, which had sought to evaluate service users’ 
experiences of the referral process and their treatment/plan of care, had culminated in 
nine recommendations. As a result, LPT had developed an improvement plan and the 
report detailed the progress made against each of the recommendations.  
 
Arising from discussion the following points were noted: 
 

7



 
 

 

 

 As a result of the Service’s response to the coronavirus pandemic, and a 
substantial increase in referrals, it had been unable to make significant progress in 
reducing the length of wait times post the initial assessment. Currently, the 
majority of initial urgent assessments were seen within the target of 4 weeks, with 
the majority of routine appointments being undertaken within the target of 13 
weeks. In response to concerns regarding the length of time many service users 
had to wait, particularly as in many cases young people were not accepted onto 
the CAMHS referral list immediately and had therefore been experiencing mental 
health issues for a period of time before their treatment began, it was noted that all 
crisis referrals, which were considered higher priority than urgent cases, continued 
to be assessed within two hours, with a further follow up undertaken within 24 
hours. The Government’s Long-Term Plan set an ambition that all young people 
would have access to support within four weeks and that would be phased in 
within the next five years alongside the Mental Health Investment Standard 
 

 Whilst the first assessment undertaken following a CAMHS referral did not 
constitute the start of treatment, the initial assessment did provide users with 
psychoeducation and signposting for self-help whilst they waited for treatment. 

 

 The local Clinical Commissioning Groups had commissioned a Triage and 
Navigation System in May 2020 which had created a single point of access for 
such referrals, directing patients to the correct place. The new system was also 
able to direct service users to step down services once their time with CAMHS had 
concluded.  
 

 There was a concern that the increased levels of young people requiring support 
with mental health issues was placing substantial pressures on services across 
the County. The systems collective response to the rise in mental health need 
would be discussed at the Children and Young Peoples Design Group. 

 

 LPT continued to work hard to improve services. The Government’s plans to 
improve the emotional and mental health needs for children and young people 
focused on additional resource at the early intervention and help stage of the 
pathway. In line with this approach, The Mental Health Support Teams in Schools 
programme for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland would bring additional, 
targeted mental health expertise to more than 60 schools in the region benefiting 
some 24,000 pupils and their teachers. 
 

 LPT was not the sole provider of services which supported children with emotional 
and mental health needs. Work to strengthen the early intervention offer provided 
by Relate and online counselling provision delivered by Kooth had been 
undertaken and the system as a whole was working together to review and refresh 
its approach.   
 

 Work was ongoing with partners in order to deliver the system wide transformation 
programme which would improve the pathway to ensure children entered the 
system at the right point and were escalated for diagnosis where appropriate. The 
Children and Young Peoples Design Group had oversight of the Transformation 
Programme which would inform a demand and capacity analysis of the system, 
produce a delivery model based on the available resource, and highlight any 
potential gaps. 
 

8



 
 

 

 

 The benefits of CAMHS users being able to continually receive help from the same 
specialist was clear, as was the timely turnaround of reports/updates for the young 
people and their families. Work would continue to try and ensure that this could 
happen wherever possible.  
 

 In reference to the recommendation arising from the lack of people using public 
transport to attend CAHMS appointments, it was noted that those specific findings 
were based on only one individual’s feedback. It was acknowledged that some 
service users were reluctant to use public transport and consideration was being 
given to as to how the Service utilised different forms of contact to ensure it 
remained accessible for all.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Leicestershire Partnership Trust’s response to the findings of the Healthwatch report 
concerning Specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services in Leicester and 
Leicestershire be noted. 
 

257. Better Care Fund Plan 2020/21.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which sought 
approval for the Leicestershire Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan for 2020/21 due to be 
submitted to NHS England before the end of the financial year. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.  
 

a) That the BCF Plan, including the associated expenditure, for 2020/21 for 
submission to NHS England be approved; 
 

b) That should there be any further changes to guidance or funding allocations which 
require minor amendments to the BCF Plan, the Chief Executive of Leicestershire 
County Council, following consultation with the Chairman of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, be authorised to finalise the BCF Plan and submit to NHS 
England; 
 

c) That it be noted that the NHS Policy Statement did not set national metrics for 
2020-21. 

 
258. Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement Approval and Assurance.  

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which sought 
approval for a revised Leicestershire Better Care Fund (BCF) section 75 (s75) agreement 
for 2020/21. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.  
 

a) That the work undertaken to refresh the s75 pooled budget agreement for the BCF 
be noted; 
 

b) That the continuation of s75 pooled budget arrangements between Leicestershire 
County Council, East Leicestershire and Rutland and West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) be approved. 

 
259. Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Update.  

 

9



 
 

 

 

The Board considered a report of Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire 
which provided an outline of the current structure at the organisation and plans for 2021. 
 
It was noted that one of Healthwatch’s focus areas for 2021 would be to evaluate how 
patients viewed potential changes to the way in which some health services would be 
provided post Covid-19 and to ensure the patient perspective was at the forefront of 
considerations as new ways of healthcare delivery were implemented.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire’s approach to promoting the needs of 
patients and communities across Leicester and Leicestershire be noted. 
 

260. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be held on 
Thursday 27 May 2021 at 2.00pm. 
 
{This meeting was subsequently cancelled} 
 

2.00  - 3.30 pm CHAIRMAN 
28 January 2021 

 

10



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY REFRESH 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Health and Wellbeing Board a 

proposed approach to the development of a revised Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS).  

 
Recommendation 
 

 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 
a) Approve the proposed development of a revised Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy (JHWS); 
 

b) Note the establishment of a JHWS Partnership Project Board which will lead 
on the development and associated engagement with Leicestershire 
residents in order to produce the revised JHWS; 

 
c) Note the intended review of the governance structure of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board, including its Terms of Reference and subgroups, the 
outcome of which will be presented to the Board for approval at its meeting 
on 25 November; 

 
d) Note the development of a Health and Wellbeing Board Communication and 

Engagement Strategy Plan to support the delivery of the revised JHWS and 
the creation of a visual identity for the Board to support partnership work 
across the County; 

 
e) Note that a draft revised JHWS will be presented to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board for approval to consult at its meeting on the 25 November. 
 
 
Background 

 
3. In February 2021, the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) published 

proposals through the White paper: Integration and Innovation: Working together to 
improve health and social care for all, to develop the NHS long term plan and bring 
forward measures for statutory Integrated Care Systems (ICS) from April 2022i. The 
NHS long term plan highlights the importance of joint working and the White Paper 
outlines a duty for the NHS and Local Authorities to collaborate with the introduction 

11 Agenda Item 7



 
 

of Health and Care Partnerships to support integration and address health, public 
health and social care need with a key responsibility being supporting place based 
joint work.  

 
4. Although flexible in its approach, locally the ICS footprint covers Leicestershire, 

Leicester and Rutland and will be designed and delivered at system, place and 
neighbourhood with the development of a place-based plan across Leicestershire, 
which will include chapters and draw from information in the plans being developed 
across localities during 2021.  

 
5. There is recognition regarding the opportunities of bringing together ICSs and place-

based HWBs to align and compliment supporting workstreams and priorities. The 
Leicestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) is due for renewal in 
2022 and this provides a timely opportunity for Leicestershire to align the new 
strategy and place-based plan to create one clear strategic vision for place. This will 
be supported by chapters, which will be tailored and operationalised to reflect varying 
locality needs and fed up to shape the wider Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
ICS vision. This report summarises the proposed changes in terms of governance 
and approach to the HWB and JHWS, to capitalise on this timely opportunity and 
ensure Leicestershire place, vision and implementation is fit for purpose.  

 
Integrated Care System and definition of a place-based plan 
 
6. The Integrated Care System (ICS) has now been approved, consisting of the NHS 

bodies of the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCG’s) which merge into an ICS body from April 2022, Leicester 
Partnership Trust (LPT), the University Hospitals Leicester (UHL) along with East 
Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) and Derbyshire Healthcare United (DHU).  The 
ICS brings together these NHS partners with the three local authorities: Leicester 
City Council, Leicestershire County Council, and Rutland Council, and wider partners 
such as the voluntary and community sector. Place-based plans are a key driver for 
the new ICS, with plans being developed for Leicester City, Leicestershire County 
and Rutland.  The objectives for these plans are being developed with each place but 
will broadly reflect the following: 

 

 Taking a collaborative approach to health and wellbeing, bringing together a 

range of partners and people to plan together. 

 Making a shift to prevention to tackle the causes of poor health and wellbeing as 

well as treating the symptoms. 

 Ensuring there is alignment between national targets and local delivery across the 

system.   

 Making the best use of community assets and people’s own skills; promoting 

independence 

 Planning for changes in population to ensure our health and wellbeing services 

are ready and able to respond. 

With strong overlap between the functions of a JHWS and Place Led Plans, a common 
approach to developing a plan is a  sensible way forward. 
 
 

12



 
 

 
Proposals 
 
Review of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s Governance Arrangements 
 
7. HWBs were established as statutory committees under the Health and Social Care 

Act 2012. The statutory functions fulfilled by the Board are to prepare Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessments (JSNA) and a JHWS which is a duty of both the Local Authority 
and Clinical Commissioning Groups. The HWB is a key forum established with 
collaborative decision makers, and commissioning leads from across the County 
Council, Borough and District Councils and the NHS, informed by the views of 
patients, people who use services and other partners who bring expert knowledge of 
the local community to enhance the JSNAs and JHWSs. The JHWS sets out the 
vision, priorities and action agreed at the HWB and identified in the JSNAs to 
improve the health, care and wellbeing of local communities and reduce health 
inequalities for all ages. The 2019 Annual Report can be accessed at this link: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s154307/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Boar
d%20Annual%20Report%202019.pdf and the 2020/2021 report reflecting on 
progress made during a difficult year is being presented at this meeting, seeking its 
approval for publication.  

 
8. A governance structure can be found in appendix A highlighting the current 

governance and sub-groups reporting into the HWB. 
 
9. The Leicestershire HWB has delivered and supported a change of transformational 

health and care programmes over the years. However recent feedback from the 
Board has suggested that partners are unsure of their role and purpose at the Board 
and have highlighted that continual Board development is vital to ensure it remains at 
the forefront of changes across the system and remains relevant for partners to add 
value and to take value. A collaborative approach is a key element of the Board with 
development sessions receiving positive feedback, and there is motivation to 
continue building an alliance across the partnership whilst reducing overlap and 
duplication with other Boards. Measuring outcomes, linking updates to strategy 
performance and ensuring clarity are also key messages Board members have fed 
back to evolve the HWB 

 
10. The JHWS refresh provides a timely opportunity to refresh and revive the Board with 

further clarity on mandate and purpose than before. It is therefore suggested that the 
following work commence; 

 
a. A Review of the current HWB terms of reference and membership - It is 

acknowledged that the HWB must evolve to become the place-based Board for 
health and care including agreeing and overseeing JHWS priorities around health 
and care integration, health protection, prevention and health inequalities 
(including the wider determinants of health). The role of the HWB will be to 
collectively create conditions for communities to flourish, with all residents having 
equal opportunities to have healthier, happier, safer and more prosperous lives. 
Partners will therefore need to provide appropriate representation to allow for 
strategic leadership, accountability and decision making across Leicestershire. 
Further partners will need to be considered as new organisations are developed 
including primary care network and local voluntary sector and community 
representation. 

13

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s154307/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board%20Annual%20Report%202019.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s154307/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board%20Annual%20Report%202019.pdf


 
 

 
b. Review the current place-based governance structure including subgroups- 

The HWB will be the place-based Board that oversees all key health and care 
priorities across Leicestershire. However, it is acknowledged that more detailed 
discussions will be needed to support implementation of these priorities and 
regularly feed these back up to the HWB. It is proposed that the JHWS is framed 
using the LLR ICS life course transformational priorities (best start in life, staying 
healthy and well, living and supported well and dying well). However, it is 
acknowledged that the narrative will need to be right for Leicestershire, with key 
cross cutting enablers, taking a wider determinant of health and place-based 
approach (i.e. considering communities, families and provider collaboratives etc.). 
To allow this to happen, it is proposed that the HWB subgroups will be redefined 
to encompass these key life course stages. It is proposed that a sponsor from the 
HWB chairs each subgroup and is accountable for a quarterly report in terms of 
progress and escalation to the HWB, this will be further outlined at the next 
meeting of the Heath and Wellbeing Board when the Draft JHWS will be 
presented. 

 
c. Figure 1 below summarises the ICS transformational life course priorities and how 

they are aligned with the proposed HWB structure. This includes redefining the 
Unified Prevention Board into a wider staying Healthy Partnership to ensure it 
addresses primary prevention and the wider determinants of health across 
Leicestershire. However, all subgroups will need to ensure reducing health 
inequalities and prevention are key themes of all workstreams. Translating the 
priorities into delivery is likely to be delivered through further delivery groups for 
example the Integrated Delivery Group, Joint Commissioning Meeting, local 
Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, provider collaboratives and district health 
leads/ Staying Healthy meetings. The roles of some of these groups may evolve 
as the wider HWB develops.  

 
Figure 1 Summary of LLR ICS proposed priorities (as of 21st May 21) aligned with HWB 
sub-groups: 

 

ICS Transformational 
Priority 

HWB Subgroup Chair/ HWB Sponsor  

Best Start in Life- We 
will focus on the first 1001 
days of life as we know 
this is critical to a child's 
life chances 
 

Children and Families 
Partnership Board 
 
Provides strategic 
leadership, direction and 
assurance on behalf of 
the HWB to ensure that 
Children and Young 
People in Leicestershire 
are safe, living in families 
where they can achieve 
their full potential and 
have good health and 
wellbeing 

Chair – Mrs Taylor CC: 
Lead Member for Children 
and Young People 
 

Staying Healthy and 
Well -We will support our 
citizens to live a healthy 

Staying Healthy 
Partnership  
 

Chair - Mike Sandys: 
Director of Public Health, 
Leicestershire County 

14



 
 

life and make healthy 
choices to prevent illness 
and support their care 
 

The district health leads 
meeting will feed into this 
group to progress specific 
District and Borough 
council work. Local 
Integrated Neighbourhood 
Teams (INTs) will also be 
key to drive delivery of 
some of this work.  
 

Council 
 
 

Living and Supported 
Well -We will focus on 
supporting those with 
multiple illnesses and who 
are frail to manage their 
health and care needs 
and live independently.   
 
 

Integration Executive – 
It will be further outlined 
at the next HWB when the 
Draft JHWS is presented, 
however the proposal is 
to expand terms of 
reference to include both 
primary and secondary 
health and social care 
integration work including 
accountability for the 
Better Care Fund.  
 
 
The key subgroup for this 
meeting will be the 
Integration Delivery 
Group to operationalise 
plans and Joint 
Commissioning Group for 
any joint commissioning 
of services. Delivery is 
likely to be linked to local 
INTs.  

Chair – Dr Andy Ahyow 
 
 

Dying Well- We will 
ensure patients have a 
personalised, 
comfortable, and 
supported end of life with 
personalised support for 
carers and families 
 

   

 
Any changes arising from the above, which will be further developed through the work of 
the JHWS Partnership Project Board (detailed in paragraph 12 below), will be presented to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board at its next meeting in November for approval.  
 

Revised approach to HWB engagement and delivery 
 

11. In addition to the above, work will also be undertaken to consider how the Board will 
engage with the local population and how partners will work together in order to deliver 
the revised Strategy. This includes: 

 
a. A Review active engagement with local residents. The JHWS refresh provides 

an opportunity to reopen the conversation with local residents to understand what 

their health and care needs and priorities are, however partners are keen to 

ensure a sustainable programme of active engagement is continued through the 

15



 
 

Board’s work. Therefore, a long term communication and engagement strategy 

plan will be developed alongside the JHWS implementation.  

 

b. The Develop a consistent look and feel for Leicestershire. The JHWS and 

HWB will aim to provide a platform to develop a ‘Leicestershire alliance’ with a 

shared culture and language to reduce organisation boundaries and ensure all 

partners support each other through the good and bad. To help support this it is 

proposed that a new Leicestershire HWB visual identity will be developed and 

used for all multiagency integration and partnership work across Leicestershire. 

 

c. A HWB proposed approach- The HWB acknowledges that partners across the 

system make a significant contribution to improving the health and wellbeing of 

the Leicestershire population both individually and collectively. Therefore, the 

HWB will adopt a ‘do, sponsor, and watch’ approach to the JHWS priorities and 

place led workplan. This will allow the board to proactively set the agenda around 

key integration and partnership priority areas, whilst allowing partners to continue 

to deliver and drive change through their subgroups and organisations without 

blockages across the system. The approach is summarised below: 

 

 ‘Do’: The JHWS will identify 1-2 key priorities for action in each of the ICS life 

course priorities. The HWB will ensure there is the appropriate spotlight on these 

areas to ensure effective and efficient multiagency delivery and accountability 

for progress on these priorities. Therefore, each priority will have a named 

Senior Responsible Officer, the appropriate metrics/ dashboard will be 

developed and there will be an expectation of regular quarterly 

reporting/discussion. The HWB agenda will ensure adequate, dedicated time is 

allocated throughout the priorities development and implementation to ensure all 

HWB partners are clear about their role and accountability in progressing the 

specific priority.  

 

 ‘Sponsor’: These are additional key work streams that contribute to the wider 

health and care integration, reduction of health inequalities and/or promote 

prevention. They are likely to be areas where work has already started, however 

they may need a renewed focus. The workstream would be supported by a 

sponsor from the HWB who is accountable to ensure they are delivered, 

however they would not be routinely discussed by the board unless the sponsor 

highlights the need for this to happen (i.e. escalation of risk/ delays in delivery, 

wider impacts on the system). For each workstream clear SMART objectives will 

be developed and sponsors identified. A highlight report will be submitted to the 

board on an annual basis.  Potential areas may include specific workstreams 

from the LLR ICS design groups and HWB subgroups that show the breadth of 

work being completed (including the wider determinants of health) for example 

air quality, education, obesity, inclusive growth, place based housing strategy, 

development of integrated neighbourhood teams, population health 

management etc. The list of ‘sponsor’ workstreams will be reviewed on an 

annual basis and published on the LCR online for partners to see who the 

sponsor and progress is for each workstream. 

 

16



 
 

 ‘Watch’: These are workstreams that are still important to the prevention and 

reducing health inequalities but are more aligned to a single organisation (rather 

than multiagency/ partnership approach), already feature as ‘business and 

usual’ or already have an established infrastructure to support implementation. 

Therefore, although the work is acknowledged, they will not be specifically 

brought the H&WB unless further action is requested at Board level. Areas may 

include specific health pathways, organisational service review/ strategies, 

special educational needs and disabilities, support for carers and dementia etc. 

Again the ‘watch’ list will be published and reviewed on an annual basis and 

each workstream will have a board link to ensure escalation to the board is 

made as needed.  

 
Development of a revised JHWS - Proposed Approach 

 
12. To ensure effective delivery and impact of the strategy, all HWB partners must own and 

support its implementation. It is therefore important that a true partnership approach is 

used to codesign the JHWS, priorities, and outcomes framework to make it right for 

Leicestershire. A JHWS Partnership Project Board has been established with 

representation from across the wider Health and Wellbeing Partnership and an initial 

partnership meeting held on the 17th June 2021 - Appendix B outlines a list of 

organisations who were represented at the session, which discussed and supported the 

following proposed approach: 

 
a. To establish a monthly JHWS Project Board with active representation from 

across the wider Health and Wellbeing partnership to progress the JHWS 
development. Specific subgroups will be established to progress the needs 
assessment, engagement and communication and development session 
components specifically. Further stakeholder engagement will also be included via 
regular updates at the HWB and its subgroups (as discussed in Figure 1.)  

 
b. As outlined in figure 1, the Project Board has agreed to consider framing the 

Strategy on the ICS life course transformational priorities. However, it is 
acknowledged that the narrative will need to be right for Leicestershire, with key 
cross cutting enablers, taking a wider determinant of health and place-based 
approach (i.e. considering links to communities, families, provider collaboratives 
etc.) 

 
c. A balance of overall Leicestershire with locality priority development will be 

needed with significant local engagement to ensure priorities reflect those that 
matter to local residents. This will take into account priorities of Leicestershire as a 
whole, and those determined through the locality plans/ health and wellbeing 
strategies, health plans etc.  

 
d. The Strategy will acknowledge the system, place and neighbourhood function 

mapping and respect that services to be delivered at the geography that best 
meet the needs of the local populations. This may mean some flexibility on the 
definition of neighbourhood across Leicestershire and acknowledgment that 
different services may be delivered at slightly different geographical patches 
including, Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) localities, Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs), Integrated Neighbour Teams (INTs) etc.  It is acknowledged 

17



 
 

that the multiagency health and social care delivery arm will be through provider 
collaboratives and at neighbourhood level, INTs. 

 
Timescales 
 

13. The proposed timeline for developing and implementing the JHWS is shown in figure 2 

below. This is an ambitious programme of work that aims to balance the need determine 

a vision for Leicestershire as soon as possible, but ensures an evidence based and 

engagement approach, to ensure the right priorities are collaboratively agreed for 

Leicestershire.  

 

Figure 2: 

 

 
 

14. It is acknowledged that the JHWS strategy will take time to develop and is still key 

transformation and integration pieces of work that will need to happen as a result of the 

pandemic, in preparation for the winter and as the strategy develops. It is therefore 

acknowledged that these key workstreams including reviewing primary care delivery and 

specifically meeting the long-term condition backlog will continue and feed into the 

JHWS. 

 

Engagement and Consultation 
 

15. It is critical that the voice of the local population is heard and used to inform the JHWS. 

The partnership JHWS Project Board will therefore lead and direct the consultation and 

engagement with stakeholders and work with Healthwatch and the wider partnership to 

ensure a patient and service user voices are heard and used to co-produce the JHWS. 

More information concerning the formal consultation exercise will be provided to the 

Board at its meeting in November.   

 

18



 
 

 

 

Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 

Director Public Health 

Leicestershire County Council 

0116 3054239 

Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 

 

Vivienne Robbins 

Public Health Consultant 

Leicestershire County Council 

0116 3055384 

Vivienne.robbins@leics.gov.uk 

 

List of Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Current Governance Structure 

Appendix B – List of Representatives on the JHWS Project Board 

 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

16. Equality and Human rights will be a key theme in embedding an equitable approach the 
JHWS engagement, development and implementation. The draft JHWS strategy will also 
include a full Equality and Human Right Impact assessment when presented to the 
Board.   
 

Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

17. To ensure crime and disorder implications are considered, links to the Leicestershire 
Safer Communities Strategy Board and wider Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner have been made through the attendance at the JHWS Project Board and 
subgroups.  
 

Environmental Implications 
 

18. To ensure environmental implications are considered, links to the County Council 
Environment and Transport department and Public Health department have been made 
through attendance at the JHWS Project Board and subgroups. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 

19. Success of the JHWS and HWB development is dependent on high quality, trusted 
partnership working and ownership. Through developing an alliance approach to the 
JHWS and HWB, it is hoped that further progress can be made across multiagency 
boundaries to improve the health and wellbeing of the Leicestershire population. The aim 

19

mailto:Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Vivienne.robbins@leics.gov.uk


 
 

is to develop a JHWS that is developed and owned across the partnership with the 
multiagency JHWS Project Board as a key enabler in ensuring this happens. 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

20. The key risk the JHWS and HWB development will be the impact of the Covid pandemic 
on resources, tight timescales and potential lack of engagement from partners. 
Feedback has been positive from partners from the initial JHWS meeting, and a full risk 
and issues log will be developed as part of the project management of the programme of 
work.  

 

 

 

  

                                            
i
 DHSC (2021) Working together to improve health and social care for all, Department of Health and Social Care, 
England. [Available online at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-
social-care-for-all] [Accessed on 07/06/21].  

20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all


   Health and Wellbeing Board Governance Structure 2021 
 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

        

     Chair - Mr Lee Breckon 

 

 

 
 

 

Unified Prevention Board 
 

Chair - Jane Toman/Mike Sandys 

 

Leading the development, design and delivery of 
Leicestershire’s unified prevention offer and the model 
for social prescribing, targeted to health and  wellbeing 
outcomes. Coordinates associated prevention activities 

and the HWB  communication plans across sectors. 

 

Children and Families Partnership Board 

 
Chair - Mrs Deborah Taylor 

 

Provides strategic leadership, direction and assurance 
on behalf of the HWB to ensure that Children and 
Young People in Leicestershire are safe, living in 

families where they can achieve their full potential ,and 
have good health and wellbeing 

Leicestershire 
Education Excellence 

Partnership 

Partnership Plan 
Priority Groups 

Youth and Justice 
Partnership Board 

Early Help 
Partnership 

Youth Campaign 
Group 

Integration Delivery Group 

Oversee the development and implementation of an operational model of 
integrated health and care for Leicestershire, in line with the vision of the 

Leicestershire Integration Executive and, where applicable, the LLR Better Care 
Together Partnership, so that the agreed vision, service models and outcomes 

are delivered for the benefit of the residents of Leicestershire. 

Develop the Place based delivery plan and outcomes framework 

Leicestershire Joint Commissioning Group 

Lead and oversee delivery of the health and care joint commissioning outcomes 
framework and joint commissioning workplan at Place (areas such as Learning 

Disability, Personal Health Budgets, Domiciliary Care etc.) 

 

Integrated Finance and Reporting Group 

Develop s75 agreements and oversee the performance of existing s75 
agreements. Oversee task groups to develop/update individual s75/other 

partnership agreements. 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

        

     Chair – Mrs Richardson 

 

 

 

Integrated Executive Board 

 

Chair - Dr Ahyow 

 

Leading integration policy implementation, 

including the Better Care Fund. 

Provides strategic leadership, direction and 

assurance, on behalf of the HWB Board to ensure 

that the overall vision for health and care 

integration is delivered. 

SEND and Inclusion 

Board 

 

21

file://///LCCFP1/pubhdata/PH_Data/Staff%20Folders/Current%20Staff/Jo%20Hewitt/HWB%20TORs.pdf
file:///Z:/Staff Folders/Current Staff/Jo Hewitt/HWB TORs.pdf
../HWB Governance/LEEP TOR.doc
../HWB Governance/CYP SEND Board TOR  June 2020_V2.1.docx
../HWB Governance/JCG TORs.docx


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

JHWS Project Board 

Attendance List 

 

LCC: 

 Public Health 

 Children and Family Services 

 Adults and Communities  

 Communications 

 Business Intelligence 

 Growth Unit 

 Environment and Transport  

 Communities, Policy and Resilience 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 

Healthwatch 

University Hospitals Leicester 

Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

Voluntary Action Leicestershire 

District Representative – Lead District Officer for Health and Housing 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

Leicestershire Police 

Leicestershire and Rutland Sport 

 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHRE AND RUTLAND HEALTH 
AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM AND ITS PURPOSE, 

PRINCIPLES AND PRIORITIES 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report and appended presentation is to provide the Health and 

Wellbeing Board with an overview of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Integrated Care System (ICS) including key components of the recently published 
Integrated Care Systems: design framework which was published by NHS England. 
This framework sets out guidance about how ICS’s are expected to develop their 
local system. 
 

2. The paper also seeks comments and feedback from the Board on the work the LLR 
Health and Care Partnership Group has undertaken to develop its draft Purpose, 
Principles and Priorities. These have been developed through a series of workshops 
involving partners and supported by a Task and Finish Group.  

 
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 
3. The development of Integrated Care System is to support the continued integration of 

services and the wider determinants of health; reducing health inequalities and 
variation in outcomes. 
 

4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a key component of the ICS and will be the group 
driving the plans for each place and as such the Health and Wellbeing Strategy will 
be the key strategic plan for each place.  

 
5. The development of ICS’s is designed to progress the integration agenda at a local 

level through the integration of health and social care and joint work on the wider 
determinants of health. 

 
Recommendation 

 
 

6. The Board is asked to note the content of the report and presentation and comment 
on the draft LLR ICS Purpose, Principles and Priorities. 

 
 
 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

25 Agenda Item 8



 
 

 
7.  The development of Integrated Care System has been set out in the following 

documents: 
 

 Integrating care: next steps to building strong and effective integrated care 
systems which was published by NHS England in November 2020. 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-
integrated-care-systems-across-england/ 
 

 Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all which was published by the Department of Health and Social Care in 
February 2021.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/96054
8/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf 
 

 NHS Operational and Planning Guidance which was published by NHS 
England in March 2021 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/2021-22-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance/ 
 

 Integrated Care Systems: design framework which was published by NHS 
England in June 2021. 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf 
 

The changes are subject to the formal legislation being approved by Parliament. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Sarah Prema, Executive Director Strategy and Planning, LLR CCGs 
Email: sarah.prema@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk 

Appendices 
 
Presentation 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
The ICS will inherit the CCGs statutory responsibilities around equality. In addition one of 
the main focus areas for ICS’s is how they can reduce inequalities across their 
populations; impacting on the wider determinants of the health and their impact on the 
social and economic position of their system. A key driver to this will be the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for each area. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
The proposals are all about the system working together to improve outcomes for our 
population with particular emphasis on health and social care integration and the impact 
on wider determinants of health and the impact on the social and economic outcomes of 
the area. 

 
 

26

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/2021-22-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf
mailto:sarah.prema@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk


Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated Care System

Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated 

Care System Overview and

Draft LLR ICS Purpose, Principles and Priorities

8th July 2021

27

mhand
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX



Integrated Care Systems – What are they?

2

Integrated Care Systems will: 

➢ Improve outcomes in the population

➢ Tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access

➢ Support partners input into the broader social and economic development of the area through an anchor approach

➢ Enhance productivity and value for money

Enabling transformation of health and care:

➢ Joining up and co-ordination of health and care 

➢ Proactive and preventative in focus

➢ Responsive to the needs of local populations

Grounded in the following:

➢ Planning for populations and population health outcomes and reducing inequalities and unwarranted variation

➢ Building on system and place based partnerships 

➢ Subsidiarity and local flexibility

➢ Collaboration 

28



Our system

3

Integrated Care System: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

Place

Leicester

Leicestershire

Rutland

Neighbourhoods
Place Local Integration Hubs

Leicester Central; South; North West; North East

Leicestershire North West Leicestershire; Hinckley; Blaby & Lutterworth; 
Charnwood; Melton & Rutland; Harborough, Oadby & 
Wigston

Rutland Rutland

29



What does this mean for Leicestershire

4

This is not a new approach – it is a continuation of what we have been doing:

Understanding and working with 
communities

Population health management 
approach

Joining up and coordinating 
services

Addressing social and economic 
determinants of health and 
wellbeing and reducing health 
inequalities

30



Examples of what we have been doing

5

Community based teams to 
keep people independent 

and well at home or in their 
communities

Working across organisations 
to organise a home and 

support for people who have 
been in long term hospital 

care

Delivery of the COVID 
vaccination programme

Moving some planned care 
into settings closer to where 

people live (not in acute 
hospitals)

Partnerships with the 
voluntary sector or deliver 

mental health support 
services

Community based service 
that ensures that only those 
that need a hospital stay go 
to hospital while others are 

supported at their home

31



Priorities for Integration and 

Transformation in Leicestershire

➢ Procurement of Homecare for Leicestershire to
strengthen integrated Home First delivery for
Leicestershire residents

➢ Investment of Ageing Well funds to increase workforce
within Community Response Service to support care
pathways and timely hospital discharge

➢ Implement one model of care coordination across
Leicestershire to remove unwarranted variation and
improve equity of access

6

32



Overview of ICS infrastructure

7

Integrated Care System
Accountable for improving the health outcomes of the population 

Health and Wellbeing Board

Leicestershire Integration Executive

Leicestershire Integration Delivery Group

Health and Care Partnership Group

LLR ICS NHS Board (replace CCGs)

Place

System

33



Place infrastructure

8

Integrated Care System
Accountable for improving the health outcomes of the population 

34



System infrastructure

9

LLR ICS NHS Board 
➢ Takes on CCG statutory responsibilities
➢ Lead integration within the NHS
➢ Bring together all those involved in

planning and providing NHS services to
take a collaborative approach to agreeing
and delivering ambitions for the health of
their population

➢ Joint working arrangements should be the
norm

➢ Shared strategic priorities within the NHS
➢ Wider partnership working to tackle

population health and enhance health and
care services

LLR ICS Health and Care Partnership
➢ NHS and local government as equal

partners
➢ Joint action to improve health and care

services
➢ Influence the wider determinants of health

and broader social and economic
development

➢ Develop an integrated care strategy for
whole population

➢ Support place and neighbourhood-level
engagement

Integrated Care System
Accountable for improving the health outcomes of the population

35



Membership

10

Integrated Care System
Accountable for improving the health outcomes of the population 

Jointly appointed Chair 

Representatives from local authorities responsible for social care

NHS Representation – at least one from the ICS

Other membership is for local determination but could include wider representation from LAs and NHS; VCSE sector; 
HealthWatch; and other organisations that can contribute to the agenda of the group

Independent Chair and minimum of 2 non-executive directors

ICS Chief Executive; ICS Director Finance; ICS Nursing lead; ICS Medical Director; NHS Trust Representative; Primary Care 
Representation; Local Authority Representation

Other membership is for local determination 

Health and Care 
Partnership

Group

LLR ICS NHS 
Board

36



Timeline

11

End of Q1

PREPATION

End of Q2

IMPLEMENTATION
End of Q3

IMPLEMENTATION

End of Q4

TRANSITION

• Understand guidance

• Develop plans to 

manage the change

• Recruitment and selection 

processes for the ICS 

NHS body chair and chief 

executive

• Develop delivery model 

and governance model 

including system and 

place proposals

• Continue with delivering 

the plans for the change

• Carry out the recruitment 

and selection processes 

senior management team

• ICS NHS bodies and ICS 

Partnerships to be ready 

to operate in shadow form.

• Engagement on local ICS 

Constitution and 

governance arrangements 

for ICS NHS body and ICS 

Partnership.

• Continue with delivering 

the plans for the change

• Complete due diligence 

for staff and property 

transfers from CCGs and 

other NHS staff transfers 

to new ICS NHS body 

• Submit the any required 

documents r 

approval/agree

• Undertake the close 

down of CCGs and 

establish ICS

The full Integrated Care Systems: design framework can be found at:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-
ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf

37

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf


12

Draft LLR ICS Purpose, Principles and Priorities 38



Background

13

➢ The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated Care System Health and Care Partnership
Group has developed its draft Purpose, Principles and Priorities through a series of
workshops with partners.

➢ Each workshop built on the previous discussion to finalise proposals.
➢ Support was provided through a Task and Finish Group, of partners, between workshops to

refine the proposals.
➢ At the final workshop on 17th May 2021 members were asked to provide any final comments

before consideration by the Health and Care Partnership Group on 17th June 2021.
➢ The Health and Care Partnership Group asked for the Purpose, Principles and Priorities to be

considered by Health and Wellbeing Boards before final approval was given by the Group.
➢ Therefore the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board is asked for their comments and

feedback on the proposed draft LLR ICS Purpose, Principals and Priorities.

39



Purpose

14

Working together for everyone in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland to have healthy, 

fulfilling lives

40



Principles

15

Principles

Everything we do is centred on the people and  communities of LLR and we will work together with respect, 

trust, openness and common purpose to 

Ensure that everyone has 

equitable access to health and 

care services and high quality 

outcomes

Make decisions  that enable great 

care for our residents

Deliver services that are convenient 

for our residents to access

Develop integrated services 

through co-production and in 

partnership with our residents

Make LLR health and care a great 

place to work and volunteer

Use our combined resources to 

deliver the very best value for 

money and to support the local 

economy and environment

41



Transformational Priorities

16

Transformational Priorities
we will transform the following areas ensuring we take steps to improve the equity of access and outcomes 

Best Start in Life

We will focus on the first 1001 days of life to enable 
more equity in outcomes as we know this is critical to a 

child's life chances

Staying Healthy and Well

We will support our residents to live a healthy life and 
make healthy choices to maintain wellbeing and 

independence within their communities

Living and Supported Well

We will focus on supporting those with multiple 

conditions and who are frail  to manage their health and 

care needs and live independently  

Dying Well

We will ensure people have a personalised, comfortable, 

and supported end of life with personalised support for 

carers and families

42



Operational Priorities

17

Operational Priorities – We will:

Work together across health and local authorities to 
deliver the COVID vaccination programme and winter 

Flu programme ensuring maximum uptake

Recover services across all sectors of our partnership 
that have been affected during the pandemic improving 

our communication with our residents as we do this

Deliver changes to UHL hospitals  and 
transform our mental health services ensuring 

appropriate local delivery

Work together across health and care to transform 
access to the health and care services we provide, with a 

focus on primary care, urgent care, chronic conditions
and mental health services

Note: these priorities will be the focus of  the LLR ICS NHS Board to deliver working 
with partners as necessary

43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

OUTPUTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARISING FROM THE HEALTH 

AND WELLBEING BOARD DEVELOPMENT SESSION HELD ON 25 

MARCH 2021 

 

Purpose of report 

1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Health and Wellbeing Board a 

summary of the outputs arising from the Board’s Development Session held 

on the 25 March 2021. The Board is also asked to support the actions arising 

from the session.  

Recommendation 

2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to support the actions arising from 

the Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session as detailed in 

paragraph 8 of the report.  

Background 

Purpose and Overview of the Development Session 

3. The focus of the session was to consider wider determinants of health in 

Leicestershire along with the draft partnership LLR Health Inequalities 

Framework that will be a key driving force in the COVID recovery landscape, 

and will shape the shortly to be refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Board 

Strategy.   
 

4. The Public Health Consultant lead offered attendees an introduction to the 

concept of the wider determinants of health, describing the diverse social, 

economic and environmental factors which impact on an indidual’s health, and 

helped partners understand what makes communities or individuals 

susceptible to poor health. The presentation explored the significant impact 

these factors have on healthy life expectancy, health inequalities and 

outcomes and how these can be interrelated and compound impact.  The 

current picture around health inequalities within Leicestershire was explored 

using data grouped together into four themes, that were then explored further 

throughout the session. 
 

5. A presentation on the draft LLR Health Inequalities Framework and translation 
to place, gave attendees an introduction into the partnership process 

45 Agenda Item 9



undertaken so far, the golden thread from system to place and an outline of 
how health inequalities fit into place-based plans. 

 
6. The agenda for the development session is provided at Appendix A along with 

a list of the organisations represented at the development session at 
Appendix B and pledges partners made at Appendix C.  

 
Breakout Sessions 

7. Following the presentations, attendees were split into four focussed breakout 

groups in order to further discuss the wider determinants of health in 

Leicestershire. Initial discussion was based on data that had been circulated 

to attendees which attendees were asked to review, identify priorities within 

and discuss any missing areas for future focus. The chosen topic areas were 

housing and homelessness, communities, skills and work and the natural and 

built environment. The breakout sessions allowed attendees broader 

discussion supported by expert facilitators and business intelligence led data. 

Discussion during each breakout session is summarised below: 

Housing and Homelessness 

 There was recognition that there is currently a lack of qualitative data with 
regards to poor housing and its impact on health. Therefore, it was felt that 
there was an opportunity to develop as a system to increase understanding 
and involve communities and the patient voice.  

 It was seen as essential that existing strategic channels were used to ensure 
new housing developments were accompanied by the necessary 
infrastructure in order for residents to feel part of a community and have 
access to services. The County Council’s Strategic Growth Plan was identified 
as an important document to progress such an approach.    

 There was also a need to look at existing housing within Leicestershire and 
consider the necessary steps to ensure that all housing was of a good 
standard and those living there had access to the appropriate level of local 
health services and felt part of a cohesive community. 

 The ‘Everyone In’ campaign had enabled partners to engage with rough 
sleepers, a cohort which had previously been difficult to engage with. It was 
hoped these communication channels would continue moving forward. This 
engagement also provides an opportunity for the health needs of the 
homeless the be addressed. 

Communities 

 The pandemic was seen to have provided partners with the opportunity to 

reconsider how they engage with communities, particularly children and 

young people. The system had a responsibility to provide the mechanisms to 

enable people to be actively involved in discussions about health and feel 

their voice is being heard.  

 

46



 It was noted that whilst a system and placed based approach was important, 

neighbourhoods played a key role in finding real solutions to health issues 

and good examples of this could be found throughout Leicestershire.  

 

 It was important that the system embraced digitisation in order to improve the 

provision of health and social care across Leicestershire. However, there was 

a responsibility on providers to ensure the use of technology did not have a 

detrimental effect on cohorts who were not digitally literate.  

 

 It was recognised that those who lived in a deprived area were more likely to 

be impacted by cuts to services and often experienced increased barriers to 

access. Partners should ask themselves whether resources (financial, 

physical etc) were going to where they were most needed. The system would 

have to consider whether its current approach was promoting health ahead of 

the economy. Consideration to how we embed an effective ‘health in all 

policies’ approach across all organisations represented on the health and 

wellbeing board. 

 

 The ‘make every contact count’ ethos shared by partners is important and it 

was crucial all partners continued to support the approach 

 

 The responsibility of patients to take a certain amount of responsibility for their 

own health was also discussed.  

Skills and Work 

 The link between investment in good health and economic prosperity and 

productivity was seen as particularly evident and it is hoped that the Board 

should continue to use its influence to encourage continued investment in 

health and social care.  

 

 The significant impact of the coronavirus pandemic beyond the nation’s 

physical health was discussed, an example being the effect on children and 

young adults who had missed out on significant periods of education. 

Consideration was given around how this could be mitigated through 

promotion of the programmes such as Kickstart and the workplace health 

offer for employees.  Key partnership working opportunities, such as with the 

LLEP (Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership), are seen as pivotal to 

engagement with local programmes and workplaces and identifying gaps in 

provision and need. 

 

 Understanding is increasing around the impact on an individual’s long-term 

development as a result of Adverse Childhood Experiences, and limited life 

chances at an early age. The latter was discussed as likely to have been 

exacerbated by the pandemic. A Trauma Aware System Change Model to 

manage ACEs had been adopted by partners. 

 

47



 When developing economic strategies, it was discussed how partners would 

need to ensure the views of communities were heard. They must also align 

with other previously agreed strategies.  

 

 Partners acknowledged the value of sharing health and wellbeing messages 

with local employers which could be disseminated to their staff. This could 

lead to significant amounts of the local population having a greater 

understanding of good health and the knowledge available to access various 

forms of health care on and off site. Support for and need within smaller 

employers and micro businesses was also discussed as requiring further 

exploration, particularly post-pandemic.   

Natural and Built Environment 

 There appeared to be a lack of accessible health data available when forming 
an approach to healthy design. It was important the design of built 
environments was undertaken strategically with key agencies deciding and 
agreeing on what they should look like.  
 

 New housing estates would benefit from being designed in a way which 
encouraged physical activity and have access to the necessary health and 
wellbeing infrastructure. The pandemic had highlighted the importance of 
access to green space and inequalities within this access. 
 

 The two-tier planning system in Leicestershire has historically caused 
difficulties. It was seen as essential that a strategic approach was taken to 
health in planning, aligned to the Strategic Growth Plan with commitment from 
all associated parties. 
 

 Health partners had the ability to influence local plans as part of the 
consultation exercise undertaken during the development of district local 
place- based plans. Work is underway looking at how health impact 
assessments could be used at the Local Plan stage and then the local 
development stage to strategically embed health within the planning process.  
 

Summary and Actions 

 

8. Following the breakout sessions, attendees reconvened as a group in order 

for the discussions to be summarised and any action points highlighted. The 

following was noted: 

 

 It would be necessary for the local NHS and partners to look at health 

inequalities at place level, driven by senior leadership who has an 

understanding of a system-based approach. There would also need to be 

consideration as to how this would be delivered via the current population 

health management and place-based approach. 

 

48



 Work to address wider determinants and health inequalities would benefit 

from a whole system approach, collated by a formal Wider Determinants Plan 

and feeding into the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

 

 Work to address wider determinants would benefit from the strengthening of 

existing links between partners. Similarly, improved engagement with PCN’s 

which could provide further neighbourhood level insight, would be beneficial.  

 

 A formal ‘Health in All Polices’ approach could be explored across the wider 

Health and Social Care partnership and Health and Wellbeing Board 

members. This would help drive outcomes and ensure health and wellbeing 

was an important element of future policy making.  

 

 Health and Social Care and health inequalities should be a primary 

consideration within the delivery of the Strategic Growth Plan. 

Actions 

 That a revised Health Inequalities Framework would be presented to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board at a future meeting. 

 

 That a Wider Determinants Plan, driven by discussions on need from this 

session would be developed and presented to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board at a future meeting. 

 

 That further work be undertaken to explore how the Health and Wellbeing 

Board could engage with other boards to progress the health inequalities 

work. 

 

 That further work be undertaken to explore how the Board could engage with 

PCNs. 

 

 That a ‘Health in All Polices’ be explored across the wider Health and Social 

Care partnership. 

Pledges 

9. Attendees were invited to make a pledge to reduce health inequalities. These 

commitments included: 

 

- I will talk to colleagues around refreshing the health workstream within the 

Strategic Growth Plan. 

- I will work more closely with a range of Local Authority partners on aligning 

actions with the NHS on health inequalities and the wider determinants of 

health.  
- I recognise the need for training and upskilling of healthcare professionals 

around these areas and how to increase GP access for those most in need. 
- I will follow up on conversations around the links between health and GDP. 

49



- I will be mindful around how long-term growth affects health and work with 

stakeholders around this.  
- I will work to improve the life chances of those who are disadvantaged or 

excluded within our communities.   

For completeness Appendix C details the pledges received in full.  

Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 

Director of Public Health 

mike.sandys@leices.gov.uk 

Telephone: 0116 305 4239 

 

Kelly-Marie Evans 

Consultant in Public Health 

kelly-marie.evans@leics.gov.uk 

Telephone: 0116 305 7941 

 

Jenna Parton 

Strategic Lead, Wider Determinants of Health 

Jenna.parton@leics.gov.uk 

Telephone: 0116 305 7392 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A - Development Session Agenda 

Appendix B – List of organisations in attendance 

Appendix C – Pledges received  

 

 

 

 

50

mailto:mike.sandys@leices.gov.uk
mailto:kelly-marie.evans@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jenna.parton@leics.gov.uk


Health Inequalities and Wider Determinants 

Development Session 25th March 2021 

Agenda 

Item  Time Item Facilitator 

1 2.00pm Welcome Mr Breckon (Lead member for 

Health) 

2 2.05pm Introduction Kelly-Marie Evans (Public Health 

Consultant) 

3 2.25pm LLR HI Framework and translation to place Mark Pierce (Head of Population 

Health Management - CCGs) 

4 2.45pm Breakout Group 1 – Housing and 

Homelessness 

Sharon Stacey (Chair of the Chief 

Housing Officers Group - HBBC) 

    Break out Group 2 – Communities Simon Dalby (Community 

Delivery Manager LCC) 

5 3.15pm Group feedback Mike Sandys (Director of Public 

Health) 

6 3.35pm BREAK   

7 3.45pm Breakout Group 3 – Skills and Work Sarah Rudkin (Economic Growth 

LCC) 

    Breakout Group 4 – Natural and Built 
Environment 

Dylan Jones (Planning Obligations 
LCC) 

8 4.15pm Group feedback and summary Mike Sandys (Director of Public 

Health) 

9 4.35pm Pledge – What can you do? Kelly-Marie Evans (Public Health 

Consultant) 

10 4.40pm Next Steps Mike Sandys (Director of Public 

Health) 

11 4.55pm Closing comments Mr Breckon (Lead member for 

Health) 

 

APPENDIX A 
51



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 

Development Session 

25th March 2021 

 

Organisations represented: 

 Elected Members 

 LCC: 

o Public Health 

o Adults and Communities 

o Planning 

o Growth Unit 

o Children and Families Service 

 NHS England 

 Healthwatch 

 Chief Officers Housing Group Chair 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 University Hospitals Leicester 

 District Representative 

 Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 

 Primary Care Networks 

 Leicestershire and Rutland Sport 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

APPENDIX B 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



55

mhand_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX C



56



57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR STRATEGY & PLANNING 
LLR CCGS AND DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE LEICESTER AND RUTLAND HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

FRAMEWORK 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the final version of the Leicestershire, 

Leicester and Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities Framework to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

  
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the Board notes the LLR Health Inequalities Framework and 

its intended implementation across partner organisations. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3.  The Framework has been considered  by the CCG Governing Bodies-in-Common, 

the LLR Clinical Executive and the LLR NHS Executive in January 2021. 
 

4.   The framework was the focus of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) development 
session on 25 March 2021, a draft Framework was also shared with Board members 
in May. The discussion and comments received have shaped this final version being 
presented.   

 
Background 

 
5. NHS England define Health inequalities as “the preventable, unfair and unjust 

differences in health status between groups, populations or individuals that arise 
from the unequal distribution of social, environmental and economic conditions 
within societies”.  Reducing or removing health inequalities is a core purpose of the 
NHS and other partners in the LLR Integrated Care System (ICS). The LLR Health 
Inequalities Framework is a system framework, guiding principles and a set of initial 
actions.   
 

6. In November 2020, a Task and Finish Group was established to lead the 
development of an LLR System Health Inequalities Framework.  The Group included 
a range of GPs from all the CCG Boards, Lay members from all CCG Boards, 
Equality and Inclusion Specialists and senior managers from UHL and LPT, Public 

 

59 Agenda Item 10



 
 

Health Consultants from all three “places” - Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland, 
CCG Executive Team members, CCG management staff and Health Watch 
Representatives. 

 
7. The Group has met fortnightly since late November to develop a system framework 

with agreement from all ICS partners to a set of high-level system principles and 
actions to effectively reduce health inequalities. 

 
8. The Framework clearly states that place-led plans to reduce health inequalities must 

be developed based on a local understanding of the circumstances of each place 
and on engagement with local communities.  Across LLR, this has resulted in a place 
led plan being developed for each of the ‘places’, Leicester City, Leicestershire, and 
Rutland, focussing on a collaborative approach to health and well-being, bringing 
together a range of partners and people to plan together. It is at place level and 
beneath that most of the actual work to reduce health inequalities will need to take 
place. 

 
9. The final version attached as Appendix A is the product of feedback not only from the 

Task and Finish Group Members but also from the LLR Clinical Executive, The CCG 
Governing Bodies-in-Common, the LLR NHS Executive and Health and Wellbeing 
Boards in both the City and County. 

 
10. This final version is currently being designed by the LLR CCG Communications 

Team in order for it become a public facing document.  
 

Implementation 

11. Whilst a number of actions within the Framework will require collaboration between 
several organisations across the system in order for them to be delivered, others will 
be primarily the responsibility of one partner. The ICS partners are committed to 
taking action at all levels: 
 

 System level – across the whole LLR area 

 Place level – across the area covered by our Upper Tier Local 

Authorities (Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, 

Rutland County Council) and led by Health and Wellbeing Boards 

 Neighborhood or locality level – smaller (though locally meaningful) 

populations within the wider Upper Tier boundaries 

12. At each of these levels the partners within the ICS, including the voluntary and 
community sectors, will come together to plan in even finer detail the actions they are 
going to take, individually and collectively, to reduce health inequity 
 

13. Detailed plans on action to reduce health inequity will be agreed at place level. The 
development, delivery and evaluation of place led plans will be led by Directors of 
Public Health. The plans will be based on local data and intelligence – qualitative and 
quantitative – derived from Public Health, local authority services, the NHS, other 
public sector partners, and communities themselves. 

 
 

60



 
 

Background papers 
 
Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Sarah Prema, Executive Director Strategy & Planning. LLR CCGs 
Telephone: 0116 2953413  
Email: Sarah.Prema@LeicesterCityCCG.nhs.uk 

 

Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  
Telephone: 0116 305 4239 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - LLR Health Inequalities Framework   
Appendix B – Stage 1 EHIIRA 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
14. A stage 1 Equality, Health Inequality and Impact Risk Assessment (EHIIRA) has 

been completed, quality assured and approved by the Midlands and Lancashire 
Clinical Support Unit Equality and Inclusion Business Partner.  A copy of the stage 1 
EHIIRA is appended to the report as ‘Appendix B’. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 

15. The framework sets out how partners plan to act, both collectively and through 
specific organisations to positively impact not just the direct causes, but the “causes 
of the causes” of these differences. Some work, therefore, will fall to the NHS to do, 
some mainly to other partners such as local authorities or other public sector bodies, 
and some to joint working at system, place or neighbourhood. Often this is not 
something one organisation can do on their own – it requires the system to work 
together to act as anchor institutions – using their collective resources and working 
with the voluntary and community sector to make a difference. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

61

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on
mailto:Sarah.Prema@LeicesterCityCCG.nhs.uk
mailto:Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 
SYSTEM HEALTH INEQUALITIES FRAMEWORK 

 
Version: Draft 10.5 
Date: May 2021 

 
Date Version Status Author Notes 

December 
2020 

Initial Early 
Draft 

Mark Pierce 
and Steve 
McCue 

For consideration: 

Reducing health inequalities across LLR – Task 
& Finish Group on 11/12/20 
LLR Population Health Management Advisory 
Group on 15/12/20 

January 
2021 

Version 5 Draft Mark Pierce 
and Steve 
McCue 

For consideration: 

Reducing health inequalities across LLR – Task 
& Finish Group on 07/01/21 
LLR CCGs Governing Body meetings in common 
(confidential) on 12/01/21 
Clinical Executive on 14/01/21 
LLR NHS System Executive on 19/01/21 

February 
2021 

Version 7 Draft Mark Pierce 
Steve 
McCue, Viv 
Robbins, Jo 
Atkinson, 
Aloma 
Onyemah 
and Lucy 
Wilson 

For consideration: 

Reducing health inequalities across LLR – Task 
& Finish Group on 04/02/21 

February 
2021 

Version 9 Draft Mark Pierce 
Steve 
McCue, Viv 
Robbins, Jo 
Atkinson, 
Aloma 
Onyemah 
and Lucy 
Wilson 

For consideration: 
Reducing health inequalities across LLR – Task 
& Finish Group on 18/02/21 

March 
2021 

Version 
10.1 

Draft Mark Pierce 
Steve 
McCue, Viv 
Robbins, Jo 
Atkinson, 
Aloma 
Onyemah 
and Lucy 
Wilson 

For consideration: 

Reducing health inequalities across LLR – Task 
& Finish Group on 04/03/21 
LLR CCGs Governing Body meetings in common 
(confidential) on 09/03/21 
LLR Alliance Leadership Group 23.03.21 
Leicester City and Leicestershire County Health 
& Wellbeing Boards 25.03.21 
LLR Clinical Executive 08.04.21 

April 
2021 

10.2 Draft Steve 
McCue, 
Mark Pierce 

Additions following feedback from various forums 
across LLR 

May 
2021 

10.4 Draft Steve 
McCue, 
Mark Pierce 

Additions following feedback from various forums 
across LLR 

May 
2021 

10.5 Draft Steve 
McCue, 
Mark Pierce 

Additions following receipt of Case studies from 
Professor Farooqi and Dr Tejani 

63



APPENDIX A 
 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) 
System Health Inequalities Framework 

Contents 
 

Foreword.................................................................................................................................. 2 
1. Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 3 
2. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 3 
3. What are health inequalities? ................................................................................................... 4 
4. Inequalities vs equity ................................................................................................................ 4 
5. What is health? ........................................................................................................................ 6 
6. How I can find out more about health inequalities in LLR? ........................................................ 8 
7. Principles ................................................................................................................................. 9 
8. System actions ....................................................................................................................... 13 

8.1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 13 
8.2. Strategic System Actions ................................................................................................ 14 

9. References ............................................................................................................................ 17 
10. Appendices ............................................................................................................................ 19 

1. Case study on health inequalities by Professor Azhar Farooqi ..................................... 19 
2. Case study on health inequalities by Dr Abbas Tejani ......................................................... 21 
3. Stage 1 Equality, Health Inequality Impact and Risk Assessment……………………….23 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 

64



 

Foreword 
 

Health inequalities across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) are stark. A boy 

born today in the most deprived area of LLR could be expected to die up to 8.7 years 

earlier than a boy born in the least deprived area. The difference in the proportion of a 

person’s life lived in good health is even more marked – again, with those from less 

affluent areas spending a greater proportion of their (often shorter) lives in poor health 

compared to people from more affluent parts of our area. In acknowledging this, we 

also must accept that the above facts refer only to the extreme poles of what is a 

distribution of effects throughout the whole population. This is not an issue affecting 

only the least affluent in our community. Health inequalities affect almost everyone 

living in LLR to some degree and therefore it will be the business of everyone in our 

system to take action to reduce these unfair and avoidable differences in health 

outcomes. 

We have known about health inequalities for a long time now and individual partners 

have been making efforts to reduce them. The COVID-19 pandemic has laid out in 

stark focus the depth of the inequalities that exist and the devastating impacts they 

can have on our families and communities. As we come together in LLR as an 

Integrated Care System, one of our central roles and duties is to implement the 

evidence-based actions needed to increase health equity in our society and reduce or 

eliminate health inequality. We want the people of LLR to be healthier with everyone 

having a fair chance to live a long life in good health. This is why we will aim to “level 

up” services and funding, rather than take anything away from areas where outcomes 

are already good. 

This framework sets out how we plan to take action, both collectively and through 

specific organisations to positively impact not just the direct causes, but the “causes 

of the causes” of these differences. Some work, therefore, will fall to the NHS to do, 

some mainly to other partners such as local authorities or other public sector bodies, 

and some to joint working at system, place or neighbourhood. Often this is not 

something one organisation can do on their own – it requires the system to work 

together to act as anchor institutions – using their collective resources and working 

with the voluntary and community sector to make a difference. 

We are delighted that this document reflects the pooling of ambitions and contributions 

from a very wide range of partners in LLR. The onus now on all of us is to play our part 

in turning ambition into effective action. We know that can only happen if we listen to 

local people and work with the strengths and assets we have as a basis for a fairer 

and healthier future for us all. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3 

65



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

3 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

2. Purpose 
 

The aim of the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities 
Framework is to improve healthy life expectancy across LLR, by reducing health 
inequalities across the system. The purpose of this Framework is therefore to: 

 
1.1. Provide a system mandate for action to address health inequalities acrossLLR 
1.2. Establish a collective understanding of the terms ‘Inequality’, ‘Inequity’ and 

‘Prevention’ in relation to population health, across all parts of the LLR 
Integrated Care System (ICS) 

1.3. Strengthen a whole system collaborative approach to reduce (and remove 
entirely where possible) avoidable unfairness in people’s health and wellbeing 
in LLR 

1.4. Establish the high-level principles of how LLR ICS partners will approach the 
work of reducing health inequity at system level 

1.5. Recognise the framework will be implemented and agreed at system level, with 
much operational, political and community action taking place at ‘place’ and 
‘neighbourhood’ level1 . It is the systems’ minimum ask of Place in relation to 
reducing health inequalities. 

1.6. Set out some key actions that can be delivered at system level with support 
through the ICS, with recognition that some actions will be primarily for 
individual organisations e.g. the NHS or the Local Authority however many 
requiring partners to work together. 

 

 
2. Introduction 

 

2.1. Health and wellbeing is not just the concern of the NHS. The health and 
wellbeing of people is an asset to individuals, to communities, and to wider 
society. Good mental and physical health is a basic precondition for people to 
take an active role in family, community and work life. Although there is 
growing concern about stalling life expectancy, the existing wide inequalities in 
health outcomes tend to be overlooked. Improving healthy life expectancy 
enables people to live in better health for longer. Ensuring they can contribute 
to society. A workforce that remains fit, healthy and working for longer can 
contribute to a productive economy and decrease the costs of supporting an 
ageing society. However, health inequalities undermine thesebenefits. 

2.2. Health inequalities can be found along a social gradient, with those living in 
the most deprived areas having the worst outcomes. Inequalities can be found 
even within areas that might be regarded as affluent. Therefore, using a 
‘levelling up’ approach will have an impact on the majority of the population. 
Evidence shows that having a more equitable society benefits the whole 
population, not just those living in the most deprived areas or currently 
experiencing the worst outcomes. [1] [2] [3] [4] 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1 LLR is divided into three “Places”; Leicester City, Leicestershire County and Rutland County, all of which align to upper tier local 
authority boundaries. Within each ‘Place’ smaller geographic areas known as ‘Neighbourhoods’ (also known by other terms such as 

‘districts’ or ‘communities’) are used. 

66



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

4 

 

 

 

3. What are health inequalities? 
 

“Health inequalities are the preventable, unfair and unjust differences in health status 
between groups, populations or individuals that arise from the unequal distribution of 
social, environmental and economic conditions within societies” (NHS England) [5] 

 
3.1. Those living in the most disadvantaged areas often have poorer health 

outcomes, as do some ethnic minority groups and vulnerable/socially excluded 
people. These inequalities are due to a combination of factors including 
income, education and the general conditions in which people are living. In 
addition, the most disadvantaged are not only more likely to get ill, but less 
likely to access services when they are ill. This is known as the inverse care 
law. 

3.2. Health inequalities have been further exposed by the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which has taken a disproportionate toll on groups already facing the worst 
health outcomes. The mortality rate from the virus in the most deprived areas 
has been more than double that of the least deprived. In addition, some ethnic 
minority communities and people with disabilities have seen significantly higher 
Covid-19 mortality rates than the rest of the population. The economic and 
social consequences of measures to contain the virus have worsened these 
inequalities further, with people in crowded housing, on low wage, unstable and 
frontline work experiencing a greater burden and transmission of the virus. 

3.3. There are always going to be differences in health, some are unavoidable e.g. 
as result of age or genetics but many differences in health are avoidable, 
unjust and unfair – it is these that we are concerned about and that this 
framework seeks to address. [2] [6] [7] 

 

 
4. Inequalities vs equity 

 
4.1. “Health inequalities” is the commonly used term, however we are actually 

referring to health equity and inequities. Therefore, the terms are used 
interchangeably within this document and in the LLR system. 

 
4.2. Equality means treating everyone the same/providing everyone with the same 

resource, whereas Equity means providing services relative to need. This will 
mean some warranted variation in services for different groups (see Figure 1). 

 
4.3. It is important to note the difference in terminology between this work and those 

stated in the Equality Act 2010, although the terms relate to the same concept 
of equity. The Equality Act defines specific protected characteristics that require 
explicit consideration in any decision-making process, but this framework 
recognises the importance of identifying vulnerable groups that are not well 
reflected within these definitions (such as homeless people or those with caring 
responsibilities). 

 
Figure 1: Representation of equality and equity using adapted bicycle example 

67



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

5 

 

 

 

 
 

Source: Reproduced with authorisation from Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (Better 
Bike Share, 2017) 

 

Figure 1 shows, on the top line, four people of different sizes all trying to cycle the 
same size of bicycle. One person in a wheelchair cannot use the bicycle at all. The 
second line shows each person happily using a bicycle correctly sized or adapted 
for their needs. 

 
Growing evidence indicates that in the first three years of life, a host of biological 
(e.g., malnutrition, infectious disease) and psychosocial (e.g., maltreatment, 
witnessing violence, extreme poverty) hazards can affect a child’s 
developmental trajectory and lead to increased risk of adverse physical and 
psychological health conditions. Such impacts can be observed across multiple 
systems, affecting cardiovascular, immune, metabolic, and brain health, and 
may extend far beyond childhood, affecting life course health 

 
A tale of two babies illustrates our story of inequalities in LLR (see Figure 2). It is 
vital to recognise that no outcome is set in stone. However, the story aims to 
illustrate the potential variation in the opportunities and difficulties two babies 
might encounter throughout their life based on the circumstances into which they 
are born. 

 
It highlights a demonstrable bias in the way our current systems are set up to 
benefit, to a greater extent, those in more affluent circumstances. This is 
demonstrated within the case studies provided in appendices 1 and 2. With 
determination and collaborative effort, we can reduce this injustice. 

 
Figure 2: Difference in health indicators between the most and least deprived local areas 
of LLR, over the life course 

68



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

6 

 

 

 

 
Source: PHE Fingertips [8] 
Notes: Most deprived area data reflects inner City areas such as Braunston Park and Rowley Fields. 
Most affluent area data reflects areas such as Market Harborough-Logan and Market Harborough- 
Welland However there will be further hidden inequalities within each place for example within Rutland 
the most deprived ward is Greetham. Where small area data is not available local authority-level has 
been used. 

 

 
This graphic shows two parallel curving lines – the top line showing the outcomes for 
those from the most deprived areas in LLR. The bottom line shows the outcomes for 
those born in the most affluent areas. Small text boxes show differences in life 
expectancy, school readiness, academic attainment, employment, fuel poverty, 
alcohol-related hospital admissions, cancer prevalence and numbers living alone as 
people’s lives progress. 

 
5. What is health? 

 
5.1. Once we define health, we can understand why reducing health inequalities is 

a key piece of work for all partners within the ICS. Health is understood as: 
“a state of wellbeing with physical, cultural, psychosocial, economic and 
spiritual attributes, not simply the absence of illness” (Marks, 2005) [9] 

 
5.2. This framework recognises the above definition of health and the 

interconnected relationship between the elements of this definition. The work 
also adopts a social model of health influences, outlined in Figure 3 below. The 
social model of health identifies all but age, sex and hereditary factors as 
modifiable to change and therefore lying within the scope of this work, 
particularly in relation to primary prevention. 

 

Figure 3: A Social Model of Health, Dahlgren & Whitehead (1991) 

69



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

7 

 

 

 

 
Source: The World Health Organisation. [6] 
This illustration shows a series of five concentric rings representing, from the centre 
outwards: age, sex and hereditary factors, Individual lifestyle factors, social and 
community networks and general socio-economic, cultural and environmental 
factors – all of which contribute to determining health outcomes. 

 
5.3. The wider determinants of health are a diverse range of social, economic and 

environmental factors which influence people’s mental and physical health. 
Systematic variation in these factors constitutes social inequality, an important 
driver of health inequalities. On a whole population level, improving the wider 
determinants of health (the “causes of the causes”) will have a much greater 
effect on reducing inequities in health compared to NHS interventions alone. 
Local Authorities, rather than the NHS, have influence and responsibility over 
some of the wider determinants such as education, housing, transport, clean 
air, licensing of food and alcohol outlets etc. 

 
5.4. Local Authorities also have a key role in terms of fostering economic 

opportunity which is reflected in the supply and quality of jobs available in an 
area. 

 

5.5. We can also see from Figure 3 that communities themselves are vital partners 
for the ICS members as we work together to drive down health inequalities– in 
terms of articulating lived experience of health inequalities and helping us co- 
produce solutions. 

 
5.6. It’s important to note that as an individual’s health declines, the relative 

impact of NHS services on future health and life expectancy increases. By 
taking a preventative approach (working equally across primary, secondary 
and tertiary levels of intervention2) to delay and reduce the need for NHS 
treatment services the increasing demands on the health service and care services 

can be managed appropriately. [1] [10] [11] [12] 

 
5.7. The Long-Term Plan sets out commitments for action that the NHS itself will 

take to improve prevention. It does so while recognising that a comprehensive 
approach to preventing ill-health also depends on action that only companies, 
communities, and national government can take to tackle wider threats to 
health, and ensure health is hardwired into social and economic policy. 

70



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

8 

 

 

 

6. How I can find out more about health inequalities in LLR? 

 
6.1. A detailed analysis of local demographic and health data demonstrating the 

extent of inequality is available through local JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment) reports produced by each Public Health Team. Local JSNA’s 
are available via the following organisational links: 
Leicester City: 
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public- 
health/data-reports-information/jsna/ 

 

Leicestershire: 
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html 

 

 

Rutland: 
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint- 
strategic-needs-assessment/ 

71

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/


LLR HI Framework v10.5 

9 

 

 

 
 
 

Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland Integrated Care System 
Principles of Approach to Reducing Health Inequalities 

7. Principles 
As an ICS we are committed to acting to reduce health inequalities across LLR. 
We will explore the possibility of having our principles of approach and 
programme of actions at system level in LLR recognised as aligning to the 
principles embodied in the work of Professor Michael Marmot – and that we may, 
in time, seek be recognised formally as a “Marmot System”. 

 
Our work in this area will be guided by the following set of principles. 

 
 

Principle 1 
 

Reducing Health inequalities is a key factor in all work conducted within the 
ICS – it is everyone’s business. Reducing health inequalities and improving 
health equity should run through all work programmes at all levels as a “golden 
thread” from system to place to neighbourhood. Appropriate training and support 
will be given to enable people to think and act in ways that lead to reductions in 
health inequity. 

 
 

Principle 2 
 

The Integrated Care System (ICS) will adopt a Population Health Management3 

and balanced approach to Prevention (across all three tiers2) as core principles 
for their work together in order to reduce health inequalities. Prevention is key to 
managing future demand for health and care services. Prevention is also essential 
for improving health equity as the burden of disease is borne unfairly by those who 
are more deprived, marginalised or in a minority. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 Primary prevention - Taking action to reduce the incidence of disease and health problems, through 

universal or targeted measures that reduce lifestyle risks and their causes 

Secondary prevention - Systematically detecting the early stages of disease and intervening before full 
symptoms develop (e.g. taking measures to reduce high blood pressure). 

Tertiary prevention - Helping people to manage the impact of ongoing illness or injury (e.g. chronic diseases, 
permanent impairments) to improve as much as possible their ability to function, their quality of life and their life 
expectancy. [12] [22] 

72



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

10 

 

 

Principle 3 
 

A focus on prevention, including tackling the wider determinants of health. 
Primary prevention includes a focus on and increased investment in reducing 
inequalities in lifestyle risk factors (smoking, diet, exercise, alcohol consumption 
etc.), mental wellbeing, housing, income, education, working conditions and the 
wider environment. The Integrated Care System will also provide stronger 
foundations for the NHS and other partners to work with local government and 
voluntary sector partners on the broader agenda of prevention and health 
inequalities. Action by the NHS is a complement to, but cannot be a substitute for, 
the important role for local government. In addition to its wider responsibilities for 
planning, education, housing, social care and economic development, in recent 
years it has also become responsible for funding and commissioning preventive 
health services, including smoking cessation, drug and alcohol services, sexual 
health, and early years support for children such as school nursing and health 

visitors. Partners will move from reactive services towards a model embodying 

active population health management. 

 
 

Principle 4 
 

A focus on parity of esteem between mental and physical health - reducing 
inequalities in mental health will be prioritised to the same extent as reducing 
inequalities in physical health. 

 

 
Principle 5 

Public sector ICS partners will act as ‘anchor institutions’4in LLR to promote 
health equity and reduce health inequalities through offering “social value”. This 
approach includes supporting the system workforce to be more representative of 
the demography of the LLR population. We will use mentoring, reverse mentoring 
and apprenticeships to improve opportunities for under-represented groups, 
improve awareness and sensitivity to issues of racism and prejudice and support 
people from less affluent backgrounds to establish a career in the public sector. 
In addition we will seek to maximise the value of our collective spending on the 
local economy. 

 
 

Principle 6 
 

Investment in services will be proportionate to the needs (the ability to benefit) 
the people using those services (the principle of “proportionate universalism”). This 
means that although there will be a universal offer of services to all, there will be 
justifiable variation in services in response to differences in need within and 
between groups of people. Where we find variation in services that appears not to 
be justified by the variation in need, we will act to “level up” the way the services 
are offered, and outcomes achieved. While levelling up is generally a good thing, 
levelling down is not. So, applying focus and resources in one area and targeting 
those resources to make them most effective will be appropriate, however, 
diverting those resources from somewhere they were also needed in order to 
improve health outcomes will not be. 

73



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

11 

 

 

 

Principle 7 
 

We will use data and insight – both quantitative and qualitative - to better 
understand the health inequalities that exist in LLR and how they affect people. 
We will draw upon the best evidence to select and implement effective action to 
reduce inequalities and to evaluate the impact of our services. Where services are 
failing to reduce inequity, or (by accident) are increasing it, the services will be 
adjusted or changed completely. 

 

 
Principle 8 

 

We will draw on the assets and strengths of communities and individuals to 
reduce health inequality and inequity. Our services will always try to listen to 
what really matters to people rather than focusing solely on “what is the matter” with 
them. We will listen to the voices of local people with lived experience to shape 
local priorities and redesign services. We believe in the ability of people to develop 
effective solutions that meet the needs of themselves and other people in their 
community. As part of strengthening resilience in communities we will work to 
improve health literacy. Strategies to improve health literacy are important 
empowerment tools which have the potential to reduce health inequalities. 
The term “Health literacy” describes the skills (language, literacy and numeracy), 
knowledge, understanding and confidence to access, understand, evaluate, use 
and navigate health and social care information and services. 

 
 

Principle 9 
 

The “Health and Equity in all Policies” approach55 will help foster the process of 
ensuring the health and health equity perspectives are a core part of the ICS way of 
doing its business. This is particularly important on the wider determinants of health 
such as housing, education, employment etc. 

 
 

Principle 10 

 
We will take effective action at key points of the life course (“from the cradle 
to the grave”) dependent on need to reduce health inequality and inequity. 
This means a specific focus on giving children the best start in life, prevention of ill 
health (including primary prevention), the promotion of wellbeing and resilience as 
key principles of our work. This approach will also address the intergenerational 
cycle of health inequalities across LLR. As part of our life course approach, we 
recognise the fundamental importance of the first 1001 days of a child’s life in 
determining their future chances of reaching a healthy old age. We will 
increase our collective work to deliver better outcomes for both children and parents 
during this key period. 

 
  _ 

 

3 Population Health Management approach involves the effective use of routinely collected data to provide meaningful insights on the 
population being served. This approach allows for proactive care planning by understanding the role of wider determinants of health 
and making best use of collective resources to improve the health of the population now and in the future. [3] 
4 “Anchor institutions are large, public sector organisations that are called such because they are unlikely to relocate and have a 
significant stake in a geographical area – they are effectively ‘anchored’ in their surrounding community. They have sizeable assets that 
can be used to support local community wealth building and development, through procurement and spending power, workforce and 
training, and buildings and land”. [21 

74



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

12 

 

 

Principle 11 

 
Accountability for delivering on system wide health inequalities will be an ICS 
system accountability. However, we acknowledge that upper tier local authorities 
have a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities at the place level. Governance of 
system level principles and actions will be via the Health and Care Partnership. 
Governance of place–based plans and strategies will be via Health and Wellbeing 
Boards. Governance of plans and actions at footprints beneath place level will be 
agreed between local partners using the most appropriate structures consistent with 
effective representation and oversight. 

 
Much of the implementation of programmes to reduce health inequalities will occur 
at place. Within the requirements of system, places will be expected to influence 
the priorities for their populations. This is about understanding the population, how 
factors such as education, economy, housing, health etc. are impacting on local 
communities and ensuring local engagement and co-production of any strategies 
or plans. The challenge is partners coming together to understand that impact, 
prioritising and developing programmes in collaboration with local communities 
(particularly communities who are most deprived and disadvantaged) is essential 
to strengthen community resilience and adverse social circumstances. 

 

 
Principle 12 

 
Actions will be undertaken at the most appropriate level of the ICS where they can 
be most effectively owned and delivered. Governance of different types of action will 
be determined in some cases by how statutory responsibility devolves from central 
government. Housing, education, and licensing rest with Local Authorities for example, 
while commissioning responsibility for most hospital services will lie with the local CCGs 
and their successors. 

 
 

Principle 13 
 

Digital Inclusion: There is significant potential for the transformation of health care 
through better and widespread use of digital technologies. Digital technologies are 
integral to many of the changes envisaged in the NHS long-term plan. However, it will 
also be important to take steps to prevent digital technologies entrenching or widening 
health inequalities. This means understanding and addressing the issue of digital 
exclusion and seeking to use technologies to address the health needs of groups hit 
hardest by inequalities - while, at the same time, ensuring that there remains the 
alternative of face-to-face offers for people for whom a solely digital or remote care offer 
would be exclude some people – often those already disadvantaged in society. 

75



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

13 

 

 

 

High level system actions to reduce health inequalities in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

 
8. System actions 

 

8.1. Introduction 
We can see that health inequalities are the result of a complex range of interrelated 
causes – and “the causes of those causes”. In some cases, actions will be primarily 
in the hands of one partner. In other cases, reducing inequity will require close 
collaboration between several organisations across the system. The ICS partners are 
committed to taking action at all levels: 

 System level – across the whole LLR area 

 Place level – across the area covered by our Upper Tier Local Authorities 
(Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, Rutland County 
Council) and led by Health and Wellbeing Boards 

 Neighbourhood or locality level – smaller (though locally meaningful) 
populations within the wider Upper Tier boundaries. 

 

At each of these levels the partners within the ICS – not just the NHS and the Local 
Authority, but the voluntary and community sectors too – will come together to plan in 
even finer detail the actions they are going to take, individually and collectively, to 
reduce health inequity. Medium to long term priorities will be determined at place 
level and are likely to include; 

1. A focus on the first 1,001 days of life. Events and outcomes during this 
period often determine outcomes across the whole life course. Action will 
be determined by the needs of each place. 

2. Improving healthy life expectancy through early intervention and 
prevention including actions relating to the wider determinants of health. 
Actions will be determined by the needs of each place. 

3. Using the lived experiences of people to inform our plans and actions. 
4. Each organisation having an executive nominated lead for health inequalities 

who will be responsible for driving this agenda forward in their own 

organisation 
5. A SMART approach to delivering actions at Place 

 

In the shorter term, specifically Q1 & Q2 2021, there are five priority areas for 
health inequalities. While these initially are described as priorities for the NHS in 
Q1 and 2, they are likely to remain of longer-term saliency, and in fact, are 
relevant to the whole ICS and not just the NHS: 

1. Restore NHS services inclusively 
2. Mitigate against digital exclusion 
3. Ensure data sets are complete and timely 
4. Accelerate preventative programmes that proactively engage those at 

greatest risk of poor health outcomes (management of long-term 
conditions, annual health checks for people with learning 
disabilities/serious mental illness, continuity of maternity care for Black 
and Asian women and those from deprivedneighbourhoods) 

5. Strengthen leadership and accountability 
 
 
 

5 “Health in All Policies is an approach on health-related rights and obligations. It improves accountability 
of policymakers for health impacts at all levels of policymaking. It includes an emphasis on the 
consequences of public policies on health systems, determinants of health, and well-being. It also 
contributes to sustainable development”. [22] [12] 

76



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

14 

 

 

The actions below are high level system actions we will work on together because 
they will support effective work to increase health equity at all levels of the ICS or 
because they represent important health inequities faced to some degree in all 
parts of the system. 

 
More detailed plans on action to reduce health inequity will be agreed at place level. 
The development, delivery and evaluation of place led plans will be led by Directors of 
Public Health and Health and Wellbeing Boards. The plans will be based on local data 
and intelligence – qualitative and quantitative – derived from Public health, Local 
authority services, the NHS, other public sector partners, and communities 
themselves. 

The most detailed implementation plans and actions will be developed by partners 
working together at a very local level (Neighbourhood or locality level). Multi- 
Disciplinary Team working, the sharing of information and engagement of individuals 
and communities around their assets and strengths will ensure that action is direct, 
person-centred and sensitive to feedback and revision from the integrated teams and 
the people those teams serve. 

 

8.2. Strategic System Actions 

Action 1 

Places will be expected to translate the system level principles to their 
specific populations in the most appropriate way that meets their local 
needs. This is likely to take an approach encompassing the wider determinants of 
health, acknowledging that much of this work happens at this level. 

 
 

Action 2 
We will agree a proportionate universalism approach to investment 
decisions across the ICS. This would allow actions to be universal, but with a 
scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage. ICS 
organisations will create a financial framework for addressing health inequalities 
with agreed investment in transformation of priority areas and investment based 
on need. 
The NHS anticipates that any allocation of transformation and development funds 
being used to support the ICS will have reducing health inequalities as a high 
priority. 

 

Specifically: 

The NHS in LLR will develop and agree a new strategic long-term model of primary 
care funding distribution and investment to “level up” funding based on population 
need rather than historical allocation. This strategy will not destabilise local primary 
care. 

 

Action 3 
The ICS will establish a defined LLR resource to review health inequalities at 
the system level. This will be a virtual partnership between the NHS, the local 
authorities and local universities. It will aim to make available an enhanced capacity 
and capability for data processing and analysis to support a better understanding of 
inequity across LLR. It will gather and share best practice in effective interventions, 
it will provide teaching and training to all levels of staff in undertaking health equity 
audits. It will facilitate local research. It is acknowledged that Public Health teams 
will deliver, with partners, the health inequalities support function at a place and 
neighbourhood level. 

77



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

15 

 

 

Specifically: 

a) Proposal for establishment of an LLR health inequality specified resource to 
be presented to System Executive by 30.09.21 

 
Action 4 

All decision makers within the ICS will have expertise, skills, insight and 
understanding of health inequity and how to reduce it. 
Specifically: 

a) Health Inequity and Inequality training will be mandatory for all 
executive decision makers in each organisation by 30.11.21 

b) We will work with local and regional partners to develop appropriate and 
robust training packages relevant to roles. 

 
Action 5 

System partners will work together to understand the full effect of the COVID- 
19 pandemic on health inequalities across LLR, to allow effective and equitable 
recovery after the pandemic. Whilst the specific programmes, metrics and 
evaluations will be agreed at place level for the most part, the LLR system will be 
looking to understand and encourage action around the following points: 

 Identifying those communities and groups of all ages and across protected 
characteristics which have been most affected through the pandemic as a result 
of pre-existing vulnerabilities and disadvantages 

 Undertake proportionate additional work to ensure vaccine uptake is equitable 

 Ensuring a primary prevention focus to recovery that considers the wider 
determinants of health and causes of the causes including education, 
employment, housing andpoverty 

 Promote parity of esteem between the importance of both mental and 
physical health to those groups worst affected by the pandemic and the 
consequences of lockdown. 

 
Action 6 

All partners will work to improve the completeness and consistency of their 
data to enable a better understanding of health inequity at all levels of the ICS. This 
predominantly relates to the collection of data on ‘protected characteristics’ under 
the Equality Act. The aim is to most appropriately reflect population need including 
levels of deprivation, vulnerability and the experience of different groups (including 
the use of qualitative methods). 

Specifically: 
(a) Key partner organisations to develop an action plan for having ethnicity, 

accessibility and communication needs of their population appropriately coded in 
records by 30.07.21 

 

 
(b) We will risk stratify our population using combined data sets to identify vulnerable 

groups and individuals to offer proactive, holistic care through Integrated 
Neighbourhood Teams involving a variety of systempartners. 

 
Action 7 

The ICS will support the creation of health equity dashboards at place and 
system-level using agreed metrics to establish baseline information on health 
inequity and ensure systems are in place to measure progress appropriately. These 
dashboards at each level will help ensure accountability against our plans and 
targets to remove or reduce health inequity through all the work we do. 

78



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

16 

 

 

Specifically: 
a) Each organisation will have adopted a standard health equity audit tool for 

completion at the planning phase of each project by30.10.21 
b) Training in undertaking these audits and common corrective actions that can be 

implemented to reduce inequity will be mandatory for relevant staff in each 
organisation – confirmation to System Executive by 30.10.21 

c) Each Place in the LLR system will have a health equity dashboard with agreed 
metrics and benchmarked baseline performance by 30.10.21 

 
Action 8 

A form of Health Equity Audit (HEA) will be undertaken for projects delivered 
at all levels of commissioning, service redesign and evaluation within the ICS. 
These will occur at the planning stage of project work, at a scale that reflects a 
proportionate approach to work being conducted. Action to reduce health inequity 
will be taken based on audit findings (at a minimum considering the protected 
characteristics of the Equality Act 2010) will appropriate reviews planned where 
necessary. 

 
Action 9 

The ICS will develop an action plan, which develops the potential of the NHS and 
other partners to lead by example and act as anchor institutions to drive change 
around a preventative approach and reducing health inequalities that focuses on 
what the collective LLR public sector can do in the areas of work opportunities, use 
of buildings and purchasing by 1.7.2021 

 
How will we know if this work is succeeding across LLR? If this framework is 
successful in driving effective action, we expect to see the following outcomes: 
 A reduction in health inequities 

 An increase in healthy life expectancy 

 A reduction in premature mortality 

 A workforce that is representative of the LLR population 

 Population reported outcomes 

79



LLR HI Framework v10.5 

17 

 

 

 

 

9. References 
 

[1] Institute of Health Equity, “Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review,” 2020. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/home . [Accessed January 
2021]. 

[2] Institute of Health Equity, “Fair Society Healthy Lives (The Marmot Review),” 2010. 
[Online]. Available: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/home. [Accessed January 
2021]. 

[3] NHS England, “Population Health and the Population Health Management 
Programme,” [Online]. Available: https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/phm/. 
[Accessed February 2021]. 

[4] Public Health England, “Health Economics Evidence Resource,” July 2019. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-economics-evidence- 
resource. [Accessed February 2021 ]. 

[5] NHS England, “Reducing health inequalities resources,” [Online]. Available: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/. [Accessed 
February 2021]. 

[6] World Health Organisation, “Sundsvall statement on creating supportive 
environments for health,” WHO, Geneva, 1991. 

[7] The Kings Fund, “Inverse Care Law,” June 2001. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/inverse-care-law. [Accessed 
February 2021]. 

 
[8] Public Health England, “Public Health Outcomes Framework,” [Online]. Available: 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes- 
framework/data#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/302/are/E10000018/c 
id/1/page-options/ovw-do-0. [Accessed January 2021]. 

[9] D. Marks, M. Murray and E. Estacio, Health Psychology: Theory, research and 
practice (5th Edition), London: SAGE, 2018. 

[10] House of Lords Select Committee, “The Long-term Sustainability of the NHS and 
Adult Social Care Report Paper 151,” House of Lords, London, 2017. 

[11] N. Steel, “Changes in health in the countries of the UK and 150 English Local 
Authority areas 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease 
Study 2016,” The Lancet, vol. 392, no. 10158, pp. 1647-1661, 2018. 

[12] Local Government Association, “Health in all policies: a manual for local 
government,” LGA, September 2016. [Online]. Available: https://local.gov.uk/health- 
all-policies-manual-local-government. [Accessed February 2021]. 

 
 

[13] W. Williams, D. Buck and G. Babalola, “The Kings Fund: What are health 
inequalities?,” 18 February 2020. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities . 
[Accessed January 2021]. 

80

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/home
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/home
http://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/phm/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-economics-evidence-
http://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/inverse-care-law
https://local.gov.uk/health-all-policies-manual-local-government
https://local.gov.uk/health-all-policies-manual-local-government
https://local.gov.uk/health-all-policies-manual-local-government
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities


LLR HI Framework v10.5 

18 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

[14] The Kings Fund, “The English Local Government Public Health 
Reforms: An independent assessment,” The Kings Funds, London , 
2020. 

[15] Public Health England , “Reducing health inequalities: system, 
scale and sustainability,” PHE , London , 2017. 

[16] Public Health England , “Health inequalities: place-based approaches to 
reduce inequalities,” 2019. [Online]. Available: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place- 
based- approaches-to-reduce-inequalities. [Accessed January 2021]. 

[17] Public Health England, “Chapter 5: inequalities in health,” September 2018. 
[Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health- 
profile-for- england-2018/chapter-5-inequalities-in-health. [Accessed 
January 2021 ]. 

[18] Public Health England, “Whole Systems Approach to Obesity,” 2019. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-systems- 
approach-to- obesity. [Accessed 2021]. 

[19] Public Health England, “Local Health and Care Planning: Menu of preventative 
interventions,” November 2016. [Online]. Available: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att 
ach 
ment_data/file/683016/Local_health_and_care_planning_menu_of_preventative 
_int erventions_DM_NICE_amends_14.02.18 2_.pdf. [Accessed February 
2021]. 

[20] National Health Service, “NHS Long Term Plan,” January 2019. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/. [Accessed February 2021]. 

81

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-systems-approach-to-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-systems-approach-to-
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


 

 

10. Appendices 

 

1. Case study on health inequalities - Professor Azhar Farooqi 
 
 

Introduction of new technology to improve care in diabetes 
 

The prescribing of Freestyle Libre (FSL) - a case study in health inequalities of 

service delivery. 
 

Diabetes is one of the most common chronic disorders affecting nearly 5 million 
people in the UK. 

 
It is a significantly more common condition in people of low socioeconomic status 
and in BME groups 

 
Diabetes is a costly condition, not only in financial terms (consuming more than 10% 
of the NHS budget), but also in terms or mortality and morbidity. Sufferers lose 
several years of life and the condition is the biggest cause of acquired blindness, 
renal failure and amputations. 

 
The evidence that good control of blood glucose improves outcomes for patients and 
reduces NHS costs is overwhelming. 

 
Freestyle Libre is a new technology, known as flash glucose monitoring which allows 
patients to monitor in real time their blood glucose using a skin patch and a small 
handheld sensor. It avoids multiple lancet jabs and time-consuming use of glucose 
strips and machines. 

 

The technology is approved by NICE for patients with Type 1 diabetes who normally 
would test multiple times a day and is likely soon to be extended to patients with 
type 2 diabetes on insulin and other groups deemed high risk of hypoglycaemia. 
There is a significant cost of around £500 per patient per year. 

 

The real-world impact of this technology has shown significant improvements in 
blood glucose levels reduced hospital admissions and paramedic call outs, less 
severe hypoglycaemia and improved overall blood glucose control. 

 
How was this technology rolled out? 

The prescribing of FSL has been via secondary care to eligible patients who have an 
education session to allow them to use this technology. 

 

The sessions which include an online module is in English. 
 

As with all new technologies and treatments, patients learn about the availability of this 
via media and friends and those most empowered, clearly would know about it first. 
The patient benefit is not only in improved diabetes control but also the avoidance of 
painful finger pricks and the ‘Ferrari ‘or ‘latest iPhone’ effect of having new technology 
on show. 

 
19 

82



 

 

Therefore, it was entirely predictable that the most articulate, informed, and persuasive 
patients would be in a position to demand this technology and persuade their health 
care professional they are eligible and would benefit. 

 
The criteria of existing multiple testing and the education package also favours English 
speakers, literate patients and those already empowered in looking after their 
condition, all of which make it less likely that people form deprived backgrounds would 
either push for this technology or be prioritised for it. 

 
What has been the health inequality? 
Given the above, it was entirely predictable that the inverse care law would apply in the 
supply of this important therapeutic intervention. 

 
Data in Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland shows that in the bottom quintile of 
deprivation, Type I patients had a 29% chance of receiving this technology, compared 
to 39% of the top (least deprived) quintile (data from Abbot pharmaceuticals). 

 
With respect to BME populations, practices with the most BME percentage by quintile, 
only 14% of type 1 patients received FSL, compared to 38% in those practices in the 
quintile with the fewest BME %. 

 
Why has this happened? 
It is interesting that this data was produced by the pharma company Abbot, who in 
effect, whistle blew the problem. 

 
The local NHS service provider had no idea of this health inequality and in fact denied 
it was occurring. 

 

There was no consideration of health inequalities in the introduction of this technology 
nor monitoring of uptake by deprivation or socioeconomic status. 
Despite the data, little has changed on the provision of this technology to date. 

 
Lessons to be learnt 
It is important that a full equity impact assessment is done when all new technology (or 
therapies) are introduced. 

 
It is important that monitoring of uptake by socioeconomic status and BME status as 
well as other characteristics is undertaken, and data reported and shared. 

 
It is important to consider if specialist only provision will worsen health inequalities. 
Most type 1 patients (60%) and the vast majority of type 2 diabetics (95%) receive care 
only in general practice. 

 
It is likely that appropriate primary care provision will improve wider access to this 
intervention. 

 
Language is likely to be a significant barrier in addressing health inequalities in 
particular when a mandatory education package is only available in English. 
Specific thought, investment and planning needs to take place to reverse this inequality 
of provision of FSL. 

 

20 

83



 

 

2. Case study on health inequalities – Dr Abbas Tejani 
 

Samantha 
Samantha is a 39-year-old single mother of three young children who live with her. 
She works at a local retail outlet on a ‘zero hours’ contract and is paid the minimum 
wage. Due to the unpredictable nature of her work, she has never attended for 
cervical screening as she struggles to book a convenient time. A few months ago, she 
noticed some spotting in between her periods and after intercourse. Initially she was a 
bit worried, but a close friend advised her not to worry, that she had something similar 
once and everything was fine. 

 
A few weeks later Samantha began to experience worsening pelvic pain radiating 
through to her back. She attended the out-of-hours service who prescribed simple 
analgesics but after a while, the pain became too much to bear so she took sickness 
absence from work and presented to her GP, who also enquired about periods and 
Samantha admitted that she had been spotting for a number of weeks but thought 
that this was normal. 

 
A vaginal examination carried out by the GP revealed a sinister looking cervix and 
hospital assessment on the 2-week-wait pathway confirmed an advanced cervical 
squamous cell carcinoma. 

 
Over the subsequent weeks Samantha has had a vast number of appointments to 
discuss treatment options, starting chemotherapy and pre-operative assessment for 
surgery. This has meant that Samantha has had to leave her job and apply for 
benefits. Cashflow has become a big obstacle, as she needs to organise childcare 
whilst she attends the hospital, the steroids she is given after chemotherapy stimulate 
her appetite and so she is consuming more food, and parking at the hospital is also 
very expensive. Samantha is considering selling her car to help pay for childcare and 
household bills as this is the only way she can afford to continue going through 
treatment. She is also struggling with symptoms of depression owing to the concerns 
about her health, as well as the wellbeing of her family, and she sees no light at the 
end of the tunnel. 

 
Bernard 
Bernard is a 60-year-old man who works as a CEO of a successful multinational 
company that was founded by his grandfather and father. He owns holiday homes in 
Spain and Italy and enjoys flying to France for dinner on Friday night. Bernard is very 
fit for his age and suffers with no medical conditions or symptoms. He has private 
medical insurance and receives a routine medical check-up every six months. He 
attended his latest check-up on Monday morning and at 5pm on the same day, he 
received a call from the private clinic to advise that his PSA was mildly elevated. He 
was booked in to see a private urologist the following morning and at this 
appointment, a TRUS biopsy was taken. On Thursday, he received the results that he 
had the early stages of prostate cancer and he commenced hormonal injection 
therapy on Friday. 

 

As the CEO, he can take off as much time from work as needed and has no financial 
concerns. Should his health deteriorate, Bernard can rest assured in the knowledge 
that he has a lucrative income protection plan, multiple assets he can liquidate, an 
enviable pension pot and no outstanding debts or mortgages. 

21 

84



 

 

Critique of cases 
We have taken an example of two patients who live only 20 minutes apart, one in a 
deprived area and another in one of the most affluent parts of the UK. We know from 
the Marmot Review 2010 that people living in the poorest neighbourhoods in England 
will die seven years earlier than those living in the richest neighbourhoods. In addition, 
not only do those living in poorer areas die sooner, they also spend on average 17 
years more of their lives living with disability. Health inequalities arise from a complex 
combination of factors, including housing, income, education, social isolation and 
disability. Health inequalities are largely preventable, and it is estimated they cost the 
UK £36-40 billion annually. 

 
We know that disadvantage starts before birth and accumulates throughout life. Sir 
Michael Marmot summarised six key recommendations to reduce health inequalities 
as part of his review, including: 

 
1. Giving every child the best start in life 
2. Enabling all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and 

have control over their lives 
3. Creating fair employment and good work for all 
4. Ensuring a healthy standard of living for all 
5. Creating and developing sustainable places and communities 
6. Strengthening the role and impact of ill-health prevention. 

 
With this in mind, we can understand why Samantha and Bernard’s experiences were 
so different. Samantha was born into a single-parent household and has four other 
siblings. Her mother worked in a low-paid manual job and education was not a focus 
in her childhood, nor through adolescence. She left school at the age of 16 years-old 
and has worked manual jobs earning minimum wage for most of her life. Her social 
network includes people from similar backgrounds with variable healthcare beliefs. 

 

By contrast, Bernard was born into a wealthy two-parent family and has one other 
sibling. He received private education throughout both primary and secondary school, 
as well as a personal tutor during exam season. Bernard attended university and 
completed both undergraduate and postgraduate degrees and has worked for the 
family business for all his working life. He has a good understanding of his body and 
health, and a lot of his close friends are doctors, which gives him an opportunity to 
understand more about Medicine and to seek friendly medical advice. 

 
Samantha faced several barriers in seeking help early, which Bernard did not. Neither 
Samantha, nor her friend, understood the significance of her symptoms and she 
received false reassurance. Samantha worked in an unpredictable environment and 
so could never pre-book a smear test Monday to Friday 09.00-17.00. Samantha has 
also struggled to pay parking expenses to attend hospital appointments. 
Samantha could have been served better by promoting important warning symptoms 
of cervical cancer, as well as providing smear test appointments outside of core 
working hours (for example, evenings and weekends). The removal of/support with 
costs such as parking charges in hospital car parks would have reduced the financial 
strain her treatment has placed on her whole family. Living in an integrated care 
system with health inequalities at the heart of decision-making will mean that children 
like Samantha can be identified and supported earlier on in, and throughout, life. 

 
 

22 

85



23 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Equality, Health Inequality Impact 
and Risk Assessment 

 
 Title of Assessment: 

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities Framework 2021 - 2024 

 
 Person Responsible: 

Steve McCue, Senior Strategic Development Manager, LLR CCGs 

Mark Pierce, Head of Population Health Management, LLR CCGs 

 

 Service Area: 

Strategy & Planning Directorate, LLR CCGs 

 
 Overview of proposal, policy, service etc: 

Health inequalities across Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) are stark. A boy born 

today in the most deprived area of LLR could be expected to die up to 8.7 years earlier 

than a boy born in the least deprived area. The difference in the proportion of a person’s 

life lived in good health is even more marked – again, with those from less affluent areas 

spending a greater proportion of their (often shorter) lives in poor health compared to 

people from more affluent parts of our area. In acknowledging this, we also must accept 

that the above facts refer only to the extreme poles of what is a distribution of effects 

throughout the whole population. This is not an issue affecting only the least affluent in our 

community. Health inequalities affect almost everyone living in LLR to some degree and 

therefore it will be the business of everyone in our system to take action to reduce these 

unfair and avoidable differences in health outcomes. 

We have known about health inequalities for a long time now and individual partners have 

been making efforts to reduce them. The COVID-19 pandemic has laid out in stark focus 

the depth of the inequalities that exist and the devastating impacts they can have on our 

families and communities. As we come together in LLR as an Integrated Care System, 

one of our central roles and duties is to implement the evidence-based actions needed to 

increase health equity in our society and reduce or eliminate health inequality. We want the 

people of LLR to be healthier with everyone having a fair chance to live a long life in good 

health. Therefore, we will aim to “level up” services and funding, rather than take anything 

away from areas where outcomes are already good. 

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities Framework sets out 

how we plan to take action, both collectively and through specific organisations to 

positively impact not just the direct causes, but the “causes of the causes” of these 

differences. Some work, therefore, will fall to the NHS to do, some mainly to other partners 

such as local authorities or other public sector bodies, and some to joint working at 

system, place or neighbourhood. Often this is not something one organisation can do on 

their own – it requires the system to work together to act as anchor institutions – using 

86



24 

 

 

 

their collective resources and working with the voluntary and community sector to make a 

difference. 

The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life expectancy 

across LLR, by reducing health inequalities across the system. The purpose of this 

Framework is therefore to: 

 Provide a system mandate for action to address health inequalities across LLR 
 

 Establish a collective understanding of the terms ‘Inequality’, ‘Inequity’ and ‘Prevention’ 

in relation to population health, across all parts of the LLR Integrated Care System 

(ICS) 

 Strengthen a whole system collaborative approach to reduce (and remove entirely 

where possible) avoidable unfairness in people’s health and wellbeing in LLR 

 Establish the high-level principles of how LLR ICS partners will approach the work of 

reducing health inequity at system level 

 Recognise the framework will be implemented and agreed at system level, with much 

operational, political and community action taking place at ‘place’ and ‘neighbourhood’ 

level. It is the systems’ minimum ask of Place in relation to reducing health inequalities. 

 Set out some key actions that can be delivered at system level with support through the 

Integrated Care System (ICS), with recognition that some actions will be primarily for 

individual organisations e.g. the NHS or the Local Authority however many requiring 

partners to work together. 

87



25 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality, Health Inequality Impact and Risk Assessment 

 
Section one: equality impact 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

 
1. Will this (decision / proposal / change) affect / impact on people in any way? (e.g. 

population, patients, carers, staff)? 

Yes - The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life 

expectancy for people across LLR, by reducing health inequalities across the 

system. The health and wellbeing of people is an asset to individuals, to 

communities, and to wider society. Good mental and physical health is a basic 

precondition for people to take an active role in family, community, and work life. 

Although there is growing concern about stalling life expectancy, the existing  

wide inequalities in health outcomes tend to be overlooked. Improving healthy life 

expectancy enables people to live in better health for longer. A workforce that 

remains fit, healthy, and working for longer can contribute to a productive 

economy and decrease the costs of supporting an ageing society. However, health 

inequalities undermine these benefits. 

 
 
2. Is this decision or change part of a transformation programme or commissioning / 

decommissioning review? 

Yes. The development of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is part of the 

transformation work to create the LLR Integrated Care System (LLR ICS). This 

involves bringing a range of system partners together to collaborate on 

implementing a wide programme of interconnected transformation in the 

commissioning and provision of a range of public and voluntary services to 

improve the lives of the residents of LLR. The framework principles and its 

proposed system-wide actions will ensure that the development of an ICS is 

underpinned by a commitment that future changes to services will be undertaken 

with a central aim of reducing health inequalities and increasing health equity. 

 
3. Is this a decision that may change or potentially change the delivery of a service / activity 

or introduce a charge? 

Yes – Under the principles of this framework, future Investment in services will be 

proportionate to the needs (the ability to benefit) of the people using those 

services (the principle of “proportionate universalism”). This means that although 

there will be a universal offer of services to all, there will be justifiable variation in 

services in response to differences in need within and between groups of people 

using these services. Where we find variation in services that appears not to be 

justified by the variation in need, we will act to “level up” the way the services are 

offered, and outcomes achieved. 

88



26 

 

 

 
 

4. Will this (decision / proposal / change) potentially reduce the availability of a service or 

activity or product (e.g. prescriptions)? 

No - While levelling up is generally a good thing, levelling down is not. So, 

applying focus and resources in one area and targeting those resources to make 

them most effective will be appropriate, however, diverting those resources from 

somewhere they were also needed in order to improve health outcomes will not 

be. Proposals or decisions about specific services are not within the remit of this 

framework and will be made by identified responsible bodies within a specialist 

sphere. The framework proposes principles which are intended to support 

decision-making bodies reach conclusions about proposed changes to any 

services that keep the needs of traditionally underserved groups at the centre of 

these processes. We can see that health inequalities are the result of a complex 

range of interrelated causes – and “the causes of those causes”. In some cases, 

actions will be primarily in the hands of one partner. In other cases, reducing 

inequity will require close collaboration between several organisations across the 

system. The ICS partners are committed to taking action at all levels: 

 
• System level – across the whole LLR area 

• Place level – across the area covered by our Upper Tier Local Authorities 

(Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, Rutland County Council) 

and led by Health and Wellbeing Boards 

• Neighbourhood or locality level – smaller (though locally meaningful) 

populations within the wider Upper Tier boundaries. 

 
At each of these levels the partners within the ICS – not just the NHS and the Local 

Authority, but the voluntary and community sectors too – will come together to 

plan in even finer detail the actions they are going to take, individually and 

collectively, to reduce health inequity 

 
5. Is this a review of a policy, procedure, protocol or strategy? 

No – The LLR Health Inequalities Framework is a first strategic approach to guide 

reducing health inequalities across LLR. Places will be expected to translate the 

system level principles to their specific populations in the most appropriate way 

that meets their local needs. This is likely to take an approach encompassing the 

wider determinants of health, acknowledging that much of this work happens at 

this level. 

 
6. Is this (decision / proposal / change) about improving access or delivery of a service? 

Yes - The most detailed implementation plans, and actions will be developed by 

partners working together at a very local level (Neighbourhood or locality level). 

Multi- Disciplinary Team working, the sharing of information and engagement of 

individuals and communities around their assets and strengths will ensure that 

action is direct, person-centred, and sensitive to feedback from the integrated 

teams and the people those teams serve. 

89



27 

 

 

 

7. Will this (decision / proposal / change) potentially negatively impact groups covered by 

the Equality Act and other vulnerable groups? 

No 

 
8. Will this (decision / proposal / change) affect Employees or levels of training for those 

who will be delivering the service? 

Yes – All decision makers within the ICS will have training and development to 

gain expertise, skills, insight and understanding of health inequity and how to 

reduce it, specifically; 

 

 Health Inequity and Inequality training will be mandatory for all executive 

decision makers in each organisation 

 We will work with local and regional partners to develop appropriate and 

robust training packages relevant to roles 

 
9. Will this (decision / proposal / change) have any positive effect / impact in reducing 

health inequalities? 

Yes - The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life 

expectancy for people across LLR, by driving action on evidence-based 

approaches to reducing health inequalities across the system 

 
10. Will this (decision / proposal / change) have any negative effect / impact on health 

inequalities? 

No 

 
 

 
Section two: equality risk 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

11. To reach your (decision / proposal / change) have you considered any information / 

supporting documents? 

Yes – A detailed analysis of local demographic and health data demonstrating the 

extent of inequality is available through local JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment) reports produced by each Public Health Team. Local JSNA’s are 

available via the following organisational links: 

 
Leicester City: https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public- 

health/data-reports-information/jsna/ 
 

Leicestershire: https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html 
 

Rutland: https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint- 

strategic-needs-assessment/ 

90

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/


28 

 

 

 

12. Have you engaged or consulted with people or stakeholders / staff that may be affected 

by the (decision / proposal / change)? 

Yes – Multiple partners have been involved in the production of the LLR Health 

Inequalities Framework to include LLR CCGs,(including Independent Lay 

members) Public Health, Clinicians, and Leicester/Leicestershire and Rutland 

Healthwatch. 

 
13. Have you taken specialist advice in regard to impacts of the (decision / proposal / 

change)? 

Yes – the production of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework has been clinically 

led with managerial support. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Leads from University 

Hospitals of Leicester and Leicestershire Partnership Trust have been part of the 

document drafting group advising on issues of equity and equality. Public Health 

Consultants from city, county and Public Health England have reviewed and drafted the 

framework’s health equity position. 

 
 
14. Have you considered how this can address and eliminate discrimination, harassment 

and victimisation? 

Yes - Reducing Health inequalities for everybody, including those with protected 

characteristics, is identified in the framework as a key component in all the work 

undertaken within the ICS – it is everyone’s business. Reducing health inequalities 

and improving health equity should run through all work programmes at all levels 

as a “golden thread” from system to place to neighbourhood. The framework 

identifies Appropriate training and support to enable people to think and act in 

ways that lead to reductions in health inequity as one of the key system actions. 

 
15. Have you considered how this can help to address inequality issues to enable all groups 

to access services? 

Yes – as above and the framework identifies that undertaking health Equity Audits 

and using the LLR Inclusive Decision Making Framework will be required at the 

outset of service redesign work by Design Groups. 

 
16. Have you considered how this can help foster good relations and community cohesion 

within communities? 

Yes – The LLR Health Inequality Framework explicitly states “We will draw on the 

assets and strengths of communities and individuals to reduce health inequality 

and inequity. Our services will always try to listen to what really matters to people 

rather than focusing solely on “what is the matter” with them. We will listen to the 

voices of local people with lived experience to shape local priorities and redesign 

services.” It refers to our intention to draw upon the positive community 

engagement arising during the COVID pandemic as a template of how to create 

inclusive and positive involvement of all communities in pursuing common goals. 

 
17. Can you address or minimise any negative impacts that may represent an equality risk? 

Yes - Where specific actions / projects will be undertaken by the LLR Health 

Inequalities Support Unit or Task and Finish Group, an EHIIRA will be undertaken 

to identify potential unintended adverse consequences and mitigate those risks. 

91



29 

 

 

 

Most of the actions proposed in the framework will be delivered by either LLR 

Design Groups or by individual organisations who will undertake Health Equity 

Audits or EIIHRs to identify risk and mitigations of any negative impacts related to 

those individual pieces of work. The framework sets out the expectation that the 

LLR Inclusive Decision-Making Framework and health Equity audits are the 

process to be used to capture any potential or actual negative impacts and our 

responses. 

 
 
18. Will your decision reports be available to the public? 

Yes - The Health Equity Audits and EIIHRs for individual projects or service 

redesigns will all be in the public domain 

 

 
Section three: human rights impact 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

19. Is there any concern that Article 2: Right to life may be breached? 

No 

 
20. Is there any concern that Article 3: Right not to be treated in an inhuman or degrading 

way may be breached? 

No 

 

 
21. Is there any concern that Article 5: Right to liberty may be breached? 

No 

 
22. Is there any concern that Article 6: Right to a fair trial or hearing (this includes right to fair 

assessment, interview or investigation) may be breached? 

No 

 

 
23. Is there any concern that Article 8: Right to respect for private and family life may be 

breached? 

No 

 
24. Is there any concern that Article 9: Right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion 

may be breached? E.g. right to participate (individually or as a group) religion / belief 

No 

25. Is there any concern that Article 10: Right to freedom of expression may be breached? 

E.g. concern that people won’t be able to have opinions and express their views on their 

own or in a group 

No 

92



30 

 

 

 

26. Is there any concern that Article 14: Right not to be discriminated against in relation to 

any human rights, may be breached? 

No 

 

 
27. Is there any concern the obligation to protect human rights may be breached? E.g. 

concern that systems, processes and monitoring will not identify human rights breaches. 

No 

 

 
Section four: Assessment Comments 

28. Further comments from individual / team drafting this assessment: 

More detailed plans on action to reduce health inequity will be agreed at place 

level. The development, delivery and evaluation of place-led plans will be led by 

Directors of Public Health and Health and Wellbeing Boards. The plans will be 

based on local data and intelligence – qualitative and quantitative – derived from 

Public health, Local authority services, the NHS, other public sector partners, and 

communities themselves – and will reference the principles and high-level 

facilitative actions identified in this framework. 

 

 
 Stage 1 Assessment / Approval comments from MLCSU Equality and Inclusion Business 

Partner: 

The policy has been quality assured, and I am happy that this provides a rigorous 

assessment of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework. 

Shaun Cropper E&I Business Partner MLCSU 28/05/21 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

Stage 1 Equality, Health Inequality Impact 
and Risk Assessment 

 

 Title of Assessment:  

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities Framework 2021 - 2024 

 

 Person Responsible:  

Steve McCue, Senior Strategic Development Manager, LLR CCGs 

Mark Pierce, Head of Population Health Management, LLR CCGs 

 

 Service Area:  

Strategy & Planning Directorate, LLR CCGs 

 

 Overview of proposal, policy, service etc: 

Health inequalities across Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) are stark. A boy born 

today in the most deprived area of LLR could be expected to die up to 8.7 years earlier 

than a boy born in the least deprived area. The difference in the proportion of a person’s 

life lived in good health is even more marked – again, with those from less affluent areas 

spending a greater proportion of their (often shorter) lives in poor health compared to 

people from more affluent parts of our area. In acknowledging this, we also must accept 

that the above facts refer only to the extreme poles of what is a distribution of effects 

throughout the whole population. This is not an issue affecting only the least affluent in our 

community. Health inequalities affect almost everyone living in LLR to some degree and 

therefore it will be the business of everyone in our system to take action to reduce these 

unfair and avoidable differences in health outcomes. 

We have known about health inequalities for a long time now and individual partners have 

been making efforts to reduce them. The COVID-19 pandemic has laid out in stark focus 

the depth of the inequalities that exist and the devastating impacts they can have on our 

families and communities. As we come together in LLR as an Integrated Care System, 

one of our central roles and duties is to implement the evidence-based actions needed to 

increase health equity in our society and reduce or eliminate health inequality. We want the 

people of LLR to be healthier with everyone having a fair chance to live a long life in good 

health. Therefore, we will aim to “level up” services and funding, rather than take anything 

away from areas where outcomes are already good. 

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Health Inequalities Framework sets out 

how we plan to take action, both collectively and through specific organisations to 

positively impact not just the direct causes, but the “causes of the causes” of these 

differences. Some work, therefore, will fall to the NHS to do, some mainly to other partners 

such as local authorities or other public sector bodies, and some to joint working at 

system, place or neighbourhood. Often this is not something one organisation can do on 

their own – it requires the system to work together to act as anchor institutions – using 

APPENDIX B 

95



 
 

2 
 

their collective resources and working with the voluntary and community sector to make a 

difference. 

The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life expectancy 

across LLR, by reducing health inequalities across the system. The purpose of this 

Framework is therefore to: 

 Provide a system mandate for action to address health inequalities across LLR 

 Establish a collective understanding of the terms ‘Inequality’, ‘Inequity’ and ‘Prevention’ 

in relation to population health, across all parts of the LLR Integrated Care System 

(ICS) 

 Strengthen a whole system collaborative approach to reduce (and remove entirely 

where possible) avoidable unfairness in people’s health and wellbeing in LLR 

 Establish the high-level principles of how LLR ICS partners will approach the work of 

reducing health inequity at system level 

 Recognise the framework will be implemented and agreed at system level, with much 

operational, political and community action taking place at ‘place’ and ‘neighbourhood’ 

level. It is the systems’ minimum ask of Place in relation to reducing health inequalities. 

 Set out some key actions that can be delivered at system level with support through the 

Integrated Care System (ICS), with recognition that some actions will be primarily for 

individual organisations e.g. the NHS or the Local Authority however many requiring 

partners to work together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



 
 

3 
 

 
 
Equality, Health Inequality Impact and Risk Assessment 
 

Section one: equality impact 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

1. Will this (decision / proposal / change) affect / impact on people in any way? (e.g. 

population, patients, carers, staff)? 

Yes - The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life 

expectancy for people across LLR, by reducing health inequalities across the 

system. The health and wellbeing of people is an asset to individuals, to 

communities, and to wider society. Good mental and physical health is a basic 

precondition for people to take an active role in family, community, and work life. 

Although there is growing concern about stalling life expectancy, the existing 

wide inequalities in health outcomes tend to be overlooked. Improving healthy life 

expectancy enables people to live in better health for longer. A workforce that 

remains fit, healthy, and working for longer can contribute to a productive 

economy and decrease the costs of supporting an ageing society. However, health 

inequalities undermine these benefits. 

 

 

2. Is this decision or change part of a transformation programme or commissioning / 

decommissioning review? 

Yes.  The development of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is part of the 

transformation work to create the LLR Integrated Care System (LLR ICS).  This 

involves bringing a range of system partners together to collaborate on 

implementing a wide programme of interconnected transformation in the 

commissioning and provision of a range of public and voluntary services to 

improve the lives of the residents of LLR.  The framework principles and its 

proposed system-wide actions will ensure that the development of an ICS is 

underpinned by a commitment that future changes to services will be undertaken 

with a central aim of reducing health inequalities and increasing health equity. 

 

3. Is this a decision that may change or potentially change the delivery of a service / activity 

or introduce a charge? 

Yes – Under the principles of this framework, future Investment in services will be 

proportionate to the needs (the ability to benefit) of the people using those 

services (the principle of “proportionate universalism”). This means that although 

there will be a universal offer of services to all, there will be justifiable variation in 

services in response to differences in need within and between groups of people 

using these services. Where we find variation in services that appears not to be 

justified by the variation in need, we will act to “level up” the way the services are 

offered, and outcomes achieved.  

97



 
 

4 
 

 

4. Will this (decision / proposal / change) potentially reduce the availability of a service or 

activity or product (e.g. prescriptions)? 

No - While levelling up is generally a good thing, levelling down is not. So, 

applying focus and resources in one area and targeting those resources to make 

them most effective will be appropriate, however, diverting those resources from 

somewhere they were also needed in order to improve health outcomes will not 

be.  Proposals or decisions about specific services are not within the remit of this 

framework and will be made by identified responsible bodies within a specialist 

sphere.  The framework proposes principles which are intended to support 

decision-making bodies reach conclusions about proposed changes to any 

services that keep the needs of traditionally underserved groups at the centre of 

these processes. We can see that health inequalities are the result of a complex 

range of interrelated causes – and “the causes of those causes”. In some cases, 

actions will be primarily in the hands of one partner. In other cases, reducing 

inequity will require close collaboration between several organisations across the 

system. The ICS partners are committed to taking action at all levels: 

 

• System level – across the whole LLR area 

• Place level – across the area covered by our Upper Tier Local Authorities 

(Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, Rutland County Council) 

and led by Health and Wellbeing Boards 

• Neighbourhood or locality level – smaller (though locally meaningful) 

populations within the wider Upper Tier boundaries. 

 

At each of these levels the partners within the ICS – not just the NHS and the Local 

Authority, but the voluntary and community sectors too – will come together to 

plan in even finer detail the actions they are going to take, individually and 

collectively, to reduce health inequity 

 

5. Is this a review of a policy, procedure, protocol or strategy? 

No – The LLR Health Inequalities Framework is a first strategic approach to guide 

reducing health inequalities across LLR. Places will be expected to translate the 

system level principles to their specific populations in the most appropriate way 

that meets their local needs. This is likely to take an approach encompassing the 

wider determinants of health, acknowledging that much of this work happens at 

this level. 

 

6. Is this (decision / proposal / change) about improving access or delivery of a service? 

Yes - The most detailed implementation plans, and actions will be developed by 

partners working together at a very local level (Neighbourhood or locality level). 

Multi- Disciplinary Team working, the sharing of information and engagement of 

individuals and communities around their assets and strengths will ensure that 

action is direct, person-centred, and sensitive to feedback from the integrated 

teams and the people those teams serve. 

 

98



 
 

5 
 

7. Will this (decision / proposal / change) potentially negatively impact groups covered by 

the Equality Act and other vulnerable groups? 

No 

 

8. Will this (decision / proposal / change) affect Employees or levels of training for those 

who will be delivering the service? 

Yes – All decision makers within the ICS will have training and development to 

gain expertise, skills, insight and understanding of health inequity and how to 

reduce it, specifically; 

 

 Health Inequity and Inequality training will be mandatory for all executive 

decision makers in each organisation  

 We will work with local and regional partners to develop appropriate and 

robust training packages relevant to roles 

 

9. Will this (decision / proposal / change) have any positive effect / impact in reducing 

health inequalities? 

Yes - The aim of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework is to improve healthy life 

expectancy for people across LLR, by driving action on evidence-based 

approaches to reducing health inequalities across the system 

 

10. Will this (decision / proposal / change) have any negative effect / impact on health 

inequalities? 

No 

 

 

Section two: equality risk 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

11. To reach your (decision / proposal / change) have you considered any information / 

supporting documents? 

Yes –  A detailed analysis of local demographic and health data demonstrating the 

extent of inequality is available through local JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment) reports produced by each Public Health Team. Local JSNA’s are 

available via the following organisational links: 

 

Leicester City: https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public- 

health/data-reports-information/jsna/ 

 

Leicestershire: https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html 

 

Rutland: https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint- 

strategic-needs-assessment/ 

 

99

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-health/data-reports-information/jsna/
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/


 
 

6 
 

12. Have you engaged or consulted with people or stakeholders / staff that may be affected 

by the (decision / proposal / change)? 

Yes – Multiple partners have been involved in the production of the LLR Health 

Inequalities Framework to include LLR CCGs,(including Independent Lay 

members) Public Health, Clinicians, and Leicester/Leicestershire and Rutland 

Healthwatch.  

 

13. Have you taken specialist advice in regard to impacts of the (decision / proposal / 

change)? 

Yes – the production of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework has been clinically 

led with managerial support. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Leads from University 

Hospitals of Leicester and Leicestershire Partnership Trust have been part of the 

document drafting group advising on issues of equity and equality.  Public Health 

Consultants from city, county and Public Health England have reviewed and drafted the 

framework’s health equity position. 

 

 

14. Have you considered how this can address and eliminate discrimination, harassment 

and victimisation? 

Yes - Reducing Health inequalities for everybody, including those with protected 

characteristics, is identified in the framework as a key component in all the work 

undertaken within the ICS – it is everyone’s business. Reducing health inequalities 

and improving health equity should run through all work programmes at all levels 

as a “golden thread” from system to place to neighbourhood. The framework 

identifies Appropriate training and support to enable people to think and act in 

ways that lead to reductions in health inequity as one of the key system actions. 

 

15. Have you considered how this can help to address inequality issues to enable all groups 

to access services? 

Yes – as above and the framework identifies that undertaking health Equity Audits 

and using the LLR Inclusive Decision Making Framework will be required at the 

outset of service redesign work by Design Groups. 

 

16. Have you considered how this can help foster good relations and community cohesion 

within communities? 

Yes – The LLR Health Inequality Framework explicitly states “We will draw on the 

assets and strengths of communities and individuals to reduce health inequality 

and inequity. Our services will always try to listen to what really matters to people 

rather than focusing solely on “what is the matter” with them. We will listen to the 

voices of local people with lived experience to shape local priorities and redesign 

services.”  It refers to our intention to draw upon the positive community 

engagement arising during the COVID pandemic as a template of how to create 

inclusive and positive involvement of all communities in pursuing common goals. 

 

17. Can you address or minimise any negative impacts that may represent an equality risk? 

Yes - Where specific actions / projects will be undertaken by the LLR Health 

Inequalities Support Unit or Task and Finish Group, an EHIIRA will be undertaken 

to identify potential unintended adverse consequences and mitigate those risks.  

100



 
 

7 
 

Most of the actions proposed in the framework will be delivered by either LLR 

Design Groups or by individual organisations who will undertake Health Equity 

Audits or EIIHRs to identify risk and mitigations of any negative impacts related to 

those individual pieces of work.  The framework sets out the expectation that the 

LLR Inclusive Decision-Making Framework and health Equity audits are the 

process to be used to capture any potential or actual negative impacts and our 

responses. 

 

 

18. Will your decision reports be available to the public? 

Yes - The Health Equity Audits and EIIHRs for individual projects or service 

redesigns will all be in the public domain 

 

Section three: human rights impact 

For each question, please answer Yes or No, and provide a brief rationale for your answer. 

 

19. Is there any concern that Article 2: Right to life may be breached? 

No 

 

20. Is there any concern that Article 3: Right not to be treated in an inhuman or degrading 

way may be breached? 

No 

 

 

21. Is there any concern that Article 5: Right to liberty may be breached? 

No 

 

22. Is there any concern that Article 6: Right to a fair trial or hearing (this includes right to fair 

assessment, interview or investigation) may be breached? 

No 

 

 

23. Is there any concern that Article 8: Right to respect for private and family life may be 

breached? 

No 

 

24. Is there any concern that Article 9: Right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion 

may be breached? E.g. right to participate (individually or as a group) religion / belief 

No 

25. Is there any concern that Article 10: Right to freedom of expression may be breached? 

E.g. concern that people won’t be able to have opinions and express their views on their 

own or in a group 

No 

 

101



 
 

8 
 

26. Is there any concern that Article 14: Right not to be discriminated against in relation to 

any human rights, may be breached? 

No 

 

 

27. Is there any concern the obligation to protect human rights may be breached? E.g. 

concern that systems, processes and monitoring will not identify human rights breaches. 

No 

 

Section four: Assessment Comments 

28. Further comments from individual / team drafting this assessment:  

More detailed plans on action to reduce health inequity will be agreed at place 

level. The development, delivery and evaluation of place-led plans will be led by 

Directors of Public Health and Health and Wellbeing Boards. The plans will be 

based on local data and intelligence – qualitative and quantitative – derived from 

Public health, Local authority services, the NHS, other public sector partners, and 

communities themselves – and will reference the principles and high-level 

facilitative actions identified in this framework. 

 

 Stage 1 Assessment / Approval comments from MLCSU Equality and Inclusion Business 

Partner: 

The policy has been quality assured, and I am happy that this provides a rigorous 

assessment of the LLR Health Inequalities Framework. 

Shaun Cropper E&I Business Partner MLCSU 28/05/21 

102



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8th JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

WIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH ACTION PLAN  
 
Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Health and Wellbeing Board’s approval of a  

Wider Determinants of Health Action Plan which has been developed in response to 
recommendations arising from the Wider Determinants and Health Inequalities 
Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session held on 25th March 2021.   

  
 Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2.   The Wider Determinants of Health Action Plan links closely to the existing Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy vision by aiming to improve health outcomes for the 
local population and manage future demand on services through a primary 
prevention approach, focusing on the sizeable impact of the wider determinants on 
health outcomes. It also links closely to the proposed focus of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy refresh, with a focus on health inequalities at a place level and 
health across the life course. 
 

3.   Focusing on these wider determinants, there are also links to strategies such at the 
Leicestershire and Leicester Strategic Growth Plan and the LLR Health Inequalities 
Framework.  

 
Recommendation 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the Wider Determinants of 

Health Action Plan. 
 

Background 
 
5. It is widely recognised that health is determined by a complex interaction between 

individual characteristics, lifestyle, and the physical, social, and economic 
environment. Experts agree that these 'broader determinants of health' are more 
important than health care in ensuring a healthy population”, explaining that 
economic hardship, levels of education, employment, housing and access to green 
space are very strongly related to health and wellbeing.  
 

6. Although life expectancy in the county and nationally is improving, healthy life 
expectancy is not. Consequently, more people are living in poor health for longer. 
Those living in poor health for longer are less likely to contribute to their 
communities and society and more likely to be reliant on statutory services.  

 
The Wider Determinants of Health Action Plan 
 
7. The Health and Wellbeing Board held a development session on 25th March 2021 to 

examine the wider determinants of health locally and considered how to address 
them. One of the recommendations was to develop a clear action plan to identify 

103 Agenda Item 11



 
 

and monitor work around the wider determinants of health.  This area gives a 
considerable opportunity to have a sizeable impact on the health outcomes of the 
local population. It was felt, due to the size of the work area, that an action plan 
capturing key pieces of partnership work being carried out by member organisations 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be beneficial to give a clear overview of 
ongoing work and responsibility and co-ordinate the action.  
    

8. Allowing partners to further identify ways to work together to deliver work at a place 
level around the wider determinants of health, taking into consideration the 
evidence base of where the biggest impacts could be made to improve health.  
 

9. The Plan has five priorities based on the King’s Fund and Public Health England 
recommendations of where the biggest impacts on health could be gained and what 
the Leicestershire data suggests are areas for improvement. The five priorities are. 
 

a. Best start in life, linking with the Children and Young People’s Plan priorities 
b. Natural and Built Environment working with the Strategic Planning Group 
c. Strong communities, wellbeing, and resilience 
d. Jobs and Work linking with the Growth Unit 
e. Warm and Safer Homes 

 
10.  The Plan will be delivered through existing partnership governance such as the   

Children and Young People’s Plan priority five subgroup and the health workstream 
of the Leicestershire and Leicester strategic planning group, aligning priorities within 
the plans. All partnership groups involved delivering the Plan will have 
representatives from health partners and district colleagues. Progress towards the 
Plan will be monitored through the unified prevention/staying healthy board. 
 

11. Detailed actions against these priorities can be found in the Appendix.  
 

Resource Implications 
 
12. The Action Plan will be delivered using existing staffing resource across the LLR 

Partnership.  
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health, Leicestershire County Council 
Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Kelly-Marie Evans, Consultant in Public Health, Leicestershire County Council. 
Email: Kelly-Marie.Evans@leics.gov.uk  
 
Jenna Parton, Strategic Lead, Wider Determinants of Health, Leicestershire County 
Council. 
Email: Jenna.Parton@leics.gov.uk  
 
Appendix 
 
Wider determinants action plan 
 
 

104

mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly-Marie.Evans@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jenna.Parton@leics.gov.uk


 
 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
13. The action plan focuses on promoting equality and equity within health for our 

population.  The actions within the plan and associated work with do this using 
evidence around inequality informed by factors such as ethnic and socio-economic 
inequality.  The work will aim to increase community cohesion and ability to make 
healthy choices for our population.   
 

Environmental Implications 
 

14. The actions within the Wider Determinants Action Plan will cover work that will 
impact air quality and carbon reduction.  Partnership work across LCC and partner 
organisations is ongoing in these areas and work to measure co-benefits is being 
further explored.  
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
15. A level of integrated partnership working is expected for the success of the Wider 

Determinants Action Plan.  Relevant partners have been consulted whilst the action 
plan has been developed and will continue to be throughout its implementation. The 
refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy this will further underpin the joint 
work, aims and objectives of partners within the county around the health and 
wellbeing of our population.  

105



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Leicestershire 

Wider Determinants of Health  

Action Plan 

 

2021-2026  

 

 

 
  

APPENDIX 

107



2 
 

Introduction  

1. What are the wider determinants and why are they important? 

In 1991, Dahlgren and Whitehead began to explore how social environments interact with the health 
of an individual.  The model maps the relationship between the individual, their environment and 
health, with individuals placed at the centre and various layers of factors that influence their health 
surrounding them. 

 
A key report around health inequalities called “Fair Society, Healthy Lives”1 was published in 2010 
(also known as the Marmot Review). This gave a new perspective around action needed to reduce 
health inequalities and particularly stressed the importance of these social, or wider, determinants 
of health, such as education, occupation, income, home and your neighbourhood and community. It 
also identified that inequalities accumulate as we age, and so the need for a life-course approach 
when looking to reduce inequality and consider equitable action, based on level of inequality within 
our population.    

The King’s Fund2 have explored and built upon the idea that health is determined by a complex 
interaction between individual characteristics, lifestyle, and the physical, social and economic 
environment.  They state that “experts agree that these 'broader determinants of health' are more 
important than health care in ensuring a healthy population”, explaining that economic hardship, 
levels of education, employment, housing and access to green space are very strongly related to 
health and wellbeing. 

2. Why do we need this action plan? 

Research shows us that the wide-ranging wider determinants of health have the potential to have a 
larger impact on the health outcomes of the population than access to and quality of clinical 
services.  This means within Leicestershire, at a place level, lots of our services have great potential 
to impact the health and wellbeing of our residents and reduce health inequalities.  Marmot1 
reminded us that local councils have a pivotal role in building and strengthening the wider 
determinants of good health through work to support individuals, families, and communities. 
Through joint work across services this plan gives local leaders a unique opportunity to improve 
healthy life expectancy and the reduce of health inequalities. The Marmot review 10 years3 on 
shows that people are living in poor health for longer. Plus, the differences in health outcomes for 
those living in more deprived areas compared to those living in least deprived areas is widening.    
 
 

                                                           
1
 Marmot, M (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives 

2
 The King’s Fund (2016).  Broader Determinants of Health: Future Trends  

3 Institute of Health Equity (2020): Healthy Equity: Marmot Review 10 years on  

108



3 
 

Figure 1: Contributors to health outcomes  

 
When reviewing figure 1, it is evident just how wide ranging the wider determinants are and how 
many services and programmes of work they link to.  Table 1 illustrates the work the Kings Fund4 has 
developed to demonstrate where there is strong evidence that the wider determinants of health can 
impact on health outcomes. It also summarises the findings around the size of the public health 
issue, associated evidence base around actions and impact on health, the speed of impact and its 
contribution to reducing health inequalities.   To help guide plans around work locally to address the 
wider determinants of health and health inequality, looking at the best opportunities to invest 
resource for outcomes for our residents. 

 

3. What is the current picture of the health of our population? 

Leicestershire health is generally good, but there are pockets of poor health. Figure 2 below 
illustrates life expectancy for Leicestershire is better than the national average and improving, 
however healthy life expectancy is similar to the national average and has plateaued since 2017. 

                                                           
4 The King’s Fund (2013).  Improving the public’s health.  A resource for Local Authorities 

 

109



4 
 

Figure 2 Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy 

   
Source: Public Health England Fingertips Tool:  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-
framework/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E10000018 [Accessed 09/04/2022] 
 

Figure 3 illustrates data associated with the wider determinants of health and how the county 
compares to England and the East Midlands. 
 
Leicestershire is better than the national average for density of fast-food outlets and overcrowded 
households. Similar to the national average for percentage of adults cycling for travel at least three 
days a week, utilisation of green space and affordability of home ownership. However, Leicestershire 
is worse than the national average for percentage of adults walking for travel at least three days a 
week, access to woodland and air pollution for PM2.5.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

110

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E10000018
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E10000018


5 
 

 
Figure 3: The Wider Determinants of Health indicators 

 
Source: Public Health England Fingertips Tool: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-
determinants/data#page/1/gid/1938133043/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E10000018/iid/93439/age/164/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1 
[accessed 09/04/2021] 
 

Using indicators related to table 1 above below demonstrates how Leicestershire fares to the key 
areas highlighted for action by the King’s Fund.  
 
3.1 Best Start in Life and healthy schools’  
Giving children the best start in life is fundamental part of improving health and reducing health 
inequalities. Figure 4 demonstrates school readiness data is improving although we are still worse 
than England for those children eligible for free school meals.  
 
Figure 4: Best Start in Life and Healthy Schools indicators 
 

111

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants/data#page/1/gid/1938133043/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E10000018/iid/93439/age/164/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants/data#page/1/gid/1938133043/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E10000018/iid/93439/age/164/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1


6 
 

  

Educational attainment is strongly linked with health behaviours and outcomes. Better-educated 
individuals are less likely to suffer from long term diseases, to report themselves in poor health, or 
to suffer from mental conditions such as depression or anxiety.  Table 3 below shows the average 
attainment 8 score is significantly worse than the average for England in Charnwood. 
 
3.2 Natural and built environment 
 
Physical inactivity increases the risk of chronic conditions including heart disease, diabetes, and 
other obesity-related illnesses. Greater vehicle use also causes higher levels of air pollution, which 
may increase cardiovascular and respiratory conditions, and contributes to global climate change.  
 
Table 2 shows the Leicestershire data and some of the differences between districts. Relatively 
fewer adults are walking or cycling for travel at least three days a week in Harborough and NWL 
compared to the national average. While Blaby has the lowest percentage of adults walking for 
travel at least three days per week and Melton the lowest percentage of adults cycling for travel at 
least three days per week. Air pollution for PM2.5 is worse in Charnwood.  
 
Table 2: Natural and Built Environment indicators related to health outcomes 
 

 

Percentage of adults walking for 

travel at least three days per 

week 2018/19 (%) 

Percentage of adults cycling 

for travel at least three days 

per week 2018/19 (%) 

Air pollution: Fine particular 
matter, 2017 µg/m3 

Blaby 13.0 2.5 9.5 

Charnwood 26.3 4.0 9.6 

Harborough 17.0 1.4 8.8 

Hinckley & Bosworth 16.4 2.1 9.2 

Melton 19.1 1.0 8.8 

NW Leicestershire  14.0 1.5 9.2 

Oadby & Wigston 16.3 2.0 9.3 

Leicestershire 18.5 2.4 9.3 

School Readiness: percentage of children not achieving a good level of development 

at the end of Reception 2018/19 (%) Free school meals versus non free school meals 

% of children not achieving a good level of 
development at the end of reception 2018/19, 
26.0% of pupils not receiving free school meals did 
not achieve a good level of development at the end 
of reception.  
 
In comparison 51.3% of pupils receiving free school 
meals did not achieve a good level of development 
at the end of reception. 
 
Whilst both percentages have decreased over time 
the gap between the 2 groups has not narrowed. 

112



7 
 

England 22.7 3.1 8.9 

 

3.3 Strong communities, wellbeing, and resilience  

Community life, social connections and having a voice in local decisions are all factors that have a 

vital contribution to make to health and wellbeing. These community level determinants build 

control and resilience and can help buffer against disease and influence health related behaviours. 

Local authorities have a role to play in helping individuals and communities to develop social capital. 

There is growing recognition that although disadvantaged social groups and communities have a 

range of complex and inter-related needs, they also have assets at the social and community level 

that can help improve health and strengthen resilience to health problems.  

Indicators shows the percentage of adult social care users who have as much contact as they would 
like is similar to the England average, but second worst when comparing with our statistical 
neighbours.  
 
 
 

 

3.4 Jobs and Work:  

Work is generally good for mental and physical health, providing the work is ‘good work’.   ‘Good 
work’ means a safe and secure job, good working hours and conditions, supportive management, 
good leadership and opportunities for development.  Evidence shows being in ‘good work’ improves 
health and wellbeing for all ages and reduces social exclusion. Unemployment is associated with an 
increased risk of illness and mortality and can impact the wider family of those not in work too.   

In addition to the health benefits associated with an adequate wage, work can provide valuable 
social interactions, a place to develop and practice skills, and a sense of social participation and 
contribution to society. 
 

Both education and work for much of the population has been disrupted greatly by the Coronavirus 
Pandemic, this may have far reaching consequences for the health of the population. The data 
shown in table 3 regarding jobs and work shows total employments furloughed at December 2020 
locally was similar throughout the county, but slightly lower than the national figure of 13.2%, with 
North West Leicestershire having the lowest level at 10%.   Although employment levels are all 

Figure 5: Social Isolation: percentage of adult social care users who have as much social contact as they would 

like (18+ yrs) 2018/19 (%) 

113



8 
 

average or above average when compared to England, post-pandemic impacts around job losses 
may still be being masked by furlough and other financial support to businesses.   
 
Sickness absence levels for Charnwood and Leicestershire are significantly worse than the average 
for England.  Being absent from work can lead to financial challenges and a loss of the positive 
impacts of being in work identified above.  Workplace injuries and pressures on mental health such 
as stress can lead to sickness leave or leaving employment.  Long term conditions such as 
musculoskeletal and mental ill health, or disability through injury can also cause barriers around 
returning to work or finding alternative employment.   

 
Table 3: Job and work indicators 
 

 

Total employments 
furloughed at 31st 

December 2020 

Sickness absence-percentage 

of working days lost due to 

sickness absence 2017-19 (%)

 

Percentage of people aged 
16-64 in employment 

2019/20 (%)
 

Blaby 5,700 (12%) 1.3 78.1 

Charnwood 9,500 (12%) 2.7 80.3 

Harborough 5,300 (12%) 1.1 88.2 

Hinckley & Bosworth 6,100 (11%) 1.1 85.2 

Melton 2,900 (12%) 0.7 84.9 

NW Leicestershire  5,000 (10%) 1.0 72.6 

Oadby & Wigston 3,200 (13%) 2.4 76.2 

Leicestershire 37,700 1.6 80.6 

England (12%) 1.1 76.2 

 
There is also a place for the employer to further create a ‘healthy workplace’, in addition to 
providing ‘good work’.  This helps give opportunities for employees to feel confident and able to 
make healthier choices and maintain and improve their health and wellbeing as a productive, 
engaged employee. It may also make employees feel more valued which will contribute to employee 
mental health.    
 

3.5 Warmer and Safer Homes:  
 

Suitable accommodation that is safe and warm is one of the foundations of personal wellbeing, 
whether in childhood or old age. It enables people to access basic services, build good relationships 
with neighbours and others, and maintain their independence – all resulting in a better quality of 
life. Table 4 below shows Melton is relatively worse when considering fuel poverty across the 
county.  
 
Table 4: Warmer and Safer Homes indicators 
 

114



9 
 

 

Homelessness-households owed 

a duty under the homelessness 

reduction act (HRA) 2019/20 

(per 1,000)

 

Excess Winter 
deaths index Aug 

2018-Jul 2019 

 (Ratio-%) 

Fuel Poverty 
2018 (%) 

Blaby 9.9 24.9 8.4 

Charnwood 5.6 5.3 10.1 

Harborough 5.0 11.9 8.9 

Hinckley & Bosworth 8.5 16.7 9.0 

Melton 11.7 29.3 10.6 

NW Leicestershire  7.6 18.1 9.8 

Oadby & Wigston 10.0 -5.9 8.9 

Leicestershire 7.7 13.1 9.4 

England 12.3 15.1 8.9 

 
4. Next steps  

The action plan aims to act as the county plan to address the wider determinants of health at place 
level, connecting across the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Leicestershire. 
 
This plan focuses on prevention and early intervention by improving the place that our population 
live and work in through increasing access to non-medical health and wellbeing interventions to 
support people to stay well. 
 
To support the success of this plan, work will begin to build upon the agreement from the 
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board to adopt a ‘Health in All Policies’ (HiAP) approach in July 
2016.   Working with colleagues in Leicestershire County Council will look to fully adopt and trial the 
HiAP approach as an exemplar organisation.  The HiAP approach recognises the wider determinants 
of health and the key role that organisations and services that influence ‘place’ have upon these 
factors. To effectively influence population health, health considerations need to be integrated into 
broader thinking and service provision to support health equity. A HiAP approach ensures that 
health considerations routinely become part of decision-making, with the aim of reducing health 
inequalities.  Please see the action plan for more details around this. 
 
The action plan adapts the nine evidence-based areas identified by The King’s Fund as where the 
greatest impact on improving health can be sort as discussed in figure 2 above. This approach has 
been used to organise the actions in a clear plan, spanning across the life-course.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115



10 
 

 
  

116



11 
 

 

117



12 
 

5. Action Plan: 

Impact Area Aims and Objectives  Lead 
Organisation(s) 

Actions  Links to local 
strategic plans 

Accountability and 
Governance  

Best Start in Life  Improve and expand the 
Healthy Schools offer and 
uptake 

LCC - Redesigning the website and moving 
to an electronic system for 
accreditations. 

- Aligning criteria to other areas to 
avoid duplication e.g. physical activity 
with LRS.  

- Ongoing delivery of Brook RSHE 
programme, as well as standard 
training offer 

- Implement the health-related 
behaviour questionnaire to inform 
health improvement at a school level 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 
outcome  
 
Children and Young 
People’s Partnership 
Plan – Priority 5: 
Good physical and 
mental health  

Health and Wellbeing 
Board Priority 5- CYP 

Improve outcomes for 
children and young people 
 
 

LCC 
CCG 
Providers 
Schools 

- Implement 1001 days 
- Work with early years to audit 

ourselves against the early 
intervention speech language and 
communication toolkit 

- Expand the Wellbeing for Education 
Return/Recovery into early years 

- Co-ordinate communication 
campaigns to maximise the impact 
such as safe sleeping, C4L 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 
outcome 
Children and Young 
People’s Partnership 
Plan – Priority 5: 
Good physical and 
mental health 
LLR CYP design 
group 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
CYPP Priority 1 and 5 

Improve maternal and 
children mental health 

LCC 
CCG 
Providers 

- Link with the developing Mental 
Health Strategy 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 
outcome 
LLR Maternity and 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board CYPP Priority 5 

118



13 
 

CYP MH design 
group 

Natural & Built 
environment 
including active 
and sustainable 
travel 
 
 
 

Influence the local 
planning and 
infrastructure system 
around health 
considerations within 
planning policy i.e. embed 
and promote HIA, Public 
Health input into Local 
Plans, local and national 
lobbying around 
showcasing best practice 
 
Improve access to green 
space 

LCC - Public 
Health, Strategic 
Planning, 
Growth Unit and 
Environment 
and Transport 
Districts  
LRS 
CCG 

Work with Strategic Planning Group and Planning 
Officers Forum for a joint approach between LCC 
Public Health and partners to embed health 
considerations within planning policy. 
 
Work with Planning colleagues to map a wider 
process and practical sign up to embed HIA in the 
local planning process.  Pilot with Blaby District 
Council- Using HIA throughout the Local Plan 
development process.   
 
Link to Town and Country Planning Association to 
support with evaluation of pilot work and creation 
of a best practice process to share more widely 
including pathways around access to data. 
 
Create a final process and gain endorsement from 
senior leadership across the county to embed 
health considerations and HIA within planning 
policy processes. 
 
Green social prescribing 
 
Joint work with the ICS Place-led plans leads to 
ensure synchrony across workstreams and public 
health input to and support with developing the 
plans. 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity, 
Great Communities 
and Affordable and 
Quality Homes 
outcomes  
 
Strategic Planning 
Group – Health 
workstream 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board Strategic 
Planning Group 
Planning Officers 
Forum 
Universal Prevention 
Board? 
 

Upskill and support local 
partners and developers 
around need for and 
completion of project 

LCC Public 
Health 
LRS 
LCC  

Embed HIA on the county planning portal for use 
with singular developments. 
 
Work with partners, such as developers, planners 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity, 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

119



14 
 

specific HIA completion. 
 

and Adult Social Care colleagues to develop 
support and training sessions and materials. 
 
Use TCPA findings to develop a clear process of 
access to, and understanding of, public health 
data for planning colleagues to access to support 
health considerations within planning processes 
at policy level and for seamless use on the online 
portal.  
 
HS2 team to complete a comprehensive HIA and 
associated work outcomes. 
 
Ongoing work with the LCC Growth Unit and 
County Strategic Planning Group to refresh the 
health workstreams and embed health as a key 
stakeholder in conversations and decisions. 

Great Communities 
and Affordable and 
Quality Homes 
outcomes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Planning 
Group – Health 
workstream 
 
 

 Creation of a work 
programme embedding 
health considerations 
within air quality, 
biodiversity and carbon 
reduction work, looking at 
co-benefits and 
partnership working.  
  
 
  

LCC Public 
Health  
Environment 
and Transport 
Districts 

Deliver against the Air quality and Health action 
plan- leading on the engagement with local 
populations and communication key messages 
around clean air and air quality. 
 
Embed health considerations into the county 
Cycling and Walking Strategy. 
 
Embed health within the Net Zero Carbon 
Roadmap workstream. 
 
Clearly link active travel into the HIA process 
above. 
 
Explore co-benefits between Public Health, air 
quality, biodiversity and carbon reduction work.  

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity and 
Great Communities 
outcomes. 
Leicestershire Air 
quality and Health 
action plan 
 
Leicestershire 
Cycling and Walking 
Strategy 
 
 
LCC Environment 
Strategy Board 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

120



15 
 

Strong 
communities, 
wellbeing, and 
resilience  

Upskilling organisations 
and people at place level 
to have confident, timely 
and relevant 
conversations, make 
evidence-based decisions 
and empowering people to 
make healthier choices, 
particularly in areas of high 
inequality. 
 
 
 

CCG 
PCNs 
LCC Public 
Health 
Providers  

Adoption of a Health in All Policies approach for 
Leicestershire County Council. 
 
Expansion of the adoption of a Health in All 
Policies approach within Health and Wellbeing 
Board member organisations 
 
Partnership work with local health professionals 
to provide training through the health 
improvement team around MECC plus and the 
wider determinants to support those most in 
need 
 
Consider how the community insight informs the 
JSNA, commissioning and service redesign 
processes 
  
Joint work between LCC and PCNs to map and 
plan for local need through focused health need 
assessment including community assets. 
 
Development and delivery of the Wave 4 Suicide 
Prevention workstream, working at the heart of 
local communities, with local organisations and 
PCN’s to develop mental health friendly places 
based on need and insight. 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity and 
Great Communities 
outcomes 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board  

Link the food system more 
widely to the wider 
determinants work 
stream, including food 
production and education 
 
 

LCC Public 
Health 
Environment 
and Transport 
District Partners 

Create a second Leicestershire Food Plan 
following a Sustainable Food Places approach 
looking at the whole food and large-scale 
challenges faced as a county – poverty, health 
inequalities, economic development, climate 
change and waste management. 
 

Food Plan 
management group 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

121



16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Address some of the 
underlying cause of poor 
health that COVID has 
exacerbated 

Map the local food bank system and future 
suggestions for areas of development based on 
best practice, insight and local need 
 
Link with the developing mental health strategy 
Consider participatory appraisal approach in some 
areas of the county 
 
 
Conduct a community impact assessment and 
implement the findings 

Jobs & work 
 
 

Develop a workplace 
health offer based on 
evidence and need to 
support ‘good work’ and 
Covid recovery.   

LCC Public 
Health  
LLEP 
LRS 

Conduct a review of the current workplace offer 
delivered by LRS for expansion and development, 
supported by a review of evidence of need within 
a covid-recovery timescale.   
 
Clearly define target groups of employees and 
associated employers based on evidence to 
develop the offer with, linking with key 
stakeholders to widen the scope around wider 
determinants of health (i.e. financial wellbeing, 
domestic violence). 
 
Evaluate the expanded offer and promote across 
a wider section of the working population i.e. 
SMEs.  

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 
outcomes  

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

Support local partners and 
programmes to shape 
good work opportunities 
and workplace health 
awareness 

LCC Public 
Health 
LCC 
LLEP 

Support the Kickstart Programme 
 
Link with the LLEP and associated avenues for 
engagement with local employers to raise the 
profile of healthy work. 

LCC Strategic Plan- 
Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 
outcomes 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

Warm and Safer Creation of and influence LCC Public County-wide uptake of Domestic Abuse and LCC Strategic Plan- Health and Wellbeing 

122



17 
 

Homes  on a structured, cohesive 
county approach to 
domestic violence, trauma, 
homelessness, fuel poverty 
and warm homes. 

Health, 
Environment 
and Transport 
Districts  
 

Housing Alliance Accreditation.  
 
Embed a Trauma Informed Practice approach for 
Leicestershire across the wider determinant’s 
agenda 
 
Work with housing providers (private and public 
sector) to consider health impacts within the 
existing housing stock. 
 
Implement the warm homes fund and green 
homes grant.  
 
Completion of a homelessness needs assessment 
and associated service and support based on 
recommendations 
 
Link this agenda into the workplace health offer.  

Strong Economy,  
Wellbeing and 
Opportunity, 
Great Communities 
and Affordable and 
Quality Homes 
outcomes  
 
Chief Housing 
Officers Group 
 

Board 
 

 
 

123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH ACTION PLAN 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

update concerning the progress to date to deliver the multi-agency Air Quality and 
Health Action Plan. 
 

Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. Air pollution has a significant impact on public health and wellbeing, and poor air 
quality is the largest environmental risk to the public’s health in the UK. 
 

3. Health effects from air pollution occur across the life course - from conception to 
older age. Conditions caused by air pollution not only cause deaths but also 
significantly reduce quality of life. They also mean people are less able to work and 
need more medical and social care support, resulting in higher social costs and 
greater burden on the Health and Care System. 

 
4. The Air Quality and Health Action Plan aims to improve air pollution across 

Leicestershire through joint working across organisational boundaries, with 
professionals and the public to improve air quality in the county and reduce the 
impact of air pollution on the environment and human health, contributing to the 
reduction in health inequalities. 

 
5. The Action Plan complements the work conducted through the County Council  

Environment Strategy to reduce carbon and other greenhouse gases and protect 
people from harm caused by the deteriorating condition of the environment. It also 
contributes to the LLR health inequalities framework as improving air pollution should 
reduce the number of people living in poor health due to respiratory and 
cardiovascular disease.  

 
Recommendations 
 
6.      The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 
a) Note the progress to date in delivering the Air Quality and Health Action 

Plan; 
 

b) Request that health partners within LLR further consider how their               
organisations can improve air quality. 

 

125 Agenda Item 12



 
 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
 
7. In July 2019 the Air Quality and Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment was 

presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board. It demonstrated the local need within 
Leicestershire, sharing the National Clean Air Strategy, that sets out the 
Government’s main plan to curb emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur dioxide, 
volatile oxide compounds, ammonia and particulate matter (PM2.5) emissions as 
required by the National Emissions Ceilings Directive and the Gothenburg Protocol 
underpinning it.   
 

8. In two-tier authority areas, such as Leicestershire, the duties placed on local 
government associated with air quality management are the responsibility of district 
authorities. This includes identification of air quality management areas (AQMAs), 
monitoring and reporting on air quality, producing, and delivering action plans, and 
assessing the impact of development on air quality through the planning process. 

 
9. However, there are obligations on both the county and district councils within Part IV 

of the Environment Act 1995 in relation to air quality. The Secretary of State expects 
lower and upper-tier councils to work together to develop their approach and, with 
respect to action plans, ensure that all necessary measures to address air pollution in 
their local area are included.  

 
10. It was subsequently agreed that a multi-agency partnership group be established to 

devise an action plan and deliver the priorities set out in the JSNA.  
 

Background 
 

11. Air pollution is the biggest environmental hazard in terms of mortality and there are 
16 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) in Leicestershire:  
 

 14 of these monitor Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2).   

 One AQMA monitors Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) and covers the Great Central 
Railway area and one AQMA monitors particulate matter (PM10) and covers 
the Mountsorrel Quarry area. 

 Melton Borough Council, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council and 
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council have currently no declared AQMAs. 
However, looking at preventable deaths attributable to PM2.5 Oadby and 
Wigston features as an area. AQMAs are not the only areas where people 
may suffer worse health outcomes due to air pollution. 

 
12. The majority of AQMAs appear to fall, roughly, along or around the central North / 

South spine of Leicestershire. It is estimated that over 0.6% (>4000) of the 
Leicestershire population live in an AQMA area. Background levels of PM are found 
to be higher in North West Leicestershire, Loughborough and Kegworth. Quarries 
and the airport considered as the cause. There are also higher levels of NO2, PM2.5 
& PM10 around the main road routes in the county; namely the M69, A42, A46, A6 
and the M1. 10% of Leicestershire’s working population is at risk from higher levels of 
air pollutants due to occupational exposure. 
 

126



 
 

13. Leicestershire was found to have significantly lower walking and cycling rates for 
travel in comparison to England rates.14. It is estimated that cases (per 100,000 
population) attributable to the pollutants PM2.5 and NO2 will increase by 2035 in 
Leicestershire if no action no additional action on air quality is taken.  

 
14. The vision for the air quality and health action plan is to improve air pollution in the 

county and reduce the impact of air pollution on the environment and human health, 
contributing to the reduction in health inequalities. 

 
15. The key aims of the action plan are to: 

 
a. Reduce the impact of poor air quality on the health of residents, workers and 

visitors, and the environment. 
b. Raise public awareness of air quality, its impact on health and personal protection 

measures to promote sustainable behaviour change. 
c. Increase our understanding of the state of air quality in Leicestershire and the 

impact of measures to improve air quality. 
d. Meet and exceed statutory obligations and national targets on air quality. 

 
Delivery of the Action Plan – Progress to Date 

16. Detailed progress against the action plan to date can be found in the appendix. A 
brief summary is included below. 

 
a. Active and sustainable travel: 

 
- Promotion of active travel to and from schools continues.  
- COVID 19 has created additional challenges to promoting public transport, but also 

created huge opportunities to develop walking and cycling infrastructure 
- Walking and Cycling Strategy for Leicestershire developed 

 
b. Planning and development strategies and proposals:  

 
- Strategic Planning Group and Planning Officers Forum have signed up to embed 

health including addressing air quality as part of the planning policy process 
- A pilot project in Blaby is underway to embed health through the planning system, 

with the Town and Country Planning Association supporting to evaluate the work  
- A healthy environment web portal has been created to support developers conduct 

health impact assessments on their developments. 
   

c. Information sharing and campaigns: 
 

- Initial engagement work has started through clean air day this year.   
 

Looking Forward  
 

17. Whilst significant progress has been made to date, there will now be further 
opportunities to progress the Action Plan via COVID recovery and the Government’s 
commitment to prevent further deaths due to air pollution. The Government is 
considering establishing new legal air pollution targets following the Coroners 
Prevention of Future Deaths Report.  
 

127



 
 

18. Further work is underway looking at emergency admissions for wheeze and asthma 
in children and young people and how that relates to air pollution levels across the 
County. It would be helpful to consider links between emergency admissions and air 
pollution for other vulnerable groups as the evidence shows they suffer more from 
the adverse impacts of poor air quality on their health. 

 
19. Locally, there is an opportunity for partners to work more closely, particularly those 

with the health service to consider the role they have in improving air quality. A 
framework exists based on hospitals, but the suggested actions are transferable to 
any organisation. They include minimising air pollution from staff and visitors travel, 
training staff, communicating with visitors, and working in partnership. A good 
example of this being UHL’s consideration of the Clean Air Hospital Framework.  
  

Background papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet – 20 October 2020 – Air Quality and Health Joint Action Plan 2020 - 
2024 http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=5998#AI64511 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board – 11 July 2019 – JSNA – Air Quality and Health 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MID=5741#AI60278 
 
Air Quality and Health JSNA 
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/jsna-air-quality-2019-v10-final.pdf?v=1561477116  
  
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 305 4239  
Email: Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Kelly Evans, Consultant in Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 305 7941 
Email: Kelly-Marie.Evans@leics.gov.uk  

Appendix 
 
Detailed summary of actions completed to date.  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
An Equality and Human Right Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening of the Action Plan 
was completed when the Plan was developed. It concluded that a full impact assessment 
was not required. 
 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
The multi-agency partnership has agreed a plan to deliver joint actions to address poor air 
quality and related health issues. 

128

http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MID=5741#AI60278
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/jsna-air-quality-2019-v10-final.pdf?v=1561477116
mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Kelly-Marie.Evans@leics.gov.uk


APPENDIX  - AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH ACTION PLAN 

JSNA 
objective 

Focus area Multiagency commitments  Partnership actions Update Lead(s) 

Consideration 
of air quality 
and health in 
planning and 
development 

Planning and 
development 
strategies 
and 
proposals 

- Consider the impact on air 
quality and health of all 
relevant organisational and 
cross Leicestershire 
strategies such as 
Transport plan 

- Integration of sustainability 
and health into local 
planning and design 
frameworks 

Resource to routinely deliver 
specialist public health support for 
strategic spatial planning, local 
area plan development and work 
on major developments will be 
formalised. 

Post recruited to.  
Need to formalise 
implementation of 
health in all polices 
approach 
SPG/POF signed 
up to embed health 
within the planning 
process 
Pilot in Blaby Local 
Plan (Development 
brief – whetstone 
pastures) 

Jenna 
Parton/Janna 
Walker 
 
 
Jenna 
Parton/Kelly 
Evans/Dave 
Stock 
 
Jenna/Paul 
Tebbitt 

- Develop a joined-up 
process to ensure all 
appropriate planning and 
development proposals 
that have an impact on air 
quality are rigorously and 
systematically scrutinised - 
using Health Impact 
Assessments for major 
developments, and using a 
Health in All Policies 
approach to influence 
wider policies and plans 

- Air quality issues will be 
considered as part of 
planning policy as well as 
policies that influence 
strategic and local 
development plans 

- A programme to support 
local planners to consider 
the health impacts of 
planning proposals and 
urban re-development will 
be scoped, designed, 
delivered and evaluated 

- Public Health to formalise 
its commitment to provide 
support to Planning and 
Highways Authorities 
within the planning process 

As above 
 
Need to work with 
local planners to 
understand the 
support they need 
to consider health 
impact assessment 
as part of any 
planning policy 
proposal – set of 
principles. 
 
Public Health to 
determine what 
support planning 
and highways 
authorities need via 

Jenna Parton 
 
Joe and Dave 
Stock 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Janna Walker 
Nic Thomas 
Kelly Evans 
Jenna Parton 
 

129



 POF 
 
Minerals and waste 
local plan –  
 
Hinckley rail hub 
interchange – 
green walls and 
green roofs 

 
 
Oliver Meek/ 
Nic Thomas 
 
 
Janna Walker 
 
James 
O’Brien 

Alignment of 
air quality and 
health with 
environment 
and transport 
decisions 

Active and 
Sustainable 
Travel 

- Prioritise investment in 
walking and cycling 
infrastructure to enable 
modal change, especially 
where this would 
encourage and facilitate 
active travel to schools 
(consider 20 mph zones) 
and workplaces in areas of 
high urban density 

- Optimisation of green 
spaces to reduce people’s 
exposure to poor air quality 
and encourage active and 
sustainable travel for air 
quality and health benefits 

- Opportunities to make the 
case for investment and 
obtain further funding for 
infrastructure that 
promotes the use of active 
travel and electric vehicles 
will be identified and 
optimised 

- Development of a Cycling 
and Walking Strategy for 
Leicestershire; which will 
set out LCC’s overarching 
strategy for cycling and 
walking in Leicestershire, 
in support of meeting 
targets set out in the 
Government’s Cycling and 
Walking Investment 
Strategy (CWIS) and 
LCC’s Environment 
Strategy 

- Planning and Highways 
Authorities should seek to 
consider a hierarchy of 
transport provision 

Park and cycle 
scheme set up to 
support County 
residents working 
in the City to split 
their journey, 
cycling the last leg 
from one of the 4 
sites into the City. 
E-bikes now at 
county hall 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tony Lenihan:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Janna Walker 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

130



prioritising walking and 
cycling where appropriate 

- Consider air quality 
alerting systems in areas 
with poorer air quality 

- Look at the Council own 
fleet vehicles including 
grey fleet vehicles 

- Consider increasing 
secure cycle parking  

- Promoting active travel to 
health staff and patients, 
where appropriate 

 
 
 
 
 
This has been 
reviewed 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
James 
O’Brien 
 
 
 
Mark Pierce? 

- Scale up activity to adopt 
sustainable and active 
travel solutions in 
Leicestershire.  

- Develop organisational 
travel plans, support staff 
to use sustainable forms of 
transport and promote 
active and sustainable 
travel by customers and 
the public. 

- A network of sustainable 
travel planners will be 
established. 

- Opportunities to promote 
active and sustainable 
travel of staff, customers 
and the public will be 
identified and optimised 

 

Work started with 
LRS 
 
Programmes in 
schools and some 
workplaces 

Tony Lenihan/ 
Jo Spokes 
 
Tom Chape 

General 
communicatio
n with the 
public and 
organisations 
about air 
quality and 
health, 

Information 
sharing, and 
behaviour 
change 
campaigns 

- Standardise 
communication with the 
public, professionals and 
other organisations on the 
short and long-term 
impacts on health of poor 
air quality 

- Alignment of public health 
messages across the 
partnership around air 
quality and active and 

- Provision of clear and 
consistent messages 
about air quality and health 
across a range of 
communication channels 

- Key messages on air 
quality and health will be 
included on existing 
(relevant) partner branded 
information sheets, 
websites and other 

Clear Air Day 
Campaign – photo 
competition to 
engage residents 
on what clean air 
means to them 
 
 
 
 
 

Jenna/James/
Comms/Mark
CCG/Districts  
 
 
 
All 
 
 
 
 

131



sustainable travel choices 
- Increase knowledge about 

the prevalence of multi fuel 
stoves across 
Leicestershire and 
negative impacts on air 
quality and health. 

mediums 
- A series of behaviour 

change campaigns to 
promote active and 
sustainable travel, anti-
idling, Clean Air Day and 
reduced multi fuel stove 
use will be scoped, 
designed, delivered and 
evaluated 

- Work with communities to 
understand the barriers to 
improving air quality in 
their areas. 

 
 
 
Anti-idling 
campaign 
completed every 
year outside 
schools 
 
 
 
 
 
Need to work with 
LACs 

 
 
Jenna/James/
Lisa/Comms 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jenna/Simon 
Dalby 

Targeted 
communicatio
n and 
campaigns 
with priority, 
groups and 
key 
organisations 
about air 
quality and 
health 

- Empower local people and 
businesses to take action 
to reduce their emissions. 

- Clearer methods for 
engaging regularly with the 
public or organisations 

 

- Information about air 
quality and health will be 
shared with residents, local 
businesses, health 
organisations, local early 
year’s settings, schools’ 
colleges and universities in 
a variety of formats, as 
appropriate to the 
audience. This will explain 
how people and 
organisations can minimise 
emissions of pollutants and 
exposure to poor air quality 

- A programme to support 
front line staff to deliver 
messages around air 
quality and health (as part 
of their daily roles) will be 
scoped, designed, 

Work underway 
following clean air 
day campaign 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Link with the MECC 
plus 

Jenna 
Parton/James 
O’Brien/Liz 
Watkins/ 
Districts/Mark 
Pierce 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jenna 
Parton/Hollie 
Hutchinson/M
ark Pierce 

132



delivered and evaluated. 

Links with 
Health 

 Improve health outcomes in areas 
with greater air pollution  

- Analyse ED data for viral 
wheeze and asthma- 
compare with AQ data and 
make recommendations to 
address 

- Embed Clean Air Hospital 
Framework 

- Present the role of the 
NHS in reducing air 
pollution to LLR Prevention 
Board 

 Karen Earp/ 
Kelly/Abdel 
and Damian 
Roland 
 
Kelly/Jenna/M
ark Wightman 
and Mark 
Pierce – links 
to LPT 

 

133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8th JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PARTNERSHIP 

PLAN: PROGRESS UPDATE 
 

Purpose of the report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Board a progress update on the 
Children and Families Partnership Plan 2021-23. 
  

Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is aligned to the Leicestershire County 
Council Strategic Plan and focuses on the added value of approaching strategic 
priorities across the partnership to ensure consistent communication and service 
delivery to children and families. 

 
Recommendation 
 

3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note the progress in delivery of 
the Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018-2021. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
4. In November 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Terms of 

Reference for a Children and Families Partnership to replace the Supporting 
Leicestershire Families Executive as a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
The expanded remit included oversight of how the priorities for children and families 
as set out in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, are delivered.  

 
5. In May 2018, the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Children and Families 

Partnership Plan for 2018 – 21 and requested that it received regular progress 
updates. 

 
6. In November 2020 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the updated Terms of 

Reference for a Children and Families Partnership, required to reflect the decision to 
strategically align the Leicestershire Education Excellence Partnership, SEND and 
Inclusion Board, Youth and Justice Partnership Board and the Early Help Partnership 
to the Children and Families Partnership. 

 
7. In November 2020 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the refreshed 

Partnership Plan for 2021 - 23. The Partnership agreed that the current five priority 
areas and key actions were still relevant, and the focus of actions should remain on 
identifying where improved partnership working would add value.  

 

 

135 Agenda Item 13



 
 

 
Background 
 

8. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is a strategic document which sets out 
the shared vision for children, young people and their families and the priority 
outcomes that need to be improved. The Plan is not intended to be a detailed 
description of the individual work of each partner, but rather a summary of key areas 
of work that are best delivered together to have the biggest impact on the lives of 
children and young people. 

 
9. The Partnership have adopted the five supporting outcomes of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy relating to children and young people as the priority areas 
for the Plan. The five priorities are: 
 

i. Ensure the best start in life 
ii. Keep children safe and free from harm  
iii. Support children and families to be resilient  
iv. Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support  
v. Enable children to have good physical and mental health  

 
Progress to date 

 
10. Priority leads have continued to work with partners and other key stakeholders to 

deliver the current action plans. It is important to note that the pace of delivery and 
progress of actions has been affected by Covid-19 due to resources being re-
focussed on responding to the pandemic. Key progress includes: 

 
Priority 1 - Ensure the best start in life 
 

 Work is being undertaken to help understand the impact of the pandemic on school 
readiness. Plans are in place for a communications campaign to share key messages 
around the importance of accessing preschool places and getting school ready. 
 

 Workshops were delivered to council, health and midwifery staff to promote a greater 
understanding of the 1001 critical days agenda. 170 people attended across the 5 
sessions. Further workshops are planned in the summer. 

 

 A universal offer has been developed to support children identified as at risk of delay 
through the 2 year health check.  

 

 The model for virtual meetings enabling providers to receive professional advice to 
support vulnerable children is now well embedded. Providers and professionals have 
welcomed the virtual appointment system and feel that children have been better 
supported as part of the graduated approach. 

 
 

Priority 2 - Keep children safe and free from harm 
 

 The Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) Vulnerability Ops Group continues to meet and 
is making good progress against its Partnership delivery plan.  
 

136



 
 

 Work has taken place across the Partnership to embed the role of the CSE Nurse 
and it is hoped that this will open up access to information for other organisations. 

 

 Activity has taken place to produce a communications and training plan around 
broadening the approach to Operation Encompass. It is the intention that a pilot will 
take place in a specific area of the county before it is rolled out. 

 

 A week of county lines intensification activity has taken place. Locally, this resulted in 
33 search warrants and activity centred around Leicester train station which led to 37 
arrests and the seizure of Class A drugs and firearms. 27 vulnerable children and 
adults have been safeguarded as a result of the activity and visits to other vulnerable 
people have taken place.  

 

 The Violence Reduction Network has visited a number of schools to talk about the 
dangers of county lines and how to report any concerns. 

 
 
Priority 3 - Support children and families to be resilient 
 

 

 The areas for action under this priority have been reviewed with a focus now on early 
help. The Early Help Partnership have identified shared priorities for action and leads 
have been identified to progress work against five workstreams: 

 
i. To review Early Help Partnership governance and leadership 
ii. To develop early help data sets 
iii. To develop shared systems and process for early help 
iv. To develop the early help workforce 
v. To engage communities in early help 
 

 A shared vision, Terms of Reference and governance model have been agreed by 
the Early Help Partnership and approved by the Children and Families Partnership. 
 

 An Early Help Partnership data group has been set up to scope the data available 
across the partnership and identify any barriers and opportunities for developing 
Early Help data sets. The group will now be extended to include City and Rutland 
representatives as many agencies work across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
(LLR). 

 

 Consultation was undertaken with schools on the efficacy of current early help 
systems and possible improvements. Following feedback from schools, a pilot is 
being run with Hinckley schools to enable them to phone a dedicated line to discuss 
possible referrals into the Council’s Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) 
before completing a multi-agency referral form (MARF). There has been a positive 
response from schools who have taken part in the pilot so far. 

 

 Workstream leads met with the LLR Safeguarding Children Partnership Voluntary 
and Community Sector Reference Group to discuss effective means of engaging the 
voluntary and community sector in Early Help and ensuring they are enabled to 
participate and able to influence developments. 

 

137



 
 

Priority 4 - Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support 
 

 Recruitment to the new Assessment and Resource Team (ART), providing 
wraparound therapeutic services to support step-downs from residential care, has 
been successful. Regular panels now take place to consider referrals, chaired by 
the Head of Service for Children in Care. The team are now working with a number 
of children and offering consultation sessions to social workers for other children.   
 

 A meeting has taken place with district housing leads and Children’s Social Care 
(CSC) to start a piece of work to review the Joint Housing and Social Care protocol 
for 16 -17 year olds at risk of homelessness. CSC are undertaking an audit of cases 
where the protocol has been applied to consider the impact for young people and 
this will inform any updates required. Work will be completed by September 2021.  

 

 Work is on-going to agree a protocol for the extension of the CAMHS offer to care 
leavers until they are 25. The protocol is part of the Strategic LAC action plan and is 
an outcome of the two health summits that have taken place over the last year. It is 
recognised that this is an aspiration of both health and children’s social care 
however, there are no defined timescales or specific actions currently against this 
outcome. CAMHS representative and Adult services have now been invited to join 
the strategic health meeting to provide oversight and move this action forward. 
 

 Substantial work is underway to review pathway to adulthood through the Council’s 
Defining Children’s Services for the Future transformation project. The data 
gathering stage identified the potential for more focussed planning for adulthood 
during the teenage years.  Activity to address this includes coaching and mentoring 
for staff on independence focussed plans and ‘enabling’ outcomes written in a 
SMART format, with change measured in a way that recognises the significance of 
small steps.   

 
Priority 5 - Enable children to have good physical and mental health 
 

 The areas for action under this priority have been reviewed and action plans are 
being developed to progress work against the following: 

 
i. To develop a programme of work to implement Trauma Informed Practice 

aligning to the LLR Trauma Aware workstream 
ii. To understand why breastfeeding initiation across Leicestershire are lower 

than national average 
iii. To reduce A and E attendances for 0-18s across the County 
iv. To reduce food poverty (including holiday hunger) through further 

development of the Leicestershire Food Plan. 
v. To reduce maternal and child obesity 
vi. To improve perinatal mental health 
vii. To reduce/stop smoking in early pregnancy 

 

  A Trauma Informed Practice launch event was held with schools with 140 
delegates attending. 

  

 The Council, working with Leicestershire and Rutland Sport and other partners are 
co-ordinating the delivery of DfE funded Holiday Activities and Food Programme 

138



 
 

across Leicestershire to target children at risk of holiday hunger and social 
exclusion. The Easter programme was delivered via a grant round to schools and 
668 children accessed provision across 30 schools.   

 
Youth Voice 
 

 County Youth Council Leicestershire (CYCLe) members have continued to virtually 
participate in activity including the British Youth Council’s meeting with government 
officers on COVID messaging, the Big Conversation on poverty and the Making a 
Bigger Mark conference.  They have also taken part in interview panel training with 
the council, Stop and Search awareness training with the police and have provided 
advice and feedback for surveys by the council and the police.  
 

 LCC participation officers also co-ordinated Leicestershire’s online Make Your Mark 
ballot activity in December 2020 and have supported the 3 elected Members of 
Youth Parliament (MYPs) members to progress their campaign activity on 
improving cancer care for young people, the environment and poverty. The MYPs 
have been supported to discuss their campaign ideas and share their views with 
members of parliament, local councillors and senior managers from the Council and 
organisations including Health and attended Children and Families Partnership 
meetings in January and July 2021. 
 

Integrated Care Systems – Children’s Design Group 
 

 It has been agreed that the Children’s Design Group will provide regular progress 
reports to the Partnership. Discussion has taken place on linking the Design 
Group’s pathway plan into priority 5 of the Children and Families Partnership Plan, 
specifically in relation to Leicestershire activity.  

 
Holiday Activities and Food Programme 2021  
 

 As a response to concerns over “holiday hunger”, the Department for Education 
(DfE) have awarded funding to each local authority to oversee the delivery of a 
Holiday Activities and Food holiday clubs targeting children eligible for free school 
meals. The aim is that the children who attend the provision will be supported to: 

i. eat more healthily over the school holidays, 
ii. be more active during the school holidays, 
iii. take part in engaging and enriching activities, 
iv. be safe and not to be socially isolated, 
v. have greater knowledge of health and nutrition, 
vi. be more engaged with school and other local services.  

 

 Leicestershire County Council, working with LeicesterShire and Rutland Sport and 
other partners, are co-ordinating the delivery of the programme during the Easter, 
summer and Christmas holidays. Leicestershire schools, Voluntary and Community 
Sector organisations and out of school providers are able to apply to deliver the 
holiday clubs. Holiday club provision was offered at 30 schools across the county 
over Easter and planning for provision for the summer holiday is underway.  

 
 
 
 

139



 
 

Future Developments 
 

11.  Work over the next six months will include: 
 

 The launch of the refreshed Partnership Plan for 2021-23, 
 

 On-going communications campaign to promote the benefits of early years provision 
for all children but especially those who are more vulnerable,  

 

 Multi-agency task group to explore what additional support may be needed for 
children who have missed out on health assessments due to Covid-19 pandemic,  

 

 LLR task group to consider the development of a shared early help assessment 
which could be used by all partners, 

 

 Developing an action plan around trauma informed practice, including a resources list 
for schools. A tender bid is being produced for an organisation to lead the strategy on 
how trauma informed practice could be embedded across LLR, 

 

 Co-ordination and delivery of the DfE funded Holiday Activities and Food Programme 
over the summer and Christmas school holidays to target children eligible for free 
school meals. 

 
Background papers 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board – 26 November 2019 – Leicestershire Children 
and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 2021: Progress Update 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=6109&Ver=4 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services  
Tel: 0116 305 2649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mala Razak 
Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 8055 
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk  
  
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

12. The Partnership has an interest in ensuring that there are effective arrangements in 
place so that the services provided meet the identified needs of local people. An EHIRA 
assessment has been carried out in relation to the impacts of the Plan. 
 

140

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=6109&Ver=4
mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:mala.razak@leics.gov.uk


 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND DIRECTOR OF 
CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 
DOMESTIC ABUSE ACT 2021 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

overview of the work being undertaken locally as a result of the recently introduced 
Domestic Abuse (DA) Act 2021.The report also provides an update concerning the 
Recommissioning of Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse Services across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 

Recommendation 
 

2. It is recommended that the Board: 
 

a) Notes the work being undertaken by partners in response to the recently 
introduced Domestic Abuse Act 2021, including the development of a Strategic 
Needs Assessment to assess the need for accommodation based domestic 
abuse support across Leicestershire; 
 

b) Notes the update concerning the recommissioning of Domestic and Sexual 
Violence and Abuse Service across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3.  The new model for the provision of domestic and sexual violence and abuse services 

was approved by Cabinet on 23rd March 2021.  
 

Background 
 

4.    The Domestic Abuse Bill passed both Houses of Parliament and was signed into law 
on 29 April 2021. The Act is now law and will begin to be implemented across 
criminal justice systems and agencies later this year. 
 

5.    The Domestic Abuse Act is set to provide further protections to the millions of people 
who experience domestic abuse, as well as strengthen measures to tackle 
perpetrators. 

 
6. Putting the definition and the accompanying guidance on a statutory footing, while 

also recognising the impact of domestic abuse on children, will ensure that domestic 
abuse is properly understood and that in seeking to tackle this abhorrent crime and 

141 Agenda Item 14



 
 

provide support services to survivors and their children, all public agencies and 
others are applying a common definition. 

 
The definition of DA  

 
7. The Act creates a cross-government statutory definition of domestic abuse, to ensure 

that domestic abuse is properly understood, considered unacceptable and actively 
challenged across statutory agencies and in public attitudes; different types of 
relationships are captured, including ex-partners and family members.  
 

8. Broad categories are listed which capture a range of different abusive behaviours, 
including physical, emotional abuse and economic abuse. 

 
9. The Act also recognises that domestic abuse can impact on a child who sees or 

hears, or experiences the effects of the abuse and it treats such children as victims of 
domestic abuse in their own right where they are related to either the abuser or the 
abused, rather than as a witness. 

 
10. New guidance on the definition will be issued which will also recognise that the 

majority of victims of abuse are female. 
 

The Act will: 

 Establish the independent office of Domestic Abuse Commissioner and set out the 
Commissioner’s functions and powers to provide public leadership on domestic 
abuse issues and play a key role in overseeing and monitoring the provision of 
domestic abuse services.   

 Provide for a new civil Domestic Abuse Protection Notice to provide immediate 
protection following a domestic abuse incident, and a Domestic Abuse Protection 
Order (DAPO) to provide flexible, longer-term protection for victims. A DAPN would 
be issued by the police and could, for example, require a perpetrator to leave the 
victim’s home for up to 48 hours; breach of a DAPO will be a criminal offence, 
carrying a maximum penalty of up to five years’ imprisonment, or a fine, or both.  
These will be tested in a small number of areas before national roll out.  

 Prohibit perpetrators of abuse from cross-examining their victims in person in the 
civil and family courts in England and Wales. 

 Extend the controlling or coercive behaviour offence to cover post-separation abuse. 

 Extend the offence of disclosing private sexual photographs and films with intent to 
cause distress (known as the “revenge porn” offence) to cover threats to disclose 
such material. 

 Create a new offence of non-fatal strangulation or suffocation of another person. 

 Provide for a statutory domestic abuse perpetrator strategy.  This will be published 
next year. 

 Enable domestic abuse offenders to be subject to polygraph testing as a condition of 
their licence following their release from custody. 

 Place the guidance supporting the Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (“Clare’s 
law”) on a statutory footing. This enables the police to disclose information to a 
victim or potential victim of domestic abuse about their partner’s or ex-partner’s 

142



 
 

previous abusive or violent offending.  Work is underway across LLR to look at how 
this will be implemented. 

 Provide that all eligible homeless victims of domestic abuse automatically have 
‘priority need’ for homelessness assistance. 

 Prohibit GPs and other health professionals in general practice from charging a 
victim of domestic abuse for a letter to support an application for legal aid. 

 
Key issues for partnership working or affecting partners 

 
11. The Act also places a duty on tier one local authorities to provide accommodation 

based support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in refuges and other 
safe accommodation and provides clarity over governance and accountability, 
requiring tier two councils (district/borough councils), to co-operate with the lead local 
authority. 
 

12. A multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board must be appointed; across 
LLR there is already a strategic DASV Operations Group which will fulfil this function.  
Membership will be extended to comply with the new duty.  

 
13. A Strategic Needs Assessment must be undertaken to assess the need for 

accommodation-based domestic abuse support across Leicestershire for all victims.  
This work has commenced, data is currently being collated from numerous agencies 
and a call has been put out to victims and survivors of DA to make contact and tell us 
about their experiences. It is imperative that as data and information is requested, it 
is released swiftly. The national DA charity SafeLives will work with partners to 
evaluate the findings in July. 

 
14. The Needs Assessment will inform the development of a strategy for the provision of 

support to cover Leicestershire and inform commissioning / de-commissioning 
decisions. 

 
15. Funding has been allocated by the Ministry of Housing and Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) to support all of this work; Leicestershire County Council has 
received £1,127, 205 whilst each District/Borough has received approx. £33, 000. 

 
Issues in local areas 
 
16. A County DA Act and Funding Group has been convened to support the response to 

the DA Act across Leicestershire, membership includes all districts/boroughs, 
Leicestershire County Council (Children and Family Service, Adult Social Care and 
Public Health) and Police for the “closed” part of the meeting and DA service 
providers join for the “open” session. 
 

17. The Group has identified that therapeutic support for victims and survivors of DA, 
support for children and dispersed housing are all gaps in service that should be 
progressed whilst waiting for the Needs Assessment to be published.  Funding for 
therapy and children’s support has been sought, unsuccessfully, for several years. 

 
18. Furthermore, the Group has identified the need for DA Accommodation Support 

Officers at the district/borough to co-ordinate and support victims who need safe 
accommodation. The proposal is to have job descriptions with the same, minimum 

143



 
 

requirements across the County, with each locality adding other duties as required.  
Some districts/boroughs may pool funding depending on demand and resource 
requirement.   
 

Recommissioning of Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse Services 
 

19. Current contracts for domestic and sexual violence and abuse services across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland end on 31st March 2022. The service is 
currently provided by a consortium of three organisations (Living Without Abuse, 
Free from Violence and Abuse, and Women’s Aid Leicestershire Ltd) known as 
UAVA (United Against Violence and Abuse). In addition, Leicestershire County 
Council commission Women’s Aid Leicestershire Ltd to provide safe refuge 
accommodation. 
 

20. Towards the end of 2019 a series of stakeholder workshops and a public consultation 
took place that informed the model for future services that are currently being jointly 
commissioned by Leicestershire County Council, Leicester City Council, Rutland 
County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC).  

 
21. The new model will include an LLR Helpline and Engagement Service; a Domestic 

Abuse (DA) Locality Service for county and Rutland , and a DA Locality Service for 
city; a LLR Sexual Violence Service; an Accommodation Related Support Service for 
county, and an Accommodation Related Support Service for city. In addition, the 
PCC and City are commissioning a Perpetrator Interventions Service. 

 
22. Procurement is currently underway and tenders close mid-July with contract award 

expected end Oct and new services in place and operational on 1st April 2022.     
 
Resource Implications 
 
23. The County Council’s DA Act funding allocation of £1,127, 205 is held in the Children 

and Family Directorate; the Community Safety Manager is working closely with the 
Commissioning Manger in Public Health on the forward plan and commissioning of 
services. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title: Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 3054239  
Email: Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk 

 

Name and Job Title: Joshna Mavji, Consultant in Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 3050113  
Email: Joshna.Mavji@leics.gov.uk  

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
The Strategic Needs Assessment will consider the equality and human rights implications 
of the services provided to vulnerable victims of DA. 

144

mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Joshna.Mavji@leics.gov.uk


 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
AND LEICESTERSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS TRUST 

 
TRANSFORMING CARE FOR THOSE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES 

AND/OR AUTISM 
 

Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Health and Wellbeing Board an update 
concerning the current activity and progress of the LLR Transforming Care Design 
Group in achieving the ambitions of the National Transforming Care Programme 
(TCP) of Change, which includes the Learning from Deaths of people with Learning 
Disability (LD) Review Programme (LeDeR) Annual Report and the System 3 year 
plan to improve outcomes for service users with a learning disability and/or autism. 

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. This work links to a number of national strategies and local improvements. 

Transforming Care is a national programme of work launched in 2012 following the 
report into the failings at Winterbourne View hospital.  
 

3. This work also links into LLR joint system plans and has been a focus of 
improvement over the last 12 months. 

 
Recommendation 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 

 
a) Note the Learning from Deaths of people with Learning Disability (LD) review 

programme Annual Report and support the work being undertaken to promote 
good health and wellbeing for service users with a learning disability and 
improve service design and delivery;  

 
b) Note the Transforming Care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 3 year 

road map which seeks to improve outcomes for the LLR population with a 
learning disability and/or autism and aid service development. 

 
Background 
 
5. In May 2011, Panorama broadcast an undercover exposé concerning Winterbourne 

View, a private hospital in Bristol that provided assessment and treatment for adults 
with learning disabilities and challenging behaviour.  Winterbourne View was owned 
and operated by Castlebeck Care (Teesdale) Limited.  Castlebeck also ran a number 
of other hospitals around the UK providing care to some of the most vulnerable 
people in society.  The programme showed the residents being physically assaulted 

145 Agenda Item 15



 
 

and humiliated by members of staff at the hospital.  The programme also alleged that 
records were being falsified, there was deprivation of liberty, excessive use of 
physical restraint, a poor quality of life for the claimants and breaches of their human 
rights.  In 2012, 11 members of staff were convicted of over 40 offences between 
them. 

 
6. In light of the publicity surrounding the actions of the CQC in relation to its role in 

investigating allegations of abuse at Winterbourne View, the CQC reviewed its 
inspection programme and changed the way it responded to whistle blowers and 
allegations of abuse. 

 
7. Following the revelations around Winterbourne View, the Government introduced a 

“Transforming Care” programme which was intended to prevent further abuse on the 
level of that found at Winterbourne. 

 
8. The LLR vision is that “All people with a learning disability and/or autism will have the 

fundamental right to live good fulfilling lives, within their communities with access to 
the right support from the right people at the right time.” 

 
9. The primary purpose of the Learning from Deaths of people with Learning Disability 

(LD) review programme (LeDeR) is to review the care each person has received 
leading up to their death and make recommendations that could help improve the 
care for other people and reduce premature deaths. Recommendations from each 
review are intended to highlight best practice and thereby support health and social 
care professionals and policy makers to implement positive change for people to 
have better experience of their care. 

 
LeDeR Annual Report 
 
10. The Annual Report, which is appended to the Report as Appendix A, was published 

on July 1 and is also available in easy read format.   
 

11. The core principles and values of the LeDeR programme are as follows: 
 

(a) The programme overall must effect change and make an identifiable difference 
to the lives of people with learning disabilities and their families. 

 
(b) We value the on-going contribution of people with learning disabilities and their 

families to all aspects of our work and see this as central to the development 
and delivery of everything we do. 

 
(c) We take a holistic approach, looking at the circumstances leading to deaths of 

people with learning disabilities and don’t prioritise any one source of 
information over any other. 

 
(d) The key principles of communication, cooperation and independence will be 

upheld when working alongside other investigation or review processes. 
 
(e) The programme overall strives to ensure that reviews of deaths lead to 

reflective learning which will result in improved health and social care service 
delivery. 

 

146



 
 

12. The report highlights that partners can make big differences to the care of people if 
the following 11 points below are adhered to: 

 
1. Listen to people with Learning Disabilities and their families and carers; 

 
2. Ensure everyone is fully up to date with training; 

 
3. Everyone having a clear understanding of the difference between Learning 

Disability and learning difficulties ; 
 

4. Carry out Mental Capacity Assessments in every relevant case; 
 

5. Ensure patient records are fully accurate and changes are recorded correctly; 
 

6. Communicate more effectively, in particular: 
 

• with people with LD 
• across providers about Care Plans 
• discharge planning 
• advocacy 
• decision making 
• end of life 
• DNACPR 

 
7. Make no assumptions, particularly about LD being related to cause of death; 

 
8. Check procedures to ensure nothing is missed in any process; 

 
9. Ensure Annual Health checks are provided for every eligible person; 

 
10. Support people to attend appointments, especially for Annual Health checks 

and screening programmes; 
 

11. Ensure the correct versions of documents are used and completed accurately, 
including death certificates. 

 
13. Partners have improved service outcomes across LLR in the last 12 months, moving 

from the 44th of 48 systems in the country to 27th of 48 systems. We have reduced 
the number of people in hospital, we have completed timely reviews when people 
have died and we have met the national target for providing health checks to people 
with a Learning Disability, something which had not been achieved across LLR 
previously .  

 
3 Year Roadmap 
 
14. The 3 Year Roadmap, attached as Appendix B to the report, outlines what ‘good’ will 

look like for people with learning disability (LD) and autism who use community and 
inpatient services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The Roadmap will 
focus on addressing health inequalities for people living with a learning disability 
and/or autism. 
 
 

147



 
 

15. Key Priorities and Pathways for Year 1 
 

 Increased focus on co-production with people with LD and Autism. 
 

 Admission avoidance for CYP and Adults. 
 

 Integrated team working – development of TCP Hub – joint working across LLR. 
 

 Continue to improve Annual Health Checks (AHC) completion rates – look to 
developing ASD AHCs. 

 

 Provide community and inpatient support for people with Autism without LD. 
 

 Learn from LeDeR – make service changes. 
 

 Provide better support for our forensic cohort. 
 
16. How Things Will look  
 

(a) In year 1: 
 

 Integrated working; 

 New processes and protocols embedded; 

 Learning from LeDeR; 

 Dedicated Support Pathways; 

 Reduced number of admissions; 

 New Teams; and 

 New models of care for individuals with ASD, LD and Forensic needs.  
 

(b) In year 2: 
 

 Timely discharges; 

 Reduced reliance on inpatient care; 

 Alternatives to admission; 

 Early intervention to support wellbeing; 

 Highly capable workforce.  
 

(c) In year 3: 
 

 Person centred and proactive intervention approaches; 

 Designated key workers for CYP; 

 Co-ordinated health and care support; 

 Long term plans in place and achieved.  
 
17. The Annual Reports and 3 year plan have been circulated to all TCP governance 

groups and will be used to inform future service development and improvement by 
LLR organisations and Participants Groups involved in the TCP programme  

  
 
 

148



 
 

 
Patient and Public Involvement 
 
18. Service users and their families have been engaged and supported the development 

of this work and will continue to be so through the duration of the programme. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
19. Partners now have a unique opportunity with additional NHS England funding, good 

system working to continue to build on better outcomes for our population. 
 
20. The final funding allocation for LLR Learning Disability and Autism (LDA) Programme 

under the NHSE/I System Development Fund is outlined below.  All of this is 
committed through the new LLR LDA 3-year road map developed with all key 
stakeholders in April 2021 and approved by NHSE/I in June. 

 

Funding Line Allocation Methodology Amount (£) 

SDF - Community System Fair Shares £487,000 

SDF - LeDeR (Mortality Reviews) System Fair Shares £39,000 

SDF- Care and Treatment Review System Fair Shares £33,000 

Total SDF Funding 2021/22 £559,000 

 
21. The Government published a COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action 

plan in March this year, with £31m allocated to support specific challenges faced by 
individuals with a learning disability and autistic people.  LLR has been allocated 
£150,000 under the Spending Review funding for 3 specific service areas, as listed 
below. 

 

Funding Line Allocation 
Methodology 

Amount (£) 

SR – Autism Diagnostic Waiting 
Times  

System Fair Shares  £68,000  

SR – Champion in ICS  System Fair Shares  £24,000  

SR – Community Respite Care (CYP)  System Fair Shares  £58,000  

Total SR Funding 2021/22  £150,000  

 
22. Proposals for the spending of these 3 pots are being developed by the TCP 

Collaborative and will be submitted to NHSE/I by 30 June. There is also an 
opportunity to bid for additional funding through an Expression of Interest process. 
LLR has put a bid in for £100,000 under the Accelerating Autism Diagnostic Pathway 
(Children and Young People) and a bid for £152,990 under the Piloting Autism 
Diagnostic Pathway (Adults), we are awaiting the outcome from the NHSE/I regional 
team.  
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A Learning from Deaths of people with Learning Disability (LD) Review 

Programme (LeDeR) Annual Report 
 
Appendix B  Summary of the 3 year road map. 
 

149



 
 

Appendix C – Transforming Care in LLR – Annual Report 
 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson – Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email: Jon.Wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Heather Pick – Assistant Director  
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305  
Email: heather.pick@leics.gov.uk 
 
David Williams – Director of Strategy & Business Development 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 
Email David.williams@leicspart.nhs.uk  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
23. This work is important to addressing health inequalities and supporting the residents 

of Leicestershire to live a long and fulfilling life 
 

150

mailto:Jon.Wilson@leics.gov.uk
mailto:heather.pick@leics.gov.uk
mailto:David.williams@leicspart.nhs.uk


Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland LeDeR Annual Report 
June 2021 
This report covers the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 

  

 
 

 
 

151

mhand_2
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX A



 
2 

 

Contents 
 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................... 3 

Good practice checklist .................................................................................................. 4 

Acknowledgements ........................................................................................................ 5 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Statement of Purpose .................................................................................................... 7 

Local Progress .................................................................................................................... 7 

Equality Impact & Demographic Data .............................................................................. 10 

McGowan Report Recommendations .............................................................................. 12 

Cause of Death ................................................................................................................ 13 

COVID-19 ..................................................................................................................... 13 

Quality of Care ................................................................................................................. 15 

Action from Learning ....................................................................................................... 16 

Performance .................................................................................................................... 19 

Future Plans .................................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix I ....................................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix II ...................................................................................................................... 23 

 

 
  

152



 
3 

 

Executive Summary 

The primary purpose of the Learning from Deaths of people with learning disability review 
programme (LeDeR) is to review the care each person has received leading up to their death 
and make recommendations that could help improve the care for other people and reduce 
premature deaths.  Recommendations from each review are intended to highlight best 
practice and thereby support health and social care professionals and policy makers to 
implement positive change for people to have better experience of their care.  

The core principles and values of the LeDeR programme are as follows: 

• The programme overall must effect change and make an identifiable difference to 
the lives of people with learning disabilities and their families. 

• We value the on-going contribution of people with learning disabilities and their 
families to all aspects of our work and see this as central to the development and 
delivery of everything we do. 

• We take a holistic approach, looking at the circumstances leading to deaths of 
people with learning disabilities and don’t prioritise any one source of information 
over any other. 

• The key principles of communication, cooperation and independence will be upheld 
when working alongside other investigation or review processes. 

• The programme overall strives to ensure that reviews of deaths lead to reflective 
learning which will result in improved health and social care service delivery. 

This is why the LeDeR programme is so important. It represents a real opportunity to 
improve the lives of people with learning disabilities. Implementation in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland has been difficult, but much progress has been made; we are 
now in a position to make evidence-based recommendations as to how the quality of health 
and social care services for people with learning disabilities can be improved.  

There are two sets of people that deserve special recognition.  

• Our LeDeR reviewers. Without their expertise, experience and passion we would not 
be where we are.  

• The families, friends, carers and health and social care professionals who have 
provided critical contributions to each LeDeR review. Their support has been 
invaluable.  

We must not rest upon the contents of this report. Instead all partners across the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland health and social care sector must embrace the initial findings of 
this report, everyone has a role to play. Only then will we ensure that every person with a 
learning disability receives the high quality of care that they deserve. Only then will we 
address health inequality.  

Caroline Trevithick, Chief Nurse & Executive Director, West Leicestershire CCG  

Heather Pick, Assistant Director (Adults & Communities), Leicestershire County Council and 
former Assistant Director Peter Davis. 

David Williams, Director of Strategy and Business Development, Leicestershire Partnership 
NHS Trust 

153



 
4 

 

Good practice checklist 

We can make a real difference to people in the following ways;  
Listen to people with Learning Disabilities and their families and carers 

✓ 

Ensure everyone is fully up to date with training 
✓ 

Everyone having a clear understanding of the difference between Learning 
Disability and learning difficulties ✓ 

Carry out Mental Capacity Assessments in every relevant case 
✓ 

Ensure patient records are fully accurate and changes are recorded 
correctly ✓ 

Communicate more effectively, in particular 

• with people with LD 

• across providers about Care Plans 

• discharge planning 

• advocacy 

• decision making 

• end of life 

• DNACPR 

✓ 

Make no assumptions, particularly about LD being related to cause of death 
✓ 

Check procedures to ensure nothing is missed in any process 
✓ 

Ensure Annual Healthchecks are provided for every eligible person 
✓ 

Support people to attend appointments, especially for Annual Healthchecks 
and screening programmes ✓ 

Ensure the correct versions of documents are used and completed 
accurately, including death certificates ✓ 

 

  

154



 
5 

 

Acknowledgements  

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Groups would like to 
acknowledge the support provided to the LeDeR programme by the following organisations, 
groups and individuals: 

NHS England and Improvement National Team (NHSE/I) 

NHS England and Improvement Regional Team 

All our Reviewers and Clinical Leads 

All family members’ contributions 

Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

North East Commissioning Support (NECS) 

University Hospitals of Leicester 

Primary Care 

Insight Training and Consultancy 

Leicester City Council 

Leicestershire County Council 

Rutland County Council 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

155



 
6 

 

Introduction 

This is the second Annual Report for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Learning 
from Deaths Review Programme and describes progress from the previous year’s report.  

The aims of the LeDeR programme are:  

• To support improvements in the quality of health and social care service delivery for 
people with learning disabilities  

• To help reduce premature mortality and health inequalities for people with learning 
disabilities  

The programme is funded by NHS England with responsibility devolved to Clinical 
Commissioning Groups. However the programme is delivered through local partnerships 
across health and social care organisations in LLR.  

The LeDeR process is summarised below:  

• Anyone with a diagnosed learning disability who has died over the age of 4 years old 
since October 1st 2017 can and should be referred to the programme. The more 
people who are referred the stronger an evidence base for change can be 
developed.  

• Each LeDeR referral is allocated to a local LeDeR reviewer. In LLR these are trained 
health and social care professionals experienced in working with people with 
learning disabilities. As much as possible LeDeR reviewers are not asked to review 
care for individuals where their ‘home’ organisation was a substantial part of service 
delivery. This is not always possible. However, the LeDeR Steering Group is assured 
that where this is the case, reviewers are impartial in their consideration.  

• The purpose of the ‘Initial Review’ is to identify key learnings and recommendations 
to improve local health and social care services. To do this the LeDeR reviewer will 
consider relevant case records and speak to family, friends and carers to form a ‘pen 
portrait’ of the individual and a coherent narrative of their care in the lead up to 
their death.  

• Where there were significant concerns about the person’s health and social care 
service delivery further information can be gathered through a Multi-Agency Review 
(MAR).  

• Before each Initial Review is approved it undergoes a quality assurance process. LLR 
has set high standards that every review must meet.  

• Learnings and recommendations from every completed LeDeR review is fed into 
national and local ‘Learning into Action’.  

• Deaths for children with a learning disability are reviewed as part of the Child Death 
Overview Panel (CDOP) process. In LLR this is achieved through ‘themed’ panels 
where the exclusive focus is on learning disability deaths. The learnings and 
recommendations are then fed into LLR LeDeR Programme and implementation of 
‘Learning into Action’.  

 

 

156



 
7 

 

Statement of Purpose 

The LLR Learning Disability and Autism Partnership is committed to the ongoing delivery of 
the LeDeR Programme. This means:  

• That LeDeR reviews are allocated and completed to a high standard within the 
stipulated programme timescales.  

• That identified learnings and recommendations become ‘Learning into Action’.  

• That ‘Learning into Action’ improves the quality of health and social care services 
and reduces the health inequality faced by people with learning disabilities.  

• That all stakeholders, including people with learning disabilities and their family, 
friends and carers, feel an equal partner in the LeDeR programme.  

These ambitions sit within the broader LLR system-wide Person-Centred Leadership 
Framework. 

 

Local Progress 

Last year’s annual report stated the intention of the LLR LeDeR programme for 2020/21 was 
to analyse the recommendations from the completed reviews and identify the key themes 
in order to undertake change and implement improvements. However, there have been a 
number of causal factors that have largely prevented putting learning into action and 
making the desired improvements. 

The LLR LeDeR Programme had several unallocated reviews and reviews that had been 
allocated but not completed. This position was neither satisfactory nor conducive to 
identifying the key learning to implement changes or improvements. Consequently, the 
focus of LeDeR within LLR changed to eradicate the backlog of reviews by mid-December 
2020 with the intention that an analysis of the recommendations could be undertaken 
between December and March and concentrate on putting the learning into action from 
April 2021. 

All unallocated reviews and those allocated to reviewers but not finalised were completed 
within the timeframe. There remain 9 reviews that could not be completed because they 
had been referred into a statutory process e.g. coroners reports; CDOP reports; police or 
safeguarding investigations and waiting for the outcomes from those. 

The pandemic outbreak of Covid 19 had a significant impact on reviewers, especially those 
working within the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, Leicestershire Partnership 
Trust and local authorities due to the redeployment of some reviewers’ activity to focus on 
clinical roles.  

The three CCGs in LLR underwent a major management of change programme resulting in 
significant staff changes within the LeDeR leadership team. Although two clinical leads (WTE 
1.8) had been appointed to support reviewers, their contracts ceased at the end of March 
2021. Permanent posts have been agreed and recruited into from June 2021. The two Local 
Area Contacts (LAC), one from the CCG and one from the local authority both left the 
programme and were replaced with staff new to the role and the programme. A third LAC, 
also the senior administrative support left the programme and was replaced by someone in 
a seconded position. Recruitment has successfully taken place for the administrative 
position, commencing April 2021. 

157



 
8 

 

NHS England national LeDeR team announced in 2020 that there will be changes to the 
reporting and review processes and a new national policy describing the changes would be 
published in spring 2021. The announcement included the need to complete all possible 
open reviews by 30th April 2021 because the online reporting system would cease to 
operate and information on any incomplete reviews would not transfer to the new system.  

The requirement to complete and close reviews by the necessary deadline restricted the 
planned analysis of recommendations identified in the completed reports and limited the 
learning into action that could be implemented.  

The outcome of the Oliver McGowan report identified changes to local LeDeR processes to 
be put in place (see McGowan Report Recommendations). Whilst LLR has been able to 
implement these changes that will also support positive outcomes for people with LD in LLR, 
it did detract from making other improvements following the outcome of reviews. 

The achievements made by the LLR LeDeR programme include The profile of the LeDeR 
programme being raised using effective communication tools resulting in more consistent 
notification of deaths and strengthening across all partners, including Primary Care, to 
obtain and upload patient records for reviewers to access. 

The backlog of reviews was eradicated within the timeframe although there will be a small 
number of referrals to LeDeR whose reviews are unable to start because of the changeover 
of online systems. However, this is not expected to further impede reviewing the themes 
from the completed reviews. 

All the recommendations for CCGs resulting from the Oliver McGowan review have been 
implemented. 

LPT has reviewed and strengthened its internal governance processes regarding reviews of 
people who have died, which will inevitably support outcomes for people known to have a 
diagnosed learning disability. 

UHL has carried out several reforms to improve the experience people have of their stay in 
hospital: 

• The launch of the ‘Helping me in Hospital’ communication tool in March 2020 gives 
ward staff essential information about the patient to enable individualised plans of 
care to be implemented 

• Carers & relatives have been allowed to continue to provide support on the wards to 
LD patients despite Covid visiting restrictions to advocate for the patient and aid 
communication. 

• Timely completion of the ‘Home First’ electronic tool helps to identify where there 
may be issues regarding discharge to prevent lengthy delays particularly where a 
care provider can no longer provide the level of care a patient needs. 

• The development of an specific LD electronic admission checklist to be used as part 
of the core nursing assessments whenever a patient with a learning disability is 
admitted to a ward (Due to go live June 2021) 

• Clarification of the process of referring adult inpatients for imaging under general 
anaesthetic  

• Review and strengthening of the electronic assessment tool regarding the nutritional 
needs of patients. 

 

158



 
9 

 

Leicestershire County Council has held continuing professional development events for a 
range of staff within the organisation; the focus of events being the application of 
professional curiosity using a sample case that had also been the subject of a safeguarding 
investigation.  

Rutland County Council has a monthly Continuing Professional Development session 
delivered to all our Adult Social Care (ASC) teams including therapy and housing. At least 
one of these sessions is scheduled annually to deliver a learning session on LeDeR as well as 
information shared at team meetings across ASC especially those with a high staff turnover.  

Leicester City Council is establishing an internal review group to review the LeDeR learning 
into action in relation to care and support providers and ensuring that there is a process for 
supporting providers implement learning. This will become embedded within the Quality 
Framework and commissioning processes. Provider Forums are used to reinforce messages 
from learning emerging from the LeDeR reviews. 

 

Governance Arrangements 

The LLR LeDeR Steering Group provides monthly updates to LLR Learning Disability & Autism 
Executive Board. Additionally periodic updates are provided for LLR Safeguarding Boards 
and other stakeholders. This includes reporting on behalf of local CCGs to NHSE/I.  

The LLR LeDeR Programme is overseen by a Steering Group. Each LLR local authority, Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS Trust is a member. It is chaired by the Head of LD and 
Mental Health, LLR CCGs.  

The day to day management of the LeDeR Programme has been undertaken by the three 
Local Area Contacts (LACs). Each focuses on a different aspect of the programme: 
administration, clinical quality, and performance and business intelligence. Further support 
is provided by two locally funded Clinical Quality Leads who are responsible for ensuring the 
quality and speed of local LeDeR Reviews. Alongside the Steering Group Chair this forms the 
LLR LeDeR Leadership Team.  

In order to ensure the LLR LeDeR programme has met its responsibilities under the 
Equalities Act, the Steering Group has endeavoured to engage with people with Learning 
Disability, their families and carers as well as voluntary groups, community and faith 
organisations to ensure views from a range of ages, demographic groups and cultures are 
captured. 

 

  

159



 
10 

 

Equality Impact & Demographic Data  

Where demographics have been recorded in cases, these have been used to identify 
differences between people in various age groups, by disability, first language and ethnicity. 

Age 

According to mid-census statistics of June 2017 (Leicestershire Partnership Trust 
Demographic Profile of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Local, Unitary, and District 
Authority Areas 2017 Mid-Year Estimates and 2011 Census), the LLR population is 1,083,226 
for all ages. The age profile for male and female is similar to the national profile for England.  

The most recent national data taken from English Learning Disabilities Mortality Review 
(LeDeR) programme (2019) states in 2018, the majority (85%) of people in the UK 
population died aged 65 and over. The corresponding proportion of people with learning 
disabilities was 37%. For deaths notified in 2019, the median (average) age at death was 61 
for males and 59 for females, an increase of 1 year for males since 2018. Analysis of data 
from the local LeDeR system shows the median age of death for people, both male and 
female with LD in LLR who died in 2019-20 was 59 years. In 2020-21 this remains 
unchanged. 

Disability 

The national data reports that of people with a disability 9.3% reported that their day-to-day 
activities were limited a little, and a further 8.3% reported that their day-to-day activities 
were limited a lot. LLR data showed that the activities of 9.1% of people with a disability 
were only a little limited whilst a further 7.1% of people with a disability were restricted a 
lot. 

First Language 

Compared to the England benchmark, Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland had a lower 
proportion of people who spoke English as their first language. In Leicester, Leicestershire, 
and Rutland the most widely spoken first language was English (88.7%), followed by Gujarati 
(4.3%), Punjabi (1.0%), Polish (1.0%), and Urdu (0.4%). These languages covered over 95% of 
the population of Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland. 

Ethnicity1 

Compared to the England benchmark, LLR had a higher proportion of people from an Asian 
or other ethnic group background. However, this is more focussed within the boundaries of 
Leicester city as Leicestershire and Rutland counties had a lower proportion of people from 
an Asian or other ethnic group than Leicester city or the England benchmark. 

The LLR LeDeR programme is aware that it receives fewer notifications of death from the 
ethnic minority population than the local demographic suggests would be expected. We 
have appointed a nominated lead for ethnic minorities* who is a GP. Her role within the 
LeDeR programme is to raise the profile of LeDeR amongst ethnic minorities in LLR and to 
ensure that needs are addressed equitably across primary care and other organisations. 

 
1 For accuracy, it is important to note that in reports available to the LLR LeDeR team on original LeDeR online 
system, ‘British’ is listed and an ethnicity, and for these cases we must assume ‘White British’ unless otherwise 
indicated. 

160



 
11 

 

*We use ‘ethnic minorities’ to refer to all ethnic groups except the White British group. 
Ethnic minorities include White minorities, such as Gypsy, Roma and Irish Traveler groups2.  

Figure 1 shows that of deaths referred to LLR in 2020-21, the majority 77.14% were ‘British’ 
(White), 7.14% were ‘Indian’, 1.43% were ‘African’, 2.86% were ‘Any other Asian 
background’ and 4.29% were ‘Any other White background’. 7.14% had no ethnicity 
recorded. Figure 1 

 

 
2 www.gov.uk March 2021 

1.43% 2.86%

4.29%

77.14%

7.14%

7.14%

LLR LeDeR deaths referred 2020-21 - Ethnicity

African

Any other Asian background

Any other White background

British

Indian

No data

161

http://www.gov.uk/


 
12 

 

McGowan Report Recommendations 
Oliver McGowan was a teenager who 

had mild autism, epilepsy and learning 

difficulties, and was admitted to 

Southmead Hospital in November 

2016 after having partial seizures. An 

independent Learning Disability 

Mortality Review (LeDeR) found that 

his death was ‘potentially avoidable’. 

In 2019, NHS England and 

Improvement commissioned an 

independent panel to review Thomas 

Oliver McGowan’s previous Learning 

Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR). 

The rationale for the review related to 

what had been described as a number 

of inconsistencies in the local quality assurance processes for LeDeR, and specifically some 

of the draft reports for Oliver’s LeDeR review that were sent to the family via the Freedom 

of Information Act in 2018.  

Additionally, Oliver’s family had expressed their anxiety about a perceived lack of 

transparency within previous reports and processes. The report forms the second part of a 

two-stage process – the first being to review and complete Oliver’s LeDeR.  

The recently published report by Fiona Ritchie OBE, Chair on behalf of Oliver’s Independent 

Panel for NHS England and NHS Improvement made recommendations for the national, 

regional and local teams, particularly the governance arrangements surrounding local LeDeR 

programmes.3   

One of the recommendations was “each CCG must formally undertake and document and 

review its own systems and processes against the learnings and recommendations arising 

from Oliver’s re-review”. 

Appendix I provides the response undertaken by LLR for each recommendation from the 

review. 

 

 
3 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/independent-review-into-thomas-oliver-mcgowans-leder-process-
phase-two  

162

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/independent-review-into-thomas-oliver-mcgowans-leder-process-phase-two
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/independent-review-into-thomas-oliver-mcgowans-leder-process-phase-two


 
13 

 

Cause of Death 

The majority (46%) of deaths were from respiratory causes 

Data shows that the majority (46%) of deaths were from respiratory causes including the 6 

Covid deaths. This is much higher than national findings (20%) presented in the most recent 

data. It is noted from the LLR reviews there is a lack of recognition of the deteriorating 

patient by carers. The LLR LeDeR system intends to work with partners to reduce the high 

percentage of deaths from respiratory causes by introducing a programme of education for 

care homes and other carers using a recognised early warning scoring system.  The national 

LeDeR annual report in 2019 recommends using the RESTORE2 that was co-produced by 

West Hampshire CCG and Wessex Patient Safety Collaborative. 

Figure 2 shows of the remainder, the largest group at 20% were cancers, followed by cardiac 

issues at 10%, 7% dying from epilepsy, dementia and renal issues each causing the deaths of 

5% of cases, 3% from bowel issues and 2% from choking. In 2% of cases, cause of death was 

not ascertained. 

Figure 2 

 

 

COVID-19  

At the start of the COVID 19 pandemic, LLR established the Learning Disability and Autism 

Sub-Cell, which reported to the COVID Health and Social Care Cell. The purpose of the 

meeting was to agree and implement additional support for the LD/A population, their 

families and carers, across LLR. LeDeR was represented on this group. 

One of the first actions implemented was to identify those individuals at greater risk of 

harm and a register was quickly developed that identified the level of risk of hospitalisation 

3%

20%

2%

5%

7%

10%
5%

46%

2%

Cause of Death 2020-21

Bowel

Cancer

Choking

Dementia

Epilepsy

Heart

Renal

Respiratory

Unasctertained

163



 
14 

 

due to the virus or the effects of services being temporarily closed or restricted, isolation 

and/or social distancing.  

Resulting from the multi-agency reviews was the Learning Disability and Autism Response 

Service. This service utilised capacity available following the closure and restricted use of 

regular mainstream services normally provided by health and social care, its aim was to 

prevent people with a learning disability and/or autism or their family and carers from 

coming to harm or requiring further, more significant health and social care intervention by 

providing support typical of that which would be received in day services, supported living 

or short breaks  for a period of no longer than 72 hours by which time more permanent 

additional support could be delivered. 

COVID-19 and age 
The number of LD/A people diagnosed with COVID 19 was regularly reviewed at the meeting 

& cross referenced with the notifications of death. Of 73 reported deaths of all ages in 2021-

22, there were 16 notified as potentially due to COVID 19. 14 of these had COVID-19 listed 

as primary cause of death, comprising 5 females aged between 54 and 76, and nine males 

aged between 34 and 70. The remaining two cases listed COVID-19 as a possible secondary 

cause. 

COVID-19 and ethnicity 
Of all cases in which COVID-19 was a potential cause of death, ethnicity recorded was as 

follows 

• 11 ‘British’ 

• 3 ‘Indian’  

• 2 ‘Any other white background’ 
 

For reference, a table detailing the demographic breakdown of potential COVID-19 deaths 

has been provided in Appendix II. 

N.B. in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, 

COVID-19 lockdown was not lifted as it was 

across much of England, with particularly 

Leicester City remaining in lockdown 

throughout. For this reason, COVID-19 

deaths have not been split by lockdown 

period for purposes of this report. 

 

 
 

  

164



 
15 

 

Quality of Care 

33% showed good care 

In 17% of 2020-21 cases, as shown in Figure 3, ‘Care fell short of expected good practice but 

did not contribute to cause of death’, while 33% showed ‘good care’ and half showed 

‘satisfactory care’. 

Figure 3 

 
Of the 38 reviews referred in 2020-21 that noted quality of care; these are broken down in 

Figure 4 by Cause of Death (COD) in 2020-21. The majority of these (16) demonstrated 

‘Satisfactory care’ that fell short of expected good practice in some areas but did not 

significantly impact on the person’s wellbeing. 14 cases showed ‘Good care’ that met 

expected practice and a further 8 in which ‘Care fell short of expected good practice but did 

not contribute to cause of death’. 

Figure 4 

 

17%

33%

50%

Quality of Care 2020-21

Care fell short of expected good
practice but did not constribute to
cause of death

This was good care (it met expected
good practice)

This was satisfactory care (it fell short
of expected good practice in some
areas but this did not significantly
impact on the persons wellbeing)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Quality of Care and COD
2020-21 This was satisfactory care (it fell

short of expected good practice
in some areas but this did not
significantly impact on the
persons wellbeing)

This was good care (it met
expected good practice)

Care fell short of expected good
practice but did not constribute
to cause of death

165



 
16 

 

Action from Learning  
Learning and recommendations from all completed reviews (all time) were analysed to 

categorise them and identify how they related to organisations. 

Recommendation themes 
Largely mirroring national themes, analysis indicated the majority of recommendations 

related to four main themes, as illustrated in Figure 5.  

• Learning and training (27%) 

• Improving communication (24%) 

• Improving record keeping (18%) 

• Reviewing procedure (17%) 

Figure 5 

 

 
Many actions suggested were very small, quick-fix issues that on initial discussion with 

providers had already been implemented as a result of their own reviews (e.g. having copies 

of care plans available to staff without having to ask). Informal discussions facilitated 

smaller changes while others need reinforcement through ongoing training, like avoidance 

of diagnostic overshadowing.  

Learning from 2020-21 will be approached, managed and evaluated more formally and 

transparently by the new Clinical Lead roles, specifically through regular reporting to 

Steering Group and sharing of improvements with all stakeholders. 

Recommendation relevance to organisations 
Recommendations were also categorised by their relevance to organisations, staff groups 

and professions.   

2%

24%

18%

2%
27%

4%

5%

17%

1%

LLR LeDeR reviews all time
Recommendation themes

Improve care setting assessment

Improve communication

Improve record keeping

Increase patient observation
frequency
Learning/training

Prioritise vulnerable patients

Review documentation requirements

Review procedure

Standardise documentation

166



 
17 

 

Figure 6 clearly shows the majority of recommendations were relevant to  

• GPs (198) 

• Care providers (172) 

• Health professionals (126) 

• Hospitals/Hospital staff (99) 

 

Figure 6 

 
 

In cases from 2021-22, the picture was slightly different (see Figure 7), in that the greatest 

number of recommendations were relevant to Care Providers, followed by GPs. 

0 50 100 150 200

 UHL

 STP

 SLT staff

 Siren 4 staff

 Psychiatrists

 Professionals recording a death

 Primary Care

 Practice Nurses

 LOROS

 Local Authorities

 Hospitals

 Hospital staff

 Health professionals

 GPs

 District Nurses

 Death registrants

 Commissioners

 Care setting allocation decision makers

 Care providers

 ASC Transition workers

 Adult Social Care

 999/111

LLR LeDeR reviews all time
Recommendations by organisation

Improve care setting assessment Improve communication

Improve record keeping Increase patient observation frequency

Learning/training Positive feedback

Prioritise vulnerable patients Review documentation requirements

Review procedure Standardise documentation

TBC (blank)

167



 
18 

 

Figure 7 

 
 

Many actions suggested were very small, quick-fix issues that on initial discussion with 

providers had already been implemented as a result of their own reviews (e.g. having copies 

of care plans available to staff without having to ask). Informal discussions facilitated these 

smaller changes while others need reinforcement through improved, ongoing training, 

including avoidance of diagnostic overshadowing and keeping accurate records.  

Learning from 2020-21 will be approached, managed and evaluated more formally and 

transparently by the new LeDeR Team roles, specifically regular reporting to Steering Group 

and sharing of improvements with all stakeholders. 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

 UHL

 STP

 SLT staff

 Siren 4 staff

 Psychiatrists

 Professionals recording a death

 Primary Care

 Practice Nurses

 LOROS

 Local Authorities

 Hospitals

 Hospital staff

 Health professionals

 GPs

 District Nurses

 Death registrants

 Commissioners

 Care setting allocation decision makers

 Care providers

 ASC Transition workers

 Adult Social Care

 999/111

LLR LeDeR reviews 2020-21
Recommendation types 

Improve care setting assessment Improve communication

Improve record keeping Increase patient observation frequency

Learning/training Positive feedback

Prioritise vulnerable patients Review documentation requirements

Review procedure Standardise documentation

TBC

168



 
19 

 

Performance  

LLR successfully completed a substantial backlog of reviews by 

December 2020 

During 2020-21, in common with many systems, LLR successfully completed a substantial 

backlog of reviews from previous years, by the deadline of 11 December 2020. Some of the 

backlog was outsourced to NECS via NHSE/I, though some of those were returned to LRR for 

completion. In addition to this, 73 further deaths were referred in-year to LLR for review.  

Performance from the start of the programme was reported weekly at TCP Improvement 

meetings and during routine monthly LAC calls with NHSE/I Midlands.  At the end of March 

2021, 76.35% of all reviews were complete, 6.4% were in progress and 4.43% were awaiting 

allocation, including newly-referred cases to be carried forward to the new system. 

To facilitate the smooth transition to a new LeDeR online system in June 2021, on 1 March 

2021 the current LeDeR online system was paused so that no further referrals could be 

allocated to Reviewers. At the time, it was unclear how much data would be transferred 

from the old to the new system and advice was to complete as many open reviews as 

possible and submit by 30 April in order to minimise any loss of data that would require 

work to be repeated.  

At 31 March 2021, 21 cases remained on hold pending the outcome of statutory 

investigations including Child Death Overview Panel, Safeguarding Adults Reviews and 

Coroner’s Inquests.  In line with policy, those cases will be reviewed within the new system, 

upon receipt of process outcomes. Eleven cases were under active review and completed by 

30 April 2021 in order to minimise requirements for transfer of data to a new national 

LeDeR system. 

 

Future Plans  
A new LeDeR Policy Learning from lives and deaths – People with a learning disability and 

autistic people (LeDeR) policy 20214 was published in March 2021, to be fully implemented 

by 31 March 2022. LLR LeDeR plans are included in the wider LLR Community 

Transformation 3-year plan and a further, fully detailed plan will be provided to support the 

programme over the next 3 years.  

Ahead of the new policy, recognising the significance of LeDeR and the risks presented by 

the temporary nature of key roles within the programme, in January 2021 LLR agreed to 

strengthen its commitment and performance by introducing substantive posts to the LeDeR 

Team. 1.8WTE substantive Clinical Lead roles and a 1WTE Senior Assistant for administrative 

 
4 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/learning-from-lives-and-deaths-people-with-a-learning-disability-
and-autistic-people-leder-policy-2021/  

169

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/learning-from-lives-and-deaths-people-with-a-learning-disability-and-autistic-people-leder-policy-2021/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/learning-from-lives-and-deaths-people-with-a-learning-disability-and-autistic-people-leder-policy-2021/


 
20 

 

support were recruited to carry the programme forward with the launch of the new LeDeR 

system from June 2021. 

The Clinical Lead roles have specific responsibility to embed learning 

into action 

The Clinical Lead roles have specific responsibility to embed learning into action and support 

a cycle of learning, positive change, monitoring and evaluation throughout each year, 

reporting directly to the Steering Group and contributing to each annual report. 

Reviewer roles will also be developed in line with the new policy, with formally contracted 

Reviewer roles of a minimum 0.5 WTE per role in place within the year. A significant change 

to LeDeR is the requirement for any deaths of people with Autism and no LD to be afforded 

a review. This will also inform the development of our Reviewer roles, taking into account 

the knowledge and experience of those reviewers and the needs of the families involved, in 

the same way for those with LD. 

Strong focus will be on learning into Action and on developing good practice for the addition 

of Autism cases to be included later in 2021. 

 

 

170



Appendix I  
LLR McGowan response 

No. Action for CCGs LLR Response  Achieved 

1.  All those who are new to the role of lead reviewer, 
or local area contact (LAC), must be allocated a 
‘buddy’ who is experienced in the LeDeR process.  

In LLR every reviewer is ‘buddied’ up with one of the 2 clinical leads and an 
admin buddy for every review. They have an initial peer support meeting to 
identify what records are needed and establish how best to access them. 
They are also provided with a ‘reviewer pack’ with useful contact details and 
local top tips. Reviewers can keep in touch with their buddies as much or as 
little as needed. New reviewers tend to need more support initially. The 
clinical lead will then check in and ask for a progress update regularly if there 
has been no contact and this is escalated as appropriate.  

✓ 

2.  Dedicated time and administrative support must 
be given to reviewers and LACs to undertake 
complex LeDeR reviews.  

During 2020-21, LLR had a senior administrative assistant undertaking LeDeR 
duties alongside other administrative roles. There was a dedicated temporary 
administrative support person in place. This has now ceased and has been 
revised to 1.0 WTE permanent and dedicated administrative support. 

✓ 

3.  There must be a transparent process for LeDeR in 
each locality, with robust governance and 
appropriate resources to ensure that each review 
is properly monitored in terms of procedure and 
outcomes.  

LLR has a leadership team for LeDeR comprising of a local area contact (LAC) 
from the CCG and a local authority, lead clinical reviewers and senior 
administrator. The team has developed a process to include allocation of 
reviews through to the quality assurance of reviews and final submission to 
the University of Bristol. 
Recommendations are logged and periodic thematic reviews undertaken to 
identify learning. 
A weekly quality assurance and allocation meeting is held where progress of 
reviews is discussed by the LeDeR leadership team and reports to the LeDeR 
Steering Group monthly. 

✓ 

4.  The LAC and the lead reviewer should confirm at 
the onset of the LeDeR process how much support 
is needed and what it should look like.  
Guidance for reviewers should emphasise that 
when undertaking a LeDeR, there is an onus on a 

Every review is triaged by the leadership team prior to allocation at a weekly 
meeting and a judgement is made as to who the best available Reviewer 
would be to undertake the review. 
We have robust processes in place for obtaining records and on the whole 
this works well. 

✓ 

171



 
22 

 

No. Action for CCGs LLR Response  Achieved 

team responsibility to complete the process to the 
required standards, rather than it falling to an 
individual (the lead reviewer, in this case).  

We have a very clear timeline and when a review is allocated the ‘admin 
buddy’ send’s the reviewer an email with some useful information and a date 
for submission. This allows enough time in the process for Quality Assurance 
to be undertaken by 2 people and then the review be returned for 
amendments before the final submission date.   
Both clinical leads undertake reviews and advise on all complex cases. 

5.  Each CCG must identify an executive lead to be 
responsible for the LeDeR programme and for 
ensuring that the board has full sight of progress.  

The executive lead for LLR is the Head of Mental Health, Learning Disability, 
Autism and Dementia Services and chairs the LeDeR Steering Group reporting 
to the LD and Autism Board 

✓ 

6.  The CCG executive lead for LeDeR will ensure that 
LeDeRs are completed in a timely and correct 
manner and will intervene where problems are 
escalated, such as the inability to obtain critical 
information from the relevant agencies.  

There is a two-way communication route with the executive lead to facilitate 
the sharing of concerns. This allows for any serious concerns to be escalated 
accordingly. 

✓ 

7.  When a multi-agency review (MAR) is indicated, it 
is important that the correct process and 
outcomes are achieved.  
It is therefore expected that where the reviewer 
and the LAC have no previous experience of a 
MAR, they will seek support from a ‘buddy’ who 
does.  

We have held 3 MAR’s in LLR in the last 12 months. We have established 
clear roles and responsibilities; we have had the same experienced chair and 
other roles such as administration. COVID has been challenging when 
involving families but with the support of the clinical leads we have managed 
to ensure they have been fully involved throughout the entire meetings. All 
relevant paperwork is shared and the families have been supported to go 
through this with the reviewer and or the clinical lead.  

✓ 

8.  There should be an assurance process with regard 
to providing regular, appropriately documented 
supervision for individual LeDeR reviewers.  

LLR holds quarterly Peer Support Forums’ with opportunity for reviewers to 
add any concerns or share achievements. Each forum meeting has an agenda 
and minutes are circulated to all reviewers. 

✓ 

9.  Appropriate support should be available to 
reviewers, along with strong governance, to 
ensure that all LeDeR recommendations are 
robust and actioned in a timely manner, and that 
lessons learnt are shared nationally.  

We have a peer support ‘WhatsApp’ group for reviewers to have general 
discussions and share top tips (this is well used) and we have quarterly peer 
support meetings with everyone.  
We are also establishing a discussion forum for the whole team on our secure 
TCP shared workspace on the FutureNHS platform. 

✓ 

172



 
23 

 

Appendix II  
 

All entries in this table are exactly as entered in the LeDeR online system, spellings in context. 

Age at 
death 

Place of death N_COD_1a N_COD_1b N_COD_P2 Gender Ethnicity 

59 Hospital Aspiration pneumonia 
(COVID) 

 Covid-19 pneumonia Cornelia 
de Lange Syndrome 

Male British 

36 Usual place of 
residence 

Covid 19  Cerebral Palsy, pressure 
ulcers 

Male British 

56 Usual place of 
residence 

COVID 19 CCF and Hunter Hurler 
Syndrome 

 Male British 

34 Hospital COVID 19 pneumonia  Right ventricular impairment, 
chronic renal disease 

Male British 

35 Hospital Covid 19 Pneumonia   Male Any other White background 

66 Hospital Covid Pneumonitis  Asthma diaphragmatic hiatus 
hernia  

Male British 

69 Hospital COVID-19 Aspiration Pneumonia, 
Dementia 

Trisomy 21 (Downs 
Syndrome) 

Male British 

76 Not known Covid-19 infection   Female British 

59 Hospital COVID19 Pneumonia   Female British 

54 Hospital Covid-19 pneumonia   Female British 

70 Hospital COVID-19 Pneumonia   Female Indian 

63 Hospital COVID-19 Pneumonia  Epilepsy, Autism Male British 
70 Hospital Covid-19 Pneumonia  Dementia, frailty Male Any other White background 

61 Hospital Covid-19,pneumonia.  Kyphoscolliosis Female Indian 

74 Usual place of 
residence 

Dementia (covid secondary) COVID-19  Female British 

50 Usual place of 
residence 

Probable COVID-19 
Pneumonia 

  Male Indian 

 

173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Transforming Care in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland

3 Year Road Map 2021 to 2024

175

mhand_3
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



LLR Vision
“All people with a learning disability and/or autism 

will have the fundamental right to live good 
fulfilling lives, within their communities with 

access to the right support from the right people 
at the right time”.

176



A Unique Opportunity
LLR performance has  improved 

National funding in addition to local funding.  NHS England has 
invested a dedicated three year funding to transform services. This 
will enable long term planning for the first time, £650k min in 21/22 
rising to £750k in 22/23 and £1.2m in 23/24 plus additional bid 
opportunities

National policy shifts Integration and innovation: working together to 
improve health and social care for all (white paper 2021)

Team LLR, we are all working together so much more than we were 
before, now a regional and national leader of joint working

177



Aims and Objectives
Improve the wellbeing of people living with learning disabilities or autism or both across LLR

Person-centred, proactive and preventative approach

Reduce health inequalities

Improve quality

Increase the focus on autism especially 14+

Improve specific needs and pathways e.g. forensic, autism and transitions

Reduced admissions

Early intervention

Crisis avoidance

178



Engagement & feedback
• Service users, carers and families

• Clinical and operational teams and partners across LLR:
• Virtual focus groups between 6th and 16th April 2021

As a founding member of Leicestershire support for 
families caring for Special Needs Young Adults on 
Facebook, I just wanted to give you a big thank you for 
organising the special vaccination sessions.  My 
daughter would have been unable to cope with going to 
the same centre I went to.  All very well organised and 
everyone we encountered was really helpful and 
friendly.

“I just wanted to share the good news that the new cul
de sac has its sign; in my books you guys deserve to 
have had the honour to cut the ribbon and to unveil 
the name of the court because you, Julie and the 
whole team had done superb job under very difficult 
circumstances to assist young people with disabilities 
to have homes. On behalf of all these young people I 
can only thank you because I will never ever be able to 
repay you all.  God Bless You All”

Comment from carer following the move to a new 
specially adapted home for his son post discharge from 
hospital.

179



Current State

 (identified from Mapping exercise)

Community services for both adults 

and children & young people with LD 

and ASD and  are not fully joined up.

Some services have received 

previous investment and are well 

developed, some are in development 

and some  services and resources are 

not currently available at all. 

Some services are in place but 

without sufficient capacity and are 

currently managing long waiting lists. 

Individuals may not be receiving the 

most appropriate support whilst they 

are waiting for the appropriate 

diagnosis and signposting.

Urgent unplanned care is not always 

available and this may lead to a  

admission to a hospital bed that may 

have been avoided had a rapid 

response home support service been 

in place. Unplanned respite facilities 

are not sufficient.

Specialist hospital care and treatment 

is reliant upon out of area providers 

and patients are admitted far from 

friends and family. 

Discharge is often more difficult to 

facilitate resulting in increased LOS.

Health, social care and education are 

all committed to delivering the right 

care but effective joint working 

processes are not always in place. 

This leads to inconsistent approaches 

and outcomes. 

The quality and timeliness of 

communication and information flows 

between teams is inconsistent and 

this results in some duplication of 

work, some missed actions which 

then result in missed deadlines and 

unnecessary use of  capacity.

It is believed that the development of 

more efficient processes and removal 

of duplication and waste in the system 

will create capacity which can be 

reallocated to patient facing activities.

Future State 
LLR will have in place an inclusive, 

person-centred, proactive and 

preventative approach that supports 

the individual s needs and 

preferences. All services will be of 

high quality and meet required 

standards.

Adults, children and young people 

with a learning disability, autism or 

both are able to  thrive in the 

community in their own homes and 

are able to integrate into society, 

maintain family and friend 

relationships, take part in hobbies 

and activities and lead a life of 

'beautiful ordinariness'.

All individuals  have the  opportunity 

to live in the least restrictive 

environment as possible, to develop 

their own optimum level of 

independence and create a lifestyle 

that fulfils their own wishes, goals 

and choices.

Family units remain together  in the 

community. A reduced number of 

young people a placed in residential 

schools.

Individuals are able to contribute to 

society through vocational activities 

and paid employment. An individuals 

emotional and mental well-being is 

maintained.

Individuals physical health is 

maintained and individuals are better 

able to manage physical health long 

term conditions.

When support is required all 

individuals will have access to the 

right support at the right time, in the 

right place and be delivered by the 

right person.

This will  be delivered right first time.

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

LLR Learning Disabilities and Autism 3 Year Road Map

 CYP 
Implementation 
of Key Worker 

Model 

Pathway 
Development 

Further 
increase in 
capacity in 
community 
services to 
deliver PBS 
training and 

coaching. 
Focus on PBS 
as minimum 

standard

Admission 
Avoidance 

Design and set 
up of a Dynamic 
Support Pathway 

(DSP)
All Age

CAMHS 
Collaborative
CYP Respite 

Services

Joint 
Commissioning
Rapid Response 

Wraparound 
Home Support
Adult Respite 

Accommodation
CYP Respite

Care Co-
ordination

LD Complex Care 
Coordinators 
working with 
primary care, 

LAs, Secondary 
care, families 

and care 
providers to 

coordinate the 
health care of 

people with LD 
and complex 

needs

Every Voice 
Counts

Role of Autism 
Officer
Autism 

Website
Patient/Carer 
Engagement/
Involvement 

and Co-
production

Integrated 
Working 

Development of an 
integrated LLR 

health and social 
care TCP Hub

Pathway 
Development
Community 
service for 

CYP  who do 
not meet the 

CAMHS 
threshold but 
are struggling 
to cope in the 

community

STOMP/STAMP 
Rationalisation of 

medication 
prescribing for 
individuals with 
LD, Autism or 

both.
Lead: RG/CB

Pathway 
Development

 Outreach 
Expansion

 SAT
 LDA Forensic 

Service
ASD Forensic 

Service
CHAT Health

Workforce 
Development

Establish PBS as 
the minimum and 
essential quality 

standard

Health 
Inequalities

LeDeR Clinical 
Oversight

LeDeR Support 
& Co-

ordination
LD AHC
Autism 

Registers
Autism Health 

Checks

Pathway 
Development

Increase 
capacity of ASD 
14+ service to 
enable more 
robust care 
and support 

post diagnosis 
i.e. Psycho-
education, 

Family 
workshops, 
Behavioural 
workshops, 

anxiety 
management, 

Pathway 
Development

Increase 
capacity of 

the adult ASD 
diagnostic 

service.

LDA QIP 
Projects

Optimising 
Utilisation of 

IT 
Staff Health 
and Well-

being
Suitable 

Environments 
for Care.

Achievement 
of National 

Quality 
Standards

Pathway 
Development

Improved 
transition of 

CYP from 
children's into 
adult services. 
Provision of a 

planned 
Respite 

Services for 
CYP who are 

moving up into 
adult services 

to support with 
a smooth 

transition into 
more 

appropriate 
services

180



Key Priorities & pathways for Year 1
• Increased focus on co-production with people with LD and Autism

• Admission avoidance for CYP and adults

• Integrated team working – development of TCP Hub – joint working 
across LLR

• Continue to improve Annual Health Checks (AHC) completion rates –
look to developing ASD AHCs

• Provide community and inpatient support for people with Autism 
without LD

• Learn from LeDeR – make service changes

• Provide better support for our forensic cohort

181



Pathway Development
Specialist Autism Team (14+ community Service)

• Consultation & advice

• Positive Behaviour Support & early intervention 

• Admission avoidance & support

• Inpatient discharge planning  

• Post discharge support

LD & A Community Forensic service
• Able to demonstrate effectiveness in reducing serious reoffending in 

individuals discharged from secure inpatient services.

• Dual emphasis on promoting and enabling individual recovery and 
independence, while also ensuring the protection of the public. 

182



How things will look….

Year 1

In year 1 Integrated working , New processes and protocols embedded, Learning from LedeR
Dedicated support to the Dynamic Support Pathway, Reduced number of admissions
New teams and new models of care for individuals with ASD and for those people with LD/ASD forensic 
needs

In year 2 Timely discharges. No delays in Transfer of Care, Reduced reliance on in-patient care
Alternatives to admission available for all CYP and adults, Increased delivery of AHC
Early intervention to support well-being, Post diagnostic support in place for all age ASD
Highly capable workforce

In year 3 Person-centred, proactive and preventative approach, LLR targets for reduced reliance upon in-patient 
care achieved.  75% of people with LD will be having annual health checks.
All CYP will have a designated key worker
Health inequalities reduced, lessons from LedeR learnt and outcomes embedded.
Co-ordinated healthcare across the system.  Long Term Plan objectives achieved

Make LLR FIT (focussed on the needs of our people, integrated team 
delivery and targeted on where we can make the greatest difference)

183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

Transforming Care in 

Leicester, 

Leicestershire and 

Rutland 
Annual Report 2020-21 

 

 

  

185

mhand_4
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX C



2 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction 

2. Inpatient Performance 

3. Annual Health Check Performance 

4. LeDeR Programme 

5. Commissioning Gaps – New Services  

6. Finances 

7. Future Plans 

8. Contact Details 

 

  

186



3 
 

1. Introduction 

Our Vision for Transforming Care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) is that: “all people with 

a learning disability and/or autism will have the fundamental right to live good fulfilling lives, within 

their communities with access to the right support from the right people at the right time”. 

In April 2020 it was determined by NHSE that: 

“…this system is failing people with learning disabilities and/or autism by keeping them in a 

more restrictive environment than the assessment of their condition.” 

This report outlines the key actions taken over the last twelve months and how we used NHSE funding 

to work towards our vision for Transforming Care in LLR.   

2. Inpatient Performance 

During 2020/21 there were 55 LLR inpatient admissions of people with learning disabilities and autism 
compared to 67 in 2019/20.  Table 1 below provides details of the admission numbers broken down by 
adults in CCG commissioned beds, adults in NHSE commissioned (secure) beds and Children and young 
people (CYP) in NHSE tier 4 CAMHS inpatient beds. 
 
Table 1 - Total Inpatient Admissions  

Commissioner Number of Admissions 19/20 Number of Admissions 20/21 

CCG 30 29 

NHSE (low / medium secure) 11 2  

CYP (CAMHS) 26 24  

Total 67 55 

 

Of the CCG commissioned admissions table 2 below provides details of the hospital type and the total 
number of admissions to each placement:  
 

Table 2 – Admission placements for CCG beds 

Hospital Type Number of Admissions 

Agnes Unit Specialist LD 11 

Bradgate Unit Acute MH 13 

Out of County Specialist Locked Rehabilitation 
(AHP) 

3 (1 step down from low secure, 1 transition 
from CAMHS into an adult bed) 

Local Mental Health Rehabilitation (WSH) 2 

 

As at the 31st March 2021 there were 16 LLR inpatients in out of county beds undergoing specialist 
treatment programmes.  We are working hard on discharge plans to move 12 of these people back to 
local community placements over the next year.  There are a number of new supported living 
placements being developed in the local area to enable this, including 4 self-contained bungalows in 
Markfield and a specialist 4-bedded deaf unit in Shepshed.  

 

187



4 
 

Chart 1 below outlines our performance against the NHSE trajectory for adult and CYP admissions from 
April 2019 to March 2021.  It demonstrates that we have reduced inpatient numbers from a high of 62 
down to 47 but there is still some way to go to meet our target (set at 34). 
 

Chart 1 – Combined LLR Admissions against trajectory 

 

Developments during 2020/21: 

There have been a number of key developments within the programme during 2020/21, as follows:  

• Appointment of two dedicated TCP Senior Case Managers (all age) 

• Appointment of a TCP Clinical Lead  

• A review of discharge planning meetings – ensuring robust attendance and discussion on all 

patients every week 

• Developed links and regular meetings with the IMPACT team (specialised commissioning)  

• Rapid response meetings providing updates to the TCP Management Team/identifying 

barriers for escalation 

Due to the changes put in place to improve discharge planning during 2020/21 a total of 76 patients 
were discharged, compared to 61 during 2019/20.  The following chart breaks down the number of 
discharges by year and bed type demonstrating that discharges increased in 4 out of the 6 bed types 
with a significant increase in the number of discharges of patients from low secure (NHSE) hospital 
settings. 
 

 

 

 

 

51 53 55 53 52 52 53 53 51 52 56 56 57 58 62 58 58
51 50 48 47 47 46 47

47 47 47 46 45 43 42 41 39 37 36 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34

3 4 3 5 5 6 8 4 8 4 3 7 6 6 3 8 5 8 5 3 4 3 4 60

20

40

60

80

A
p

r-
19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

19

A
u

g-
19

Se
p

-1
9

O
ct

-1
9

N
o

v-
1

9

D
ec

-1
9

Ja
n

-2
0

Fe
b

-2
0

M
ar

-2
0

A
p

r-
20

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

20

A
u

g-
20

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

N
u

m
b

e
r

Month

LLR Combined Adult and CYP Inpatients vs 
Trajectory -

April 2019 - March 2021
LLR TCP Commissioned Inpatients LLR TCP Plan Trajectory

LLR TCP Combined Admissions LLR TCP Combined Discharges

188



5 
 

Chart 2 – Number of Discharges 2019-20 vs 2020-21 

 

The chart below shows the number of patients discharged during 2020/21 who had been in an inpatient 
placement for more than five years.  This is a fantastic achievement as these are some of our most 
complex patients, requiring bespoke wrap around packages of care with extremely specialist staff teams 
and extended transition periods.  One individual had been an inpatient for 12 years and is doing 
extremely well in his new home. 
 
Chart 3 – Length of Stay Over 5 years 
 

 

The table below shows the average length of stay of TCP inpatients by placement, it is clear that those 
people in out of county placements are remaining in hospital for extended periods.  It is important for 
the CCG to maintain close oversight of these patients, to ensure this our TCP case managers carry out 
8-week quality reviews and 6-month care and treatment reviews to confirm the treatment pathway is 
still meeting the needs of the individual and make sure patients are not remaining in hospital for longer 
than necessary.  
 
 

29

8
6

1

10

7

27

13

5

2

12

17

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

CAMHS NHSE Adults AHP WSH Agnes Unit Bradgate Unit

Number of discharges 

Number of Discharges 19/20 Number of Discharges 20/21

3

1 1

0

1

2

3

4

5+ 10+ 12+

over 5 years in admission in 20/21

Number of discharges

Total 
Discharges  

2019/20 

61 

Total 
Discharges 

2020/21 

76 

189



6 
 

Table 3 - Length of Stay 

Placement Average length of stay Days Average Length of Stay Months 

Average length of 

stay in Years 

Agnes Unit 187 6 0.5 

Bradgate Unit 39 1 0.1 

Out of County Locked 

Rehab Hospitals 1674 56 4.6 

 

Children’s Admissions 

Children and young people’s (CYP) admissions have shown a fluctuating picture across the year 

ranging from 3-10 inpatients at any one time, with a total of 24 admissions compared to 26 in the 

previous year.  NHSE/I provided some dedicated winter pressures funding to support with CYP 

admission avoidance during the last few months of the financial year (details of the individual 

solutions put in place using this funding are outlined in Appendix 1). 

3. Annual Health Check (AHC) Performance 

During 2021/21 a total of 3235 Annual Health Checks were completed for individuals with a Learning 
Disability, an increase of 17% compared to 2019/20.  Further details are outlined in the table below:  
 

Table 4 – Annual Health Check performance  

Annual Health Checks 

2020/21 Total 3235 

2019/20 Total 2765 

20/21 Vs 19/20 +470 
Performance 71.3% 

 

Developments during 2020/21: 

The following developments took place during 2020/21 to improve our annual health check 
performance: 
 

• AHC tracking tool developed - pulling real-time data from GP systems on a weekly basis  

190



7 
 

• An improvement plan developed using a focused approach to offer support and training 

directly to GPs with lower AHC completion rates 

• Increased awareness of the importance of AHC’s across the wider system – sharing 

performance data at Governing Body meetings, Primary Care Network meetings, etc.   

Annual Health Checks – Exemplar Bid 

In addition, LLR Secured £35,000 NHSE/I funding to employ a dedicated Primary Care Liaison Nurse to 

focus on individuals who had not attended their AHC for 2+ years (201 patients identified so far) 

Since starting in post in January 2021 the nurse has had 41 contacts with patients, carers or family 

members looking at reasonable adjustments and barriers and any themes.  As a result, 31 individuals 

have now had a successful AHC (mixture of virtual and face to face) and others have been booked for 

the coming month. 

A case study is being developed of an individual who had not had their AHC for 7 years, as a result 

some significant health action points were identified. Feedback from the patient and GP highlighted 

the benefit of the dedicated nurse input. 

There have been some concerns being raised about family members declining AHCs on behalf of a 

person with learning disability who cannot consent for themselves - safeguarding meetings are being 

undertaken to address these issues on an individual basis. 

4. LeDeR Programme 

The learning from deaths of people with a learning disability (LeDeR) programme was set up as a service 
improvement programme to look at why people were dying and what we could be done to change 
services locally and nationally to improve the health of people with a learning disability and reduce 
health inequalities. 
 
The following graph outlines LeDeR review performance throughout 2020/21 with a big increase in 
performance from November onwards: 
 

Chart 4 – LeDeR Performance April 20 – May 21 

 

79.53%

20.47%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

A
p

ril 2
0

2
0

M
ay 2

0
2

0

Ju
n

e 2
0

20

Ju
ly 2

0
2

0

A
u

gu
st 2

0
20

Se
p

tem
b

e
r 2

0
2

0

O
cto

b
e

r 2
0

2
0

N
o

ve
m

b
er 2

02
0

D
ece

m
b

e
r 2

02
0

Jan
u

ary 2
0

2
1

Fe
b

ru
ary 2

0
21

M
arch

 2
0

2
1

A
p

ril 2
0

2
1

M
ay 2

0
2

1

Complete

On Hold

191



8 
 

LeDeR Reviews – developments during 2020/21 

During 2020/21, the following developments in relation to LeDeR have taken place across LLR: 
 

• Enhanced clinical oversight of local LeDeR reviews through dedicated nurse time 

• Additional staff employed on a temporary basis to support with the backlog of LeDeR reviews 

• Dedicated Admin role to coordinate access to clinical notes and relevant individual records to 

support reviewers  

• Employment of 1 FTE LeDeR Senior Administrator and 1.8 FTE  LeDeR Clinical Leads 

(appointed and due to start in May/June) 

• Embedding learning from completed LeDeR reviews – ‘Learning into Action’ now a key 

responsibility within the job description of the Clinical Lead role 

• GP representative reviewing ethnicity data to identify any inequalities 

5. Commissioning Gaps – New Services 

During 2020/21 a number of commissioning gaps were identified and specific groups and services 

were established in response to these:  

• Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland COVID-19 Learning Disability and Autism Sub Cell  

• Specialist Autism Team (SAT) 

• LD Forensic Service 

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland COVID-19 Learning Disability & Autism Sub Cell 

The LLR Covid-19 LDA Sub Cell was set up to provide LDA support during the first Covid lockdown in 

March, it comprised all statutory health and social care organisations and took on the following roles: 

• Identified those people with LD / ASD most at risk because of Covid-19 and related service 

changes and put in place a multi-agency response to provide additional support 

• Responded as a partnership to the risks and challenges associated with Covid-19, whether 

those risks are at person or system level (Avoided 60+ escalations) 

• Provided consistent information and guidance about Covid-19 to stakeholders across LLR, 

from providers to people with LD / ASD 

• Advocated for people with LD / ASD, their family and carers in the COVID-19 response 

• Coordinated dedicated LD Covid-19 vaccinations sessions for people with LD and their carers.  

These were extremely successful and repeat sessions are planned for people to receive their 

booster jabs.  This was shared nationally as good practice 

• The LLR Vaccine inequalities group is taking the learning from the dedicated LD vaccine 

sessions to apply to other vulnerable groups.   

• Ensured weekly data collection on the completion of Covid-19 vaccines for all people on the 

LLR LD registers to identify any GPs that are not reaching people.  

The sub cell continues to meet and support with restoration and recovery of LD services. 

192



9 
 

Specialist Autism Team (SAT) 

A community mapping exercise revealed big gaps in services for people with Autsim without LD.  The 

LLR system successfully bid for NHSE/I Community Transformation funding to mobilise a specialist 

autism service. 

• The Specialist Autism Team (SAT) is working in partnership with young people and adults (14 

years+) who are autistic and where appropriate with their families, partners and/or carers to 

offer support and care respectfully. 

• The team will take time to build a trusting, supportive, empathic and non-judgemental 

relationship as an essential part of care.  

The SAT will work with people who have a diagnosis of autism (14 years +) to provide:  

• Consultation & advice  

• Positive Behaviour Support & early intervention  

• Admission avoidance & support  

• Inpatient discharge planning  

• Post discharge support  

LD Forensic Service 

The LD Forensic Service was set up as a small-scale pilot in 2019 – the service has been extremely 

successful in supporting individuals out of secure services and a bid to NHSE/I for community 

transformation funding was successful to expand the service. 

The service aims to: 

• Demonstrate effectiveness in reducing serious reoffending in individuals discharged from 

secure inpatient services 

• Ensure there is a dual emphasis on promoting and enabling individual recovery and 

independence, while also ensuring the protection of the public. 

The community forensic services aim to help individuals who no longer require secure care make the 

transition back to the community through the provision of different level of support:    

o Level 1 – Single assessment or consultation undertaken by the community forensic 

service 

o Level 2 – Offering a period of assessment by the community forensic service, for 

example, to undertake a structured risk assessment, with the referring team retaining 

responsibility 

o Level 3 – by operating an agreed period of shared care with the generic mental health 

service, which could include completing a more detailed assessment of risk, or 

guidance on a risk management plan (including an evaluation of its effectiveness) 

o Level 4 – with the community forensic service taking full responsibility for care of the 

patient, including any care coordination functions. 

 

193



10 
 

6. Finances 

As mentioned throughout this report, LLR have a received a number of ring-fenced funding 

allocations from NHSE/I to support developments and improve performance over the past 12 months.  

Details of these and how the funding was spent are outlined in Appendix 1. 

7. Future Plans 

An LLR 3 year Learning Disability and Autism plan has been developed, the priorities identified for 

2021/22 are:  

1. Increased focus on co-production with people with LD and Autism 

2. Admission avoidance for CYP and adults 

3. Integrated team working – development of a TCP Hub – joint working across LLR 

4. Continue to improve AHC completion rates – and reduce overmedication (STOMP) 

5. Provide community and inpatient support for people with Autism without LD 

6. Ensure learning from LeDeR – making real service changes 

7. Provide better support for our LDA forensic cohort 

Separate project plans are being developed to take forward initiatives to address these 7 priority 

areas.  Progress updates, issues for escalation and evaluation reports will be brought to the LD/ND 

Design Board throughout the year. 

8. Contact Details 

Joint SRO - David Williams - Director of Strategy & Business Development 

Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust & Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 

David.Williams@nhft.nhs.uk 

Joint SRO – Heather Pick – Assistant Director, Care Pathway 
Leicestershire County Council, Adults and Communities  
heather.pick@leics.gov.uk 
 

Cheryl Bosworth – Senior Programme Manager, Transforming Care  

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

Cheryl.Bosworth@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk 

 

Mark Roberts – Assistant Director FYPC & LD 

 Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 

Mark.Roberts@leicspart.nhs.uk  

  

 

 

194

mailto:David.Williams@nhft.nhs.uk
mailto:heather.pick@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Cheryl.Bosworth@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Mark.Roberts@leicspart.nhs.uk


11 
 

 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

Pathway 
Development  

£353,932  

Staff costs for LD 
Forensic Service. 

 £120,000  

Development of a dedicated LD & A Forensic Service.  Expansion 
of the LD Forensic Pilot to provide a complete team offering in-
reach support to people with LD and/or Autism in secure 
hospitals and forensic support and training to community 
providers as part of discharge planning including supporting the 
development of risk assessments/risk management plans, etc. 
Post discharge support provided. Admission avoidance and crisis 
management interventions also in place.   

 6 months funding fully 
utilised – full year funding 
requested in 2021/22 
 
 
 
  

Staff costs for All 
Age Diagnostic 
and Post-
diagnostic Autism 
Treatment 
Service  

 £234,000 

Development of a dedicated Specialist Autism Service (age 14+). 
Mobilisation of a multi-disciplinary team to provide specialist 
support to those people (age 14+) with autism who are at risk of 
admission in the community and to provide in-reach to inpatient 
settings to ensure ASD needs are being met within 
assessment/treatment. Deliver post discharge support to prevent 
re-admission.  

 

6 months funding fully utilised 
– full year funding requested 
in 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
  

LeDeR 
 £38,315  

To fund 
additional Quality 
Assurance 
support  

 £2000  

Additional Clinical support provided by specialist LD nurses to 
support LeDeR reviewers with the completion of priority reviews 
by December 11th 2020.   
   

Agreed to continue to fund 
LeDeR Clinical Leads in 
2021/22 to support with 
ongoing quality assurance 

Fund analysis of 
all LLR LeDeR 
reviews complete 
by December 
11th 2020. 

 £9000  
Clear and concise reviews, clear understanding of cause and 
effect and lessons learnt. 
 
       

Appendix 1 

 

195



12 
 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

To design and 
begin 
implementation 
of a work 
programme to 
improve local 
health and social 
care services as 
identified by 
LeDeR Reviews  

 £ 13500              

Development and implementation of clear action plans and task 
and finish groups to identify and address concerns in the system 
and prevent recurrence of these. 
  

    

Additional 
support as 
required to 
deliver elements 
of above. 

               
£13815  

 Dedicated administrative support to coordinate LeDeR review 
allocation, monitoring processes, and requesting access to clinical 
notes and relevant individual documents. 

    

Additional 
LeDeR 

Funding           
£19,646  

Additional 
support as 
required to 
deliver elements 
of above 

              
£19,646  

Additional dedicated LeDeR reviewers employed to support with 
completion of outstanding LeDeR reviews by 11th December 2020 

    

Additional 
Pathway 

Development  
£22,440  

Increase the 
Family Therapist 
role to a band 7  

              
£12,000  

The role of Family Therapist was advertised for the Specialist 
Autism Team (age 14+) but it was difficult to recruit an individual 
at a band 6 grade with the skills and experience required, 
therefore the funding was used to increase this to a band 7 role 
to attract a higher calibre of candidates 

  

 Band 7 role will be built into 
the ongoing costs of the 
service 
 
 
 
 
  

196



13 
 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

Specialist training 
for the LD 
Forensic Team 

 £6k            

Armidilo, Start and Keep Safe Training - 3 individual training 
courses provided by the The Tizard Centre (a leading UK 
academic centre working in autism, learning disability and 
community care) at the University of Kent 
£400 per person x5 members of staff.    

 Some of the training courses 
have not been running face-
to-face due to Covid-19 and 
social distancing restrictions, 
some funding has been 
carried over to ensure the 
training takes place in 21/22 
financial year 
  
  

Specialist training 
for the LD 
Forensic Team 

              
£2,640  

Historical Clinical Risk-Management-20 Version 3 (HCR20 v3) 
Training - via Webex 
Provider - Tully Forensic and Clinical Training  
£528 per person x5 members of staff.    

Specialist training 
for the LD 
Forensic Team 

            
£1,800  

Essential Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT) Workshop - Online 
Provider  - British Isles DBT Training - the sole licensed provider of 
training in Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT) in Britain and 
Ireland. £360 per person x5 members of staff. 

  

Winter 
Pressures                  
£23,000  

Additional 
funding to help 
address winter 
pressures to 
support children 
and young people 
most at risk of 
admission to 
mental health 
hospitals.  

              
£23,000  

Additional outreach was offered through the dietetic service 
within CAMHS that wouldn't have been available through core 
provision criteria, which enabled extra support to be provided to 
a young person with an eating disorder.  Another young person 
was provided with a PA at home to support him during meal 
times. 
 
A specialist forensic assessment was carried out for a young 
person (requested via court) to support their discharge from 
hospital   
  
PBS interventions from a specialist team were offered to 5 
children and young people - this included: a full assessment,     

197



14 
 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

development of PBS plans and visits/training with family and/or 
support staff.  This enabled the family/staff to understand and 
implement the plan, learn how to carry out avoidance measures 
and understand behaviour triggers, etc.  This enabled a de-
escalation in challenging behaviours and provided better support 
to meet the needs of these 5 individuals. 
  

CYP 
Admission 
Avoidance 

and CYP 
Respite                   
£29,590  

Avoiding 
admissions for a 
young person by 

enabling local 
providers to put 

in place 
additional 

support over an 
agreed interim 

period.  

              
£13000 + 
£16590 

Respite hours were given in the form of a package of care 
through an agency delivered within the home to maintain a child 
safely in their family setting. 
 
Respite care was provided for a child with complex needs 
(tracheostomy and ventilation) as the family had been through a 
traumatic birth of new sibling and mum required an extended 
hospital stay.   
 
Respite hours were delivered for a young person out of the home 
where changes to medication were able to happen which would 
have taken place within hospital if these funds weren't available.  
  
A child at home awaiting a residential long-term placement had 
extra respite hours put in to prevent family breakdown.     

 Some of this budget has been 
carried forward into 21/22 to 
support with the procurement 
of a more sustainable CYP 
respite solution for LLR 
through joint commissioning  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

198



15 
 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

Annual 
Health Check 
Exemplar Bid                  

£35,000  

Employment of 
an LD nurse to 
work alongside 
the existing PCLN 
team with a 
specific focus on 
identifying 
individuals who 
have not 
attended an LD 
AHC in the past 2 
years or more. 
 

              
£35,000  

 
GPs are identifying individuals who have not attended an AHC in 
the past 2 years.  The dedicated nurse is working with them to 
address the barriers to attending their AHCs.  
 
Increased engagement is taking place to increase younger 
people’s uptake. Exemplar bid nurse is holding a workshop on 
AHCs (27th May) at the "Local offer live" event for Leicester City 
as an opportunity to raise the profile of the AHC and discuss 
specific concerns relating to the health check with carers and 
young people with LD. 
 
Exemplar bid nurse has been invited to a support group for carers 

and parents with SEND to address issues around AHCs, GP 

practices and access to adult services. 

Exemplar bid nurses have been in contact with a young persons 

respite service, working across LLR, to disseminate information 

about AHCs and support any individual concerns raised. 

 

Dedicated Exemplar Bid Nurse 
started in post on 1st January 
2021 – funding has been 
carried over into 21/22 
financial year to continue to 
fund this post up until 
31/12/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

199



16 
 

Total 
Allocated 

£ 

Key Milestones/ 
Objectives 

Individual 
Funding 

Allocation 
£ 

Progress Against Milestones 

On track 
to spend 

within 
timescale 

(RAG) 

Notes  

Keyworker 
Programme                  

£30,000 

To become bid 
ready for 

Keyworker Early 
Adopter Status 

             
£30,000 

Engagement carried out with the relevant CYP statutory 
organisations, LLR parent/carer forums and children’s panels to 
build a model that is fully supported by the LLR population. 
 
Identify and resolve key risks and ensure enabling systems are in 
place ready for a successful bid (including information sharing 
agreements etc). 
 
Identify the financial cost of the model and develop an agreed 
financial plan. 
 
Development of a clear operational model for the delivery of 
services and a clear time-bound plan for the mobilisation of the 
model.  

The LLR Keyworker bid was 
successful and the service is 
currently being mobilised 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

200



 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES AND 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF INTEGRATION AND TRANSFORMATION 

FRAMEWORK FOR INTEGRATED PERSONALISED CARE 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1.  The purpose of this report is to seek the Board’s approval for the Framework for 

Integrated Personalised Care, which is intended to supersede the Health and Social 
Care Protocol (2014). 

 
Recommendation 

 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the Framework for Integrated   

Personal Care 
 
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 
3. The Framework for Integrated Personalised Care supports integration between 

health and social care, but more fundamentally the enhancement of integrated 
personalised commissioning. Leicestershire County Council, East Leicestershire and 
Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group and West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group are in the process of awarding contracts for Home Care for 
Leicestershire. By commissioning services jointly, the aim is to support the delivery of 
services that meet both health and social care needs through commissioned 
contracts that avoids people having services delivered by a range providers and 
furthermore prevents duplication of the use of resources. The framework has been 
designed to support the undertaking of tasks on behalf of a partner agency in a way 
that is safe, appropriate and equitable.  
 

4. The framework aims to underpin the broad principle of the current strategy, namely 
that’ at a time of increasing demand and reducing resources it is clear that partners 
need to work together more proactively to maximise their impact for the good of the 
people of Leicestershire’. Additionally, that partners, ‘work together in partnership to 
deliver a positive, seamless experience of care which is focussed on the individual to 
ensure they receive the right support, in the right place, at the right time. 

 
5. The framework also supports the ongoing drive towards integration across Health 

and Social Care. 
 

6. In line with the 2020 Better Care Fund Plan work has been completed to review the 
health and social care protocol and the next steps to commission a revised training 
offer from 2020. Task and finish groups are now in place to ensure the following. 
Developing and commissioning a revised training offer and devising an 
implementation workstream to ensure that the framework is utilised across health and 

201 Agenda Item 16



 

social care. The framework also supports the model of co-produced and co-
delivered, joined-up services across health, social care and other public services. In 
particular, it looks at how the use of the skills, knowledge and resources of 
individuals, communities and the workforce can support more integrated care. 

 
7. The framework supports Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) and the requirement to 

have partnerships between the organisations that meet health and care needs across 
an area, to coordinate services and to plan in a way that improves population health 
and reduce inequalities between different groups. The framework seeks to ensure 
that people receive seamless services to meet need. 

 
8.  Paragraphs 9 and 10 below outline how the framework supports the NHS Long Term 

Plan and the Adults and Communities Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020–
2024. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
9. The NHS Long Term Plan comes with significant investment and an emphasis on 

delivery of new models of care, place-based integrated health and care and delivery 
of joined up personalised care.  The local NHS and County Council is committed to 
working with partners to deliver integrated health and care services at the point of 
delivery and to ensure that people receive seamless transition between health and 
social care. 
 

10. The Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire Adults and Communities 
Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020–2024, agreed by the Cabinet on 18 
September 2020, outlines that the Department’s mission statement for adult social 
care, including: 

 
 

 Engaging with the right partner: Working more effectively with individuals, their 
friends and families and in partnership with other relevant organisations – to 
achieve more joined up or aligned and efficient support; 

 Officers should aim to work collaboratively across our services and partners to 
commission the right support in the right place at the right time. 
 

11. On the 8 March 2021, the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considered a report on the Framework for Integrated Personalised Care 
and noted the work undertaken to review the existing Health and Social Care 
Protocol (2014) and proposals to supersede it with the new Framework. 
 

Background 
 

12. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Health and Social Care Protocol, 
last formally revised in 2014, is a legacy agreement that currently exists between the 
following health and social care commissioners and providers: 
 
 East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group; 
 Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group; 
 Leicester City Council; 
 Leicestershire County Council; 
 Rutland County Council; 

202



 

 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; 
 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust; 
 Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). 
 
 

13. The aim of the Protocol was to ensure delivery of services which are responsive to 
need, and which make the best use of limited resources.  Health and social care 
agencies throughout LLR are committed to working together to ensure that services 
for all the people who need support are: 
 

 Effective – delivered at the correct level of intervention and in the right 
environment; 

 Appropriate – able to meet people’s health needs to ensure recovery and 
maintenance of good health and wellbeing; 

 Timely – available when people need them to promote independence, choice and 
control; 

 Safe – provided with regard to clinical responsibilities and professional 
competence. 

 
14. A review of the LLR Health and Social Care Protocol (2014) has taken place from 

2019 in a context of growing demand, with increasing complexity of need across all 
health and social care partners and against a backdrop of ongoing budgetary 
pressures and significant challenge in relation to capacity across all parts of the 
system. In addition to this, there has been an ongoing drive towards integration 
across Health and Social Care, including the development of Primary Care Networks, 
Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, Home First and the effective utilisation of the 
voluntary sector and wider community assets. 

 
15. Key findings from the review included: 
 

 A shared care agreement is still needed, but current tasks are outdated. 

 Training is required to support the implementation of any revised Protocol. 

 The delegation of tasks improves patient experience. 

 The lack of formalised contract documents for the training remains a significant 
risk. 

 There is a lack of visibility and ownership of risk at senior management level in 
the delivery of the current Protocol; 

 The lack of uptake of the current training offer is an ongoing issue; 

 There is a need for a visible and consistent partner wide communication plan to 
promote and embed the Protocol and the training; 

 There needs to be a clear specification for the training provider, with targets 
linked to promotion and take up rates. 

 An understanding of the principles of the current Protocol is not widely embedded 
across health and social care at a grass roots level. 

 
Covid-19 pandemic 

 
16. Due to business continuity pressures arising across all partner organisations from 

the Covid-19 pandemic, activity relating to the review was suspended from early 
March 2020. Activity resumed from November 2020. 

 
 

203



 

LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care 
 

17. The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care has subsequently been 
developed by partners. It is proposed that this framework supersedes the LLR 
Health and Social Care Protocol (2014). The fundamental principle of this 
Framework is that care commissioned and delivered to the patients and residents is 
person-centred and tailored to meet their individual needs. 
 

18. The purpose of the new framework is to support the undertaking of tasks on behalf 
of a partner agency in a way that is safe, appropriate and equitable. This is a 
reciprocal arrangement between Health and Social Care meaning that staff from 
Health may undertake some Social Care tasks and staff from Social Care may 
undertake some Health tasks. All staff will receive appropriate training and be 
assessed for competency for any task that they are required to undertake. Proper 
clinical oversight will be maintained over the person’s health needs in relation to any 
delegated healthcare task. 

 
19. The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care builds upon existing best 

practices, but deliberately avoids a defined task approach in favour of a Multi-
Disciplinary Team (MDT) approach to support planning which is both person 
centred and an effective support of the individual in meeting their health and social 
care needs and desired outcomes and represents value for money. Officers across 
the County have been using a template for identifying needs and how to apportion 
costs associated with meeting needs, currently these costs are reviewed and 
agreed at meetings held between council officers and colleagues from health at bi-
weekly meetings. 

 
20. The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care is comprised of two parts: 

 
a) Part A - Management Guidance - Identifies the principles, statutory duties and 

national guidance that underpin and inform decision making around the 
delegation of support tasks between Health and Social Care. 
 

b) Part B - Practice Guidance - Identifies the elements required to support 
appropriate delegation and aims to help registered practitioners and 
commissioning workers understand the decision-making process involved in 
safe and effective delegation of a task from one provider/organisation to 
another. 
 

21. The third work strand of the review is to complete an audit and review of the training 
offer with a view to developing an interim model that is cost-effective and targeted 
against commissioned support.  Training and assessment for competency of 
generic tasks is currently provided through LPT, which supports the existing Health 
and Social Care Protocol document. Work has been undertaken with providers 
across LLR to ascertain the most commonly practiced generic tasks (as per the 
existing protocol) with a view to informing an interim training offer delivered in much 
shorter packages. There will be an additional learning and development 
requirement for provider and commissioning staff associated with implementation of 
the framework and agreed processes. 

 
 
 

204



 

Governance 
 
22. Whilst there is no lower limit on the provision of health care, Section 22 of the Care 

Act 2014 places both a lower limit and an upper limit on the provision of funded 
social care by a local authority. A local authority may not meet needs by providing 
or arranging for the provision of a service or facility that is required to be provided 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 unless: 

 

 doing so would be merely incidental or ancillary to doing something else to meet 
needs under those sections; and 

 the service or facility in question would be of a nature that the local authority could 
be expected to provide. 

 
23. Where consensus around assessment or care planning has not been achieved 

through a meeting of the MDT (i.e. Integrated Neighbourhood Team), a shared care 
discussion will be convened for resolution. Decisions from the shared care 
discussion will be documented and shared with the Integrated Personalised Care 
Board, which provides overall governance responsibility for this Framework. Where 
cases are jointly funded, disputes will be taken via the existing LLR inter-agency 
resolution policy. 

 
24. Overall proposed governance arrangements for the LLR Framework for Integrated 

Personalised Care will be through LLR place based groups: 
 

 Health and Wellbeing Board - Leicestershire; 

 Joint Integrated Commissioning Board - Leicester City; 

 Integration Delivery Group - Rutland. 
 
 Clinical governance will be through the LLR Clinical Executive. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
25. Whilst there are no immediate procurement implications identified as part of this 

work, the existing LPT training offer is funded through the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
and is not underpinned by a formal contract, Service Level Agreement or key 
performance indicators. As part of the review, it is intended that intelligence gathered 
from the analysis of the revised training offer will inform the requirements for the 
service. This is likely to result in the development of a Service Specification and 
associated market testing which may lead to procurement activity in 2021/22. 
 

26. Care will be delivered ensuring the best value for money; this relates particularly to 
call frequency and workforce skills. The aim will be to utilise wider services, including 
reviewing any health or social care services the person is already receiving and 
utilising wider community services and resources, including the use of Assistive 
Technology. 

 
27. Additionally, any financial cost and recovery associated with a commissioned support 

package will be appropriately apportioned to the organisation accountable for the 
delivery or delegation of the said task. Where a healthcare task has been identified, 
care must not be disrupted and, where there is an identified gap in services, 
additional care will be commissioned and delivered by health services without 
prejudice until a funding decision is made. 

205



 

 
28. Whilst the proposed introduction of the new framework builds upon existing 

integration work across LLR localities, resource implications are being identified 
through the Integrated Personalised Care Board for communicating system changes 
across locality MDT’s and Provider organisations.  
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
29. Partner organisations to establish governance arrangements and timetables for 

review and approval of this framework.  
  

Organisation Governing body Date signed off  

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group  

LLR Clinical Executive  Review and approval 

Leicester City 
Council 

JICB w/c 22nd February 2021 

Rutland County 
Council  

IDG 25th March 2021 

Leicestershire 
County Council  

Health Work and 
Wellbeing Board -County 

8th July 2021 

 
30. At the time of writing this report additional Covid-19 pandemic restrictions remain in 

place and the fourth phase of easing the road map has been delayed. The 
Department will be considering the impact of these, in line with Government, 
alongside partner organisations.  

 
Background papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet: 18 September 2020: Adults and Communities Department Strategy  
2020-24 – Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire  

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4 

Report to the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 8 March 2021 – 
Framework for Integrated Personalised Care 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6461 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Tracy Ward, Interim Assistant Director 
Telephone:  0116 3057563 
E-mail:  tracy.ward@leics.gov.uk  
 
Fay Bayliss, Deputy Director of Integration and Transformation 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs 
E-mail:  fay.bayliss@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Appendix A - LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care - Part A 

 Appendix B - LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care- Part B 
 
 

206

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6461
mailto:tracy.ward@leics.gov.uk


 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
31. An Equality and Human Rights screening assessment is being completed, but there 

is no change in delivery of integrated health and social care services as these are 
currently being delivered under the current Health and Social Care Plan.  
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
 

32. The Framework for Integrated Personalised Care is overseen by the Integrated 
Personalised Care Board (IPCB). The purpose of the Board is to co-ordinate and 
drive the delivery of the Framework by providing; appropriate expertise, steer and 
recommendations to facilitate the delivery of principles to support the LLR 
Community Services model. 
 

33. The framework has been jointly developed by partner organisations operating across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  The Board is jointly chaired by LCC ASC and 
LLR CCG’s and is representative of: 

 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicester City Council 

 Leicestershire County Council 

 Rutland County Council 

 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 Midland & Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 

 Primary care 
 

 
34. Work to implement the Framework will be undertaken jointly through the direction of 

the IPCB, with representatives reporting as appropriate through their organisational 
governance routes. 
 

207



This page is intentionally left blank



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

1 
 

 

 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Framework for  

Integrated Personalised Care 

Part A -Management Guidance 

1.0 Introduction: 
 

1.1 The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Framework for Integrated 

Personalised Care supersedes the LLR Health and Social Care Protocol 

(2014) and is underpinned by the LLR Person-Centred Leadership 

Framework. 

1.2 The fundamental principle of this Framework is that care commissioned and 

delivered to the patients and citizens of LLR is person-centred and tailored to 

meet their individual needs. 

1.3 It’s purpose is to support the undertaking of tasks on behalf of a partner 

agency in a way that is safe, appropriate and equitable. This is a reciprocal 

arrangement between Health and Social Care meaning that staff from Health 

may undertake some Social Care tasks and staff from Social Care may 

undertake some Health tasks. All staff will receive appropriate training and be 

assessed for competency for any task that they are required to undertake. 

Proper clinical oversight will be maintained over the person’s health needs in 

relation to any delegated healthcare task. Additionally, any financial cost and 

recovery associated with a commissioned support package will be 

appropriately apportioned to the organisation accountable for the delivery or 

delegation of the said task. 

1.4 Therefore, the following sections are designed to facilitate constructive and 

effective dialogue, supported by national legislation and guidance, between 

partners across the LLR Integrated Care System to achieve this end. 

2.0 Background: 

2.1 This framework has been jointly developed by the following partner 
organisations operating across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland: 

 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicester City Council 

209



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

2 
 

 Leicestershire County Council 

 Rutland County Council 

 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 Midland & Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 

 Primary care 
 
2.3 The development of this framework has emerged from a review of the LLR 

Health and Social Care Protocol (2014) in a context of growing demand, with 
increasing complexity of need, and reducing resources across all health and 
social care partners and against a backdrop of ongoing budgetary pressures 
and significant challenge in relation to capacity across all parts of the system.  

 
2.4 In addition to this there has been an ongoing drive towards integration across 

Health and Social Care, including the development of Integrated 
Neighbourhood teams operating in relation to Primary Care Networks, 
recognising that local arrangements for this between localities. A variety of 
solutions, including Home First support and the effective utilisation of the 
voluntary sector and wider community assets, and/or new ways of working are 
also emerging in different geographies across LLR.  

 

2.5 This Framework builds upon the best practices established by the LLR Health 

and Social Care Protocol (2014), as outlined in the principles below, but 

deliberately avoids a defined task approach in favour of a MDT approach to 

support planning which is both person centred and an effective support of the 

individual and represents value for money 

3.0 Principles: 
 

3.1  Care and Support is person-centred.  Discussions and decisions around 

care requirements will involve the person where possible and their families 

and carers.  The principle of supporting people in their home where-ever 

possible will apply. To achieve this, services will be delivered in an integrated 

way to meet the person’s health and social care needs. This will  ensure that 

care is well co-ordinated and provides a better patient experience.  This 

approach will provide continuity because the person will continue to have the 

involvement of support they are already familiar with where possible and 

appropriate, with a view to building system resilience and optimising health, 

wellbeing and independence. (Home First Principles) 

 

3.2  Efficient use of resources.  Care will be delivered ensuring the best value 

for money; this relates particularly to call frequency and workforce skills. We 

will aim to utilise wider services, including reviewing any health or social care 

210



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

3 
 

services the person is already receiving and utilising wider community 

services and resources, including the use of Assistive Technology. 

 

 

3.3  Trusted assessment.  Trust is established through constructive and 

transparent dialogue between partners. Trusted assessment reduces the 

need for multiple or duplicate assessments, streamlines the experiences for 

people and ensures the efficient use of system resources.   

 

3.4  “If you’re there and competent to perform a task, then do it!”  This long-

standing LLR principle supports the previous two. This is a reciprocal 

arrangement between Health and Social Care meaning that staff from Health 

may undertake some Social Care tasks and staff from Social Care may 

undertake some Health tasks, following appropriate training and assessment 

of competency.  Where additional ad hoc tasks become regular occurrences, 

it may be necessary to re-evaluate the effectiveness of a care plan and modify 

a care package accordingly. 

 

 

3.5 Timely, effective reviews of care and care planning.  A person’s needs will 

fluctuate and it is important to ensure that commissioned care is effective, 

responsive and constitutes value for money.   

 

3.6  MDT decision making.  For care to be holistic and personalised the 

perspectives of all relevant professional disciplines should be represented in 

discussions with service users and families/carers.  The MDT is empowered 

and supported to make decisions. 

 

 

3.7  Asset-based approach to care planning.  Commissioned care should 

promote independence and support people to maintain health and well-being.  

People should be supported to self-care wherever possible. 

 

3.8 Make Every Contact Count.  All conversations present opportunities for 

care-givers to assess the health and wellbeing of patients, citizens and their 

211



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

4 
 

carers; signposting and referring to appropriate services or support groups as 

appropriate. 

 

 

3.9 Effective clinical governance.  There will be appropriate clinical oversight of 

care from the most appropriate clinical service, including specific clinical 

governance for the actual activity or task being delegated; either primary care 

or community nursing for patients in receipt of these services. 

4.0 Statutory Duties and National Guidance: 
 

4.1 A range of Statutory Frameworks and Guidance documents underpin and 

inform decision making around the delegation of support tasks between 

Health and Social Care. This section provides a brief overview of some key 

definitions and their sources for reference.  

 

4.2 The National Framework for Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care 

(2018) provides helpful guidance around determining health and social care 

needs 

(Paragraph 50) 

 

4.3 What is a health need? 

Whilst there is not a legal definition of a health need (in the context of NHS 

Continuing Healthcare), in general terms it can be said that such a need is 

one related to the treatment, control, management or prevention of a disease, 

illness, injury or disability, and the care or aftercare of a person with these 

needs (whether or not the tasks involved have to be carried out by a health 

professional). 

(Paragraph 51) 

4.4 What is a social care need? 

An individual has eligible needs under the Care Act 2014 where these needs 

arise from (or relate to) a physical or mental impairment or illness which 

results in them being unable to achieve two or more of the following 

outcomes which is, or is likely to have, a significant impact on their wellbeing:  

• managing and maintaining nutrition;  

212



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

5 
 

• maintaining personal hygiene;  

• managing toilet needs;  

• being appropriately clothed;  

• being able to make use of the home safely;  

• maintaining a habitable home environment;  

• developing and maintaining family or other personal relationships;  

• accessing and engaging in work, training, education or volunteering;  

• making use of necessary facilities or services in the local community, 

including public transport and recreational facilities or services; and  

• carrying out any caring responsibilities the adult has for a child. 

 

4.5 In addition, 

(Paragraph 43) 

Section 22 of the Care Act 2014 places a limit on the care and support that 

can lawfully be provided to individuals by local authorities. That limit is set out 

in section 22(1) and is as follows: 

A local authority may not meet needs under sections 18 to 20 by providing or 

arranging for the provision of a service or facility that is required to be 

provided under the National Health Service Act 2006 unless-  

(a) doing so would be merely incidental or ancillary to doing something 

else to meet needs under those sections, and 

 (b) the service or facility in question would be of a nature that the local 

authority could be expected to provide’. 

 

 Joint Packages 

4.6 If a person is not eligible for NHS Continuing Healthcare, they may potentially 

receive a joint package of health and social care. This is where an individual’s 

care or support package is funded by both the NHS and the local authority. 

This may apply where specific needs have been identified through the 

Decision Support Tools that are beyond the powers of the local authority to 

meet on its own and are not provided by NHS core services. This could be 

because the specific needs are not of a nature that a local authority could be 

expected to meet, or because they are not incidental or ancillary to something 

213



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

6 
 

which the Local Authority would be doing to meet needs under sections 18-20 

of the Care Act 2014. It should be noted that joint packages can be provided 

in any setting. 

4.7 In all circumstances, delegation does not cancel the duty of care of the NHS 

for delivery of health care tasks whether fully funded by the NHS or jointly or 

to ensure safe delivery of the care package 

 

4.8 Similarly any MDT decision in relation to the delegation of an activity from 

Health to Social Care will have regard to legal limits on what a local authority 

responsible for provision of social care services is lawfully permitted to do. 

5.0 Governance: 
 

5.1 The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Framework for Integrated 

Personalised Care has been jointly developed by the partner organisations 

detailed above. Governance arrangements are through the Integrated 

Personalised Care Board (IPCB), which is a Sub-group of the Primary 

Community and Systems Design Group. The Integrated Personalised Care 

Board will: 

i) Receive reported issues from staff having practical problems with the use of 

the Framework 

ii) Discuss and agree on how reported issues should be dealt with 

iii) Oversee dissemination, promotion of rulings made and issue of new 

guidance 

iv) Oversee updates to the Framework and; issue and promote new versions 

of the Framework 

v) Monitor use of the Framework, with particular regard to its impact on the 

nine equality strands. The protected characteristics covered by the Equality 

Act (2010) are: 

• age  

• disability  

• gender reassignment 

• marriage and civil partnership (but only in respect of eliminating unlawful 

discrimination)  

214



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

7 
 

• pregnancy and maternity  

• race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality 

 • religion or belief – this includes lack of belief  

• gender  

 • sexual orientation 

vi) Oversee training and delegation/competence sign off processes and 

programmes 

vii) Identify new areas for joint and delegated working 

viii) Receive themes from shared care panel for shared learning 

The Integrated Personalised Care Board will include one member from each 

of the partner organisations listed in the introduction. 

 

 

 

 Escalation: 

5.2 Where consensus around assessment or care planning has not been 

achieved through a meeting of the MDT (i.e. Integrated Neighbourhood 

Team), a Shared Care discussion will be convened for resolution. Decisions 

from the Shared care discussion will be documented and shared with the 

Integrated Personalised Care Board, which provides overall governance 

responsibility for this Framework. Documented decisions will form the basis of 

215



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

8 
 

‘best practice’ to support and inform future Integrated Neighbourhood team 

decision making in similar circumstances. 

5.3 Where cases are joint funded, disputes will be taken via Midland & Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit using the existing LLR inter-agency resolution 
policy. 

 

5.4 Where a Healthcare task has been identified, care must not be disrupted and, 

where there is an identified gap in services, additional care will be 

commissioned and delivered by Health services without prejudice until a 

funding decision is made. 

 

  Delegation and Funding: 

5.5 It is important that CCGs, as the responsible bodies for planning and 

commissioning healthcare services in their local area, put in place a clinical 

governance framework for delegation of health tasks to an appropriate partner 

organisation. This means that there should be a clearly identified local 

process for making decisions about what can and cannot be delegated. The 

process should include how training and assessment of competence will be 

provided, how any ongoing support and review of competence will be 

provided, and how ongoing clinical review of the person’s needs is maintained 

and by whom.  

5.6 The healthcare tasks that are delegated to adult social care may be delegated 

to social care workers providing services to all people in all settings (i.e. 

people’s own homes, day care centres, registered care homes, supported 

living units) 

5.7 Whilst many care providers will be contracted to undertake delegated tasks in 

line with this Framework, that task must be formally identified and accepted by 

the provider. Additionally, competency to carry out the task safely and 

appropriately must be established, and consent must always be obtained from 

the person in receipt of support. 

5.8 This Framework draws upon best practice from the NHS England guidance 
document- Delegation of healthcare tasks to personal assistants within 
personal health budgets and Integrated Personal Commissioning (2017).  

 

5.9 The following flowchart illustrates the decision-making process for delegation 

of healthcare tasks to Care Workers: 

 

216



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

9 
 

  

 

5.8 Delegated tasks will be identified and agreed through the locality MDT 

(usually the Integrated Neighbourhood Team)-It is anticipated that the majority 

of these will be straightforward and appropriate, with the relevant training and 

assessed competency, and will be incorporated into the support plan without 

alteration.  

5.9 Where a task is assessed as being straightforward and appropriate, with the 

relevant training and assessed competency, but cannot be incorporated into 

the support plan without alteration, the MDT will agree a new support plan, 

apportioning the cost of any additional commissioned time. See Appendix A: 

flow diagram for delegating and agreeing funding. 

5.10 In each case, it is an important principle that support planning uses a 

partnership approach between the Health and Social care 

practitioners and the person, along with their family and carers as 

appropriate. Consent must be given and recorded on the support plan 

for any task to be delegated. 

5.11 In some instances, the MDT may determine that a task is not appropriate for 

delegation, either for a specific patient or on a broader basis. Some tasks 

must be done by a registered nurse and cannot be delegated. Typically, these 

tasks might include: 

 Administration of intravenous (IV) drugs  
 Some complex dressings for wounds  
 Insertion or removal of a urinary catheter   

217



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

10 
 

 Syringe drivers 

 

This is not an exhaustive list and there will be a corresponding range of tasks 

that are the exclusive remit and domain of Adult Social Care. Additional detail 

will be outlined in the associated Practice Guidance (Part B). The Integrated 

Personalised Care Board will provide governance and oversight for MDT 

decision making, building a repository of case examples that will inform 

development of Practice Guidance and future decision making. 

 

  Clinical oversight: 

5.12 Clinical governance needs to include arrangements for ongoing oversight and 

contact arrangements for advice and reassessment. This is particularly 

important where a patient’s needs are known to be changing or fluctuating, 

but it must be in place in all circumstances. 

5.13 MDT decisions to delegate tasks to social care must take account of clinical 

risk and the clinical record reflect the outcome decision in respect of 

managing the complexity of that risk- 

Primary Care – for patients not in receipt of community nursing or therapy 

service.  For tasks that do not require specific training, such as medication 

prompts or eyedrops, the Primary Care practice associated with the 

Integrated Neighbourhood Team that oversees the individuals 

assessment/support plan will retain clinical governance and ongoing 

oversight, as appropriate, for the delegated task. 

 Community Health Services:  For patients who are open to this service, 

Community Health Services will retain clinical oversight as appropriate, for the 

delegated task. In such circumstances where the activity is an ongoing 

support need, but the patient is no longer open to CHS, arrangements will be 

made to transfer this responsibility to the patients Primary Care practice. 

  

   

Review: 

5.14 Formal MDT reviews of care packages and delegated tasks must take place 

three months after initiation and at 12-month intervals thereafter as a 

minimum; and whenever a change in need has been identified. 

218



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

11 
 

 Where there has been a significant change in need, a MDT meeting should be 

convened to reassess and plan care. 

 

6.0 Training: 
 

6.1 For tasks that can be delegated, the support plan needs to identify how the 
associated training will be provided and who will be responsible for 
assessment of competence, ongoing support to the Care worker, and clinical 
review of the person’s needs. The approach to provision of appropriate 
training and assessment of competence of Care workers in healthcare tasks 
is likely to vary from one locality to another and will need to be proportionate 
to the specific task. The following are the key components to be considered in 
order to establish an appropriate local system for training and assessment of 
competence:  

 Identification of the healthcare task/s most likely to be delegated.  

 Identifying and agreeing the knowledge and skills required to achieve 
competence in each task.  

 Development of training materials for each task.  

 Identification of how and by whom the knowledge training will be 
delivered and assessed and the standard it will be assessed against.  

 Identifying how and by whom the skills training will be delivered, 
competence assessed and the standard it will be assessed against.  

 Identifying how achievement of competence will be recorded.  

o Identifying how and when any refresher training and 
reassessment of competence will be provided.  

 Identifying ongoing support requirements.  

 Identifying a process to follow when a Care Worker does not achieve 
the required competence.  

 Establishing how the Care Worker will be able to be released for 
training and any backfill costs met.  

o Identifying any associated risks related to delivery of the task 
and providing relevant training for the Care Worker to know how 
to deliver the task safely, avoiding injury to the person and to 
themselves. 

 

 

 

 

 

219



Framework for integrated personalised care  APPENDIX A 
 
 

12 
 

Appendix A 

 

 

220



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

1 
 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Framework for 

Integrated Personalised Care 

 

Part B - Practice Guidance 
 

 

1.0   Introduction. 

 
1.1 This Practice Guidance is for registered practitioners, commissioning staff and 

provider organisations engaged in the planning and provision of health and 
social care support to individuals.  
 

1.2 The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care supersedes the LLR 
Health and Social Care Protocol (2014) and is underpinned by the LLR 
Person-Centred Leadership Framework. It has been developed to support the 
undertaking of tasks on behalf of a partner agency in a way that is safe, 
appropriate and equitable. Therefore, the following sections are designed to 
facilitate constructive and effective dialogue, supported by national legislation 
and guidance, between partners across the LLR Integrated Care System to 
achieve this end. 
 

1.3 The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care is comprised of two 
parts: 

 Part A- Management Guidance 

 Part B- Practice Guidance 
 
1.4 This Part B- Practice Guidance identifies the elements required to support 

appropriate delegation and aims to help registered practitioners and 
commissioning workers understand the decision-making process involved in 
safe and effective delegation of a task from one provider /organisation to 
another. 
 

1.5 It is important to note that registered practitioners are professionals who are 
regulated by statute and so are specifically accountable to their regulatory 
body as well as to their employer. This guidance does not circumvent any 
standards for delegation set by their regulatory body, which they are required 
to meet (e.g. the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) for nurses, midwives 
and health visitors, and the Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) for 
physiotherapists, occupational therapists, dieticians, speech and language 
therapists).  

 
1.6 A range of Statutory Frameworks and Guidance documents which underpin 

and inform decision making around the delegation of support tasks between 

221



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

2 
 

Health and Social Care, including any limitations, are outlined in Part A- 
Management Guidance which sets out the following principles: 

 
1.7 Principles: 
 

 Care and Support is person-centred.  Discussions and decisions around 

care requirements will involve the person where possible and their families 

and carers.  The principle of supporting people in their home where-ever 

possible will apply. To achieve this, services will be delivered in an integrated 

way to meet the person’s health and social care needs. This will ensure that 

care is well co-ordinated and provides a better patient experience.  This 

approach will provide continuity because the person will continue to have the 

involvement of support they are already familiar with where possible and 

appropriate, with a view to building system resilience and optimising health, 

wellbeing and independence. (Home First Principles) 

 

 Efficient use of resources.  Care will be delivered ensuring the best value 

for money; this relates particularly to call frequency and workforce skills. We 

will aim to utilise wider services, including reviewing any health or social care 

services the person is already receiving and utilising wider community 

services and resources, including the use of Assistive Technology. 

 

 Trusted assessment.  Trust is established through constructive and 

transparent dialogue between partners. Trusted assessment reduces the 

need for multiple or duplicate assessments, streamlines the experiences for 

people and ensures the efficient use of system resources.   

 

 “If you’re there and competent to perform a task, then do it!”  This long-

standing LLR principle supports the previous two. This is a reciprocal 

arrangement between Health and Social Care meaning that staff from Health 

may undertake some Social Care tasks and staff from Social Care may 

undertake some Health tasks, following appropriate training and assessment 

of competency.  Where additional ad hoc tasks become regular occurrences, 

it may be necessary to re-evaluate the effectiveness of a care plan and modify 

a care package accordingly. 

 

 Timely, effective reviews of care and care planning.  A person’s needs will 

fluctuate, and it is important to ensure that commissioned care is effective, 

responsive and constitutes value for money.   

 

 MDT decision making.  For care to be holistic and personalised the 

perspectives of all relevant professional disciplines should be represented in 

222



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

3 
 

discussions with service users and families/carers.  The MDT is empowered 

and supported to make decisions. 

 

 Asset-based approach to care planning.  Commissioned care should 

promote independence and support people to maintain health and well-being.  

People should be supported to self-care wherever possible. 

 

 Make Every Contact Count.  All conversations present opportunities for 

care-givers to assess the health and wellbeing of patients, citizens and their 

carers; signposting and referring to appropriate services or support groups as 

appropriate. 

 

 Effective clinical governance.  There will be appropriate clinical oversight of 

care from the most appropriate clinical service, including specific clinical 

governance for the actual activity or task being delegated, either primary care 

or community nursing for patients in receipt of these services. 
 

1.8 The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care builds upon the best 
practices but deliberately avoids a defined task approach in favour of a Multi-
Disciplinary Team (MDT) approach to support planning which is both person 
centred and an effective support of the individual in meeting their needs and 
desired outcomes and represents value for money.  

 

2.0      What do we mean by delegation? 
 
2.1      The LLR Framework for Integrated Personalised Care aims to support the 

undertaking of tasks on behalf of a partner agency in a way that is safe, 
appropriate and equitable. This is a reciprocal arrangement between Health 
and Social Care, referred to as ‘delegation’, meaning that staff from Health 
may undertake some Social Care tasks and staff from Social Care may 
undertake some Health tasks. These are referred to as ‘delegated tasks.’ 

 
2.2      The healthcare tasks that are delegated to adult social care may be delegated 

to social care workers who provide services to all people in all settings (i.e., 
people’s own homes, day care centres, registered care homes, supported 
living units).  

 
2.3      All staff should receive appropriate training and be assessed for competency 

for any delegated task that they are requested and agreed to undertake. 
 
2.4      Formal clinical oversight will be maintained over the person’s health needs in 

relation to any delegated healthcare task. Additionally, any agreed financial 
cost and recovery associated with a commissioned support package will be 
appropriately apportioned to the organisation accountable for the delivery or 
delegation of the said task. 

 

223



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

4 
 

3.0      A robust process for delegation. 

 
3.1      Delegation should be recognised as something that is a considered process 

and properly supported. This will help ensure that the support needs of the 
person are always paramount, that tasks taken on by Health and Social Care 
workers are appropriate, and that individual workers are provided with 
relevant training and assessed as competent to perform the task. 

 
3.2      The decision-making flowchart below can be helpful in thinking through the 

initial steps of the process: 
 

Decision Matrix One- Can the task be delegated? 
 

  
 
 
3.3      In some instances a task may not be considered appropriate for delegation, 

either for a specific patient or on a broader basis. Some tasks must be done 
by a registered nurse and cannot be delegated. Typically, these tasks might 
include:  

 

 Administration of intravenous (IV) drugs  

 Some complex dressings for wounds  

 Insertion or removal of an indwelling urinary catheter  

 Syringe drivers 
 

This is not an exhaustive list and there will be a corresponding range of tasks 
that are the exclusive remit and domain of Adult Social Care. 

 
3.4      Whilst many care providers will be contracted to undertake delegated tasks in 

line with the Framework, all tasks must still be formally identified and 

224



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

5 
 

accepted by the provider. Additionally, competency to carry out the task safely 
and appropriately must be established.   

 
3.5      The decision matrix below can be helpful in identifying the steps required to 

ensure clarity around the task being delegated, who will be undertaking the 

delegated task and assurance that they have been assessed as having the 

skills and competency required to do so. 

Matrix 2: Delegation to Health and Social Care workers-  

 

 

Box 1: Feasibility 

Feasibility includes consideration of time constraints, resources, 
capabilities and cost. 

Box 3: Competence and confidence  
When considering if the care worker*  is competent and 
confident to carry out the task, note the following:  
  
• Does the provider organisation/employer consider 
themselves to be confident and competent to carry out 
the task?  

225



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

6 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.0 Training 
 
4.1 For tasks that can be delegated, the support plan or written plan of care 

needs to identify how the associated training will be provided and who will be 
responsible for assessment of competence, ongoing support to the care 
worker, and clinical review of the person’s needs.  

 
4.2      The approach to provision of appropriate training and assessment of 

competence of care workers for delegated healthcare tasks is likely to vary 
from one locality to another and will need to be proportionate to the specific 
task. The following are the key components to be considered in order to 
establish an appropriate local system for training and assessment of 
competence:   

 

 Identification of the healthcare tasks to be delegated.   
 Identifying and agreeing the knowledge and skills required to achieve 

competence in each task (see 4.4).   
 Development of training materials for each task.   
 Identification of how and by whom the knowledge training will be 

delivered and assessed and the standard it will be assessed against.   
 Identifying how and by whom the skills training will be delivered, 

competence assessed and the standard it will be assessed against.   
 Identifying how achievement of competence will be recorded.   
 Identifying how and when any refresher training and reassessment of 

competence will be provided.   
 Identifying ongoing support requirements.   
 Identifying a process to follow when a care worker does not achieve   

the required competence.   
 Identifying any associated risks related to delivery of the task and 

providing relevant training for the care worker to know how to deliver 
the task safely, avoiding injury to the person and to themselves.  

 
4.3      To support the requirements identified in 4.2 above, there are a range of 

Learning and Development courses available to Providers.  
 
 
4.4 Tasks that can be delegated from the NHS to Social Care are categorised as 

either generic or specific.  These terms relate to the type of training that is 
required to be undertaken by care workers before they are deemed 
competent to carry out the task. 

 

Box 2: Knowledge, skills and training. 
Determine whether the careworker* has sufficient knowledge, skills and 
training bearing in mind the following: 
• Has the care worker* been trained to carry out the task? 
• When was the training last given? 
• Has the task changed since training and has training been updated? 

*Careworker refers to any person delivering care and support in a paid professional capacity, including staff working for 
Domiciliary agencies or individuals through Direct payments, Residential Homes and other building based service 
provision. 

 

226



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

7 
 

 Generic – once the care worker has undertaken training for a generic task, 

they will be deemed competent to carry out that task with all and any 

individuals that require it. 

 Specific – these are tasks that require care workers to undertake one to one 

training for each and every individual person before they are deemed 

competent to carry out that task only with the individual that requires it. 

  
4.5 Generic training will focus on the seven tasks identified as those most 

frequently used by a group of service providers.  These tasks are: 
 

 Task 1 - Apply steroid based creams at above 1% 

 Task 2 - Administer eye / ear drops, for individuals that need artificial tears or 
medication except pre or post operatively 

 Task 3 - Monitor the condition of the skin where there is a risk of pressure 
ulcers developing and refer to a health worker if required (specific to care 
homes) 

 Task 4 - Assist individuals to eat who are at risk of choking and where the 
risk is managed by a standard plan of care (e.g. thickened fluids, softened 
diet) 

 Task 5 - Use of NHS provided equipment to lower the risk of pressure sores 

 Task 6 - Manage stoma, colostomy, ileostomy and urostomy care systems 

 Task 7 - Undertake blood sugar finger prick test for diabetics where included 
in their plan of care and take appropriate follow up action 

 
4.6 The training will be operated and administered through LPT training. All 

training will be delivered by a Registered Nurse and will be competency 
based.  Training options available to care providers consequent to the 
completion of the Training Needs Analysis and covid-19 risk assessment will 
be: 

  
One day classroom training 
 
This session covers the 7 generic tasks across a one-day classroom session.  
The competency of each delegate will be assessed through them providing a 
practical demonstration to the trainer.  This training can be delivered in any 
location where a suitably sized and risk assessed venue can be provided.  
This will include on care provider’s premises and in LPT training facilities.  
Wherever possible a no cost venue will be sourced. 
 
 
Bitesize training 
 
This option allows delegates to attend sessions no longer than 60 minutes 
during which specific tasks will be taught and competencies assessed. Which 
tasks are taught can be agreed through the completion of the Training Needs 
Analysis.  It will be possible to attain competency in more than one task in a 
single bitesize session where generic tasks are closely associated.  Delegates 

227



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

8 
 

will be able to achieve compliance with all 7 generic tasks through attending a 
number of bitesize sessions over a period of time.   
 
It is anticipated that bitesize training will usually take place on care provider 
premises at a time which causes least disruption to service provision.  
Bitesize training may also be delivered through MS Teams as long as it is 
possible to check competency virtually.   
 
 
 
Blended learning 
 
This option allows delegates to access virtual learning opportunities, such as 
video presentations and e-learning.  Such learning may be sourced directly 
through LPT or from other sources.  The LPT Learning & Development 
Technology Enhanced Learning Team can create and edit video content as 
required and can also develop e-learning packages.  Having accessed virtual 
learning, delegates will be required to undertake a competency check either 
face to face or through MS Teams. 
 
Standalone competency checking  
 
Where a delegate, or group of delegates, report through their Training Needs 
Analysis that they have already attained the skills required to undertake the 
generic tasks, they will be able to access a competency check.  Skills may 
have already been acquired through clinical practice in current or previous 
roles.  Rather than attend IPCF training, delegates will be offered the 
opportunity to demonstrate competency and if competent can be signed off as 
such. 
 
Competency checks can be completed through a face to face meeting or 
where assessed as appropriate through virtual means such as MS Teams. 
 
Approval of prior learning (APEL) 
 
Where a delegate, or group of delegates, report through the Training Needs 
Analysis that they have previously attended other training related to the 
generic tasks, they will be asked to provide documentary evidence.  Any 
evidence provided will be checked by LPT and where acceptable, this will 
accepted as evidence of accreditation of prior learning and the delegate can 
be signed off as competent.  Evidence must demonstrate that competence 
was checked and demonstrated.  Training must have been attended within 
the previous 3 years. 
 
Where training has been attended, but competency not checked, the delegate 
will be able to submit evidence of training attended and request a competency 
check. 

 
 

5.0 Roles, responsibility and accountability. 

228



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

9 
 

 
5.1      Accountability for delegation is a consideration for all those involved, including 

senior managers, registered practitioners and commissioners. 
 
5.2      Delegated tasks will be identified and agreed through the locality MDT 

(usually the Integrated Neighbourhood Team). It is anticipated that the 
majority of these will be straightforward and appropriate, with the relevant 
training and assessed competency, and will be clearly incorporated into the 
support plan without alteration. Where the task cannot be incorporated into 
the support plan without alteration, the MDT will agree a new support plan, 
apportioning the cost of any additional commissioned time. See Appendix A. 

 
5.3      A registered practitioner who delegates a task remains accountable for the 

appropriateness of the delegation and ensuring that the person who does the 
work is able to do it. They cannot delegate that accountability. However, 
provided the decision to delegate is made appropriately they are not 
accountable for the decisions and actions of the organisation or associated 
Health and Social Care workers to whom they delegate. The individual 
organisation is accountable for accepting the delegated task and responsible 
for their actions in carrying it out in line with the training received. 

 
 Clinical oversight 
 
5.4      Clinical governance needs to include arrangements for ongoing clinical 

oversight and contact arrangements for advice and reassessment. This is 
particularly important where a patient’s needs are known to be changing or 
fluctuating, but it must be in place in all circumstances.  

 

5.5      MDT decisions to delegate tasks to social care must take account of clinical 
risk and the clinical record reflect the outcome decision in respect of 
managing the complexity of that risk-  

 

Primary Care – for patients not in receipt of community nursing or therapy 
service.  For tasks that do not require specific training, such as medication 
prompts, the Primary Care practice associated with the Integrated 
Neighbourhood Team that oversees the individuals assessment/support plan 
will retain clinical governance and ongoing oversight, as appropriate, for the 
delegated task.  
 

Community Health Services:  For patients who are open to this service, 
Community Health Services will retain clinical oversight as appropriate, for the 
delegated task. In such circumstances where the activity is an ongoing 
support need, but the patient is no longer open to CHS, arrangements will be 
made to transfer this responsibility to the patients Primary Care practice.  

 
 

6.0      Governance. 
 

229



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

10 
 

6.1      Governance arrangements for the Framework for Integrated Personalised 
Care are through the Integrated Personalised Care Board (IPCB), which is a 
Sub-group of the Primary Community and System Design Group.  

 
6.1      The IPCB will:  
 

i) Receive reported issues from staff having practical problems with the use of 
the Framework  

 
ii) Discuss and agree on how reported issues should be dealt with  

 
iii) Oversee dissemination, promotion of rulings made and issue of new 
guidance  

 
iv) Oversee updates to the Framework and issue and promote new versions 
of the Framework  

 
v) Monitor use of the Framework, with particular regard to its impact on the 
nine equality strands.  

 
vi) Oversee training and delegation/competence sign off processes and 
programmes  

 
vii) Identify new areas for joint and delegated working  

 
viii) Receive themes from shared care panel for shared learning  

 
 
6.2 Governance arrangements are illustrated below: 
 

 
 
 

230



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

11 
 

7.0      Escalation:  
 

7.1      Where consensus around assessment or care planning has not been 
achieved through a meeting of the MDT (i.e. Integrated Neighbourhood 
Team), a Shared Care forum for MDT discussions as per local arrangements 
will be convened for resolution. Decisions from the Shared care discussion 
will be documented and shared with the Integrated Personalised Care Board, 
which provides overall governance responsibility for this Framework. 
Documented decisions will form the basis of ‘best practice’ to support and 
inform future Integrated Neighbourhood Team decision making in similar 
circumstances.  

 

7.2      Where cases are joint funded, disputes will be taken via Midland & Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit using the existing LLR inter-agency resolution 
policy.  

  
7.3      Where a healthcare task has been identified, care must not be disrupted and, 

where there is an identified gap in services, additional care will be 
commissioned and delivered by health services without prejudice until a 
funding decision is made.  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

231



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

12 
 

 

 

 

 

232



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

13 
 

 Appendix A 

 

 

233



Framework for Integrated Personalised Care    APPENDIX B 
 

14 
 

Shared Care process 

 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

            

        

 

 

  

 

A Health or Social Care worker identifies 

that a person appears to have both health 

and social care needs (see Care Act for 

definitions) 

 

The worker arranges an MDT meeting 

with the person; family (if appropriate); 

and relevant professionals 

 

At the meeting, the care plan is agreed with 

the person and Shared Care form is 

completed by Health and/or Social Care 

 

Head of Service arranges Shared Care panel 

with relevant CCG 

Social Care worker sends the Shared Care 

form to their Head of Service 

 

Head of Service informs worker of funding 

decision 

At the panel meeting, the person’s care 

plan is analysed to establish which 

elements should be provided and/or 

funded by the NHS or social care  

234



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual 

Report 2020/2021 and to reflect on the progress that has been made. The period 
covered in the Annual report has been a difficult and challenging time for Board 
members and residents of Leicestershire and the report highlights progress that has 
been made despite those difficulties, to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
population of Leicestershire.  
 

Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board: 
 

a) Notes the progress that has been made during the period 2020/2021; 
 

b) Approves the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report for publication. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. The previous Health and Wellbeing Board Annual report was approved by the Board 

in July 2020.  
 
Background 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020/2021 includes the following 

information: 
 

a. An overview of some of the key achievements and outcomes that have been 
delivered by the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2020/2021 including the response 
of the local Health and Care system in managing the Coronavirus pandemic, a 
Board development session on Wider Determinants and Health Inequalities and 
update on the progressing Primary Care Networks. 

 
b. Reviews and consultation on the Suicide Prevention Strategy (Strategic 

Approach), Sexual Health Strategy and Health Weight Strategy. 
 

c. An update from Healthwatch Leicestershire highlighting that despite the 
challenges they continued to play an effective role championing the patient voice, 
especially influencing health service engagement priorities in areas such as 
inclusive and accessible marketing and effective communications. 

235 Agenda Item 17



2 
 

 
d. A look ahead which will involve a refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy, maximising the use of the Technology Enabled Care Service and 
scheduling the new Joint Strategic Needs Assessment chapters to inform the 
Boards strategic thinking and commissioning of services.  

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  
Telephone: 0116 305 4239 
 

Jo Hewitt 
Health and Wellbeing Board Manager 
Jo.hewitt@leics.gov.uk  
Telephone: 0116 305 2602 
 

Appendix 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020/2021 

236

mailto:Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jo.hewitt@leics.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board
Annual Report 2020 – 2021

237



2  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Contents
Foreword - Mr Lee Breckon JP CC - Lead Member for Health 

and Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board  3

Introduction 4

 

Section A 5
Integration And The Better Care Fund 5

Key Achievements 6

Unified Prevention Board 8

Children and families partnership board 9

 

Section B 11
Coronavirus Pandemic Impact and Response of the Local Care System 11

Suicide and Prevention Strategic Approach 12

Sexual Health Strategy 13

Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan 13

Report of CAMHS Action plan 14

Primary Care Networks  15

Healthy Weight Strategy 16

Board Development Session 17

JSNA 18

JSNA 2018-21  18

Engagement  19

Communications Campaigns 19

Healthwatch Leicestershire - Reflecting back 2020 21

Section C 23
Technology Enabled Care 23

Integrated Care Systems 24

Air Quality and Health Workstream  25

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 26

JSNA Refresh 26

Moving forward 27

238



3  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Foreword - Mr Lee Breckon JP CC
Welcome to the annual report of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board which covers the period April 2020 to March 2021. The report 
highlights key areas of work that have contributed to delivering our joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017 – 2022, how we have worked 
together and how we have fulfilled our statutory requirement of continuing 
to develop our Joint Strategic Needs Assessments. 

The report also references plans to produce a refreshed joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
which will be published in 2022.  

The annual report provides an ideal opportunity for me to acknowledge the difficulties that 
residents in Leicestershire have faced during the pandemic along with the incredible and 
significant work that the various health partners which are represented on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board have contributed to the response, vaccination programme and recovery phase. 
The annual report is only a snapshot of the work covered during the period which has obviously 
been impacted by partner organisations involvement with the pandemic.  

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Health and Wellbeing Board members for their 
hard work and commitment to improving the health and wellbeing of Leicestershire’s residents, 
and to remind everyone that the Board’s meetings are open to the public to attend and you can 
also watch back at your convenience via the County Council’s Youtube channel.

IT’S POPULATION TENDS
TO BE OLDER THAN THAT
OF ENGLAND AS A WHOLE

HAS A POPULATION OF

706,155

20.5% PEOPLE

84.3 vs 83.4

33.0% PEOPLE

18.4% PEOPLE

31.7% PEOPLE
AGED 65+

AGED 40-64

AGED 65+

AGED 40-64

The difference between most affluent 
and most deprived areas

6.4 
years 
less for men

5.0 
years 
less for women

LIFE EXPECTANCY

LIFE EXPECTANCY AT BIRTH

LEICESTERSHIRE

80.9 vs 79.8
MALES FEMALES

UK

LEICESTERSHIRE

In Leicestershire remains 
significantly higher than 

in England 

DOWNUP

Mr Lee Breckon JP CC   
 

Lead Member for Health 
and Chairman of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board

239

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXhjTxilkd1lQ9gXqvTdAFbg


4  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Introduction
The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report details the work 
of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board from April 2020 to March 
2021. The focus throughout the report is the progress that has been made 
across the partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of 
Leicestershire as well as providing an opportunity to look forward. 

Health and Wellbeing Boards act as a forum in which key leaders from the local health and care 
system, work together to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and plan how to 
tackle inequalities in health. This is best achieved by a range of organisations working together and 
as a result, the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board brings together key organisations:

• Leicestershire County Council

• West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

• East Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

• District and Borough Council Representatives

• Healthwatch Leicestershire 

• NHS England

• University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

• Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 

• Leicestershire Police

• Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

In Leicestershire, we have increased the membership beyond the statutory requirement to allow us to 
engage with a greater range of partners.

The current health and care landscape will soon be changing, as shortly every area of the Country 
will be operating as Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) achieving a major milestone in the NHS Long 
Term Plan. The ICSs will encourage collaboration between GPs and linked services as ‘Primary Care 
Networks’ that are explained further within this annual report, along with an increase focus on NHS 
organisations working with local partners to plan and deliver services as Integrated Care Systems. 

It is clear the Health and Wellbeing Board will remain in place and will continue to have an important 
responsibility at place level to bring local partners together, as well as developing the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
ICSs will have regard to. The Government has committed to support Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and ICSs, to work together closely to complement each other’s roles, and to share learning and 
expertise to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population.

240



5  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Sub-Group Updates

Integration And The Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a pooled budget between the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the County Council. The BCF for 2020/21 
was set at £62,967,000 targeted at improving the integration of health and 
care within Leicestershire.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has responsibility for approving the BCF for submission to NHS 
England and the implementation of plans arising from this. As in previous years, the BCF plan 
supports the joining up of health and care services so that people can manage their own health 
and wellbeing whilst maintaining their independence. This is supported by all providers and 
commissioners of health, care and housing services, working collectively in partnership, to plan and 
deliver services effectively.

The Integration Executive is a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board with responsibility for 
overseeing day to day delivery of the BCF Plan. 

The BCF plan for 2020/21 is available here (item 7 Appendix A)

As in previous years, regular updates on the implementation of the BCF Plan have been submitted 
throughout the year.

The formal planning process took place at the beginning of the year and an interim refreshed plan 
was reported to members of the Board in April 2020, seeking support for its inclusion into the 
County Council’s and respective CCG’s financial plans.

As has been well documented, the Covid-19 pandemic caused considerable disruption to the BCF 
timetable. Plans were subject to several delays and revisions, throughout the year, before the policy 
statement was finally published on 3 December 2020. The normal requirement for plans to be 
submitted to NHS England for approval, were suspended. Instead, plans had to be agreed by local 
Health and Wellbeing Boards with the final actual spend being submitted at year-end.

The published national conditions for the BCF in 2020/21 were listed as:

• Plans covering all mandatory funding contributions have been agreed by Health and Wellbeing 
Board areas and minimum contributions are pooled in a Section 75 agreement (an agreement 
made under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006)

• The contribution to social care from the CCG via the BCF is agreed and meets or exceeds the 
minimum expectation

• Spend on CCG commissioned out of hospital services meets or exceeds the minimum ringfence

• CCGs and local authorities confirm compliance with the above conditions to their Health and 
Wellbeing Boards.

Section A
241

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6572


6  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Submissions were not required to support the BCF national metrics for 2020/21, but Health and 
Wellbeing Board areas were asked to continue to work as a system to make progress against them. 
National reporting of Delayed Transfers of Care was suspended from 19 March 2020 with local areas 
reporting on a new set of metrics under the Hospital Discharge Service Policy.

This final plan for Leicestershire, was submitted to the Board for approval on 28 January 2021.

The investment schemes for this year covered: Integrated Community Services; Adult Social Care 
Sustainability; Workforce and Market Development; Integrated Commissioning, Mental Health, Urgent 
Care and Data Integration. In addition, the plan also included the Disabled Facilities Grant which was 
distributed to the District Councils in accordance with the funding rules.

Whilst the plans for 2020 were severely disrupted due to the pandemic, progress was made in a 
number of areas with the key achievements are set out below.

Key Achievements
County Wide Home First and Discharge Pathways
Much of the focus for this year has been on developing a seamless end-to end approach, to deliver 
the Discharge to Assess (D2A) guidance joining the Home First activity with discharge activity. This 
meets national objectives around ensuring people are supported to stay at home for as long as 
possible and to return there after any spells in acute care. This includes pathway design work and 
is being co-ordinated in conjunction with the Ageing Well agenda. Targets to discharge patients and 
assessing them in the community within two hours and provide reablement/intermediate care within 
two days also need to be met by services redesigned to meet this, including recruiting additional 
resources to meet this need. This work also takes into consideration, the requirements for the Home 
Care for Leicestershire service (see below) to ensure seamless onward referral.

Home Care for Leicestershire (Integrated Domiciliary Care)
Plans for the new home care service were severely impacted by the pandemic with the planned 
re-procurement postponed for 12 months to enable a full impact assessment to be carried out and 
plans modified if required. During this period, further market research was undertaken to ensure 
that the previously approved, pricing and delivery models were still fit for purpose. Procurement 
activities are expected to begin in April 2021 subject to market readiness following further Covid-19 
disruption over the winter period. Subject to a satisfactory outcome, implementation is planned for 
early November. 

Place-Based Models of Care
Community Care Offer

This work has been looking at the wrap-around care offer and what it needs to consist of, focusing 
on both ‘step up’ and ‘step down’ offers and how they differ. It has also looked at the interfaces with 
the Primary Care Network (PCN) development (see below) and the services within the Integrated 
Neighbourhood Teams along with other relevant sectors such as housing, which will be needed to 
support the model. This will include aligning Leicestershire’s care co-ordination models to work with 
health partners and their communities.

242



7  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Working through the Integrated Delivery Group an integrated vision of place-based activity is being 
developed. A Place Based Model for the Function of Care-Co-ordination within PCN/Neighbourhood 
Teams has been designed. This covers different patient groups:

• Most complex, top 5% of population;

• Stable complex/high risk, top 30% of population;

• Whole Population;

• Reducing Health Inequalities.

 
The model sets out the offer for each group, the level of joint input needed (multi-disciplinary team 
involvement) and the target outcomes. This will be designed as a community delivery model and 
will link to PCN delivery and work with local voluntary sector and District Council partners to build a 
holistic community response.

Population Health Management
An over-arching view of Population Health Management Data is being developed. This is being used 
to develop an Outcomes Framework and determine which groups will take ownership of which 
outcomes. Overall patient health will be the key measure of success in reducing health inequalities. 

The five overall aims of Population Health Management are to;

• Enhance Experience of Care;

• Improve the health and well-being of the population;

• Address health and care inequalities;

• Reduce per capita cost of health care and improve productivity;

• Increase the well-being and engagement of the workforce.
 
 
Demand and capacity modelling is underway, which will inform on the level of reorganisation needed 
to ensure that Adult Social Care localities are aligned with the Leicestershire Partnership NHS hubs, 
PCN’s and Districts. 

243



8  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Unified Prevention Board
The Unified Prevention Board (UPB) is the sub-group of the 
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board which was established 
to oversee and monitor the development and delivery of the 
Better Care Fund programmes underpinning the joint health 
and wellbeing strategy for Leicestershire. The Unified Prevention 
model has focused on the asset-based offer in localities as 
well as a broader agenda across the system, including a Social 
Prescribing Offer which includes First Contact Plus and Local 
Area Coordination.  

During the time period this report covers, the UPB stood down as many cells within 
the Leicestershire Resilience Forum Covid-19 response structure were attended 
by UPB members, for example the vulnerable persons cell and a social welfare 
cell. The cells have resulted in high levels of productivity, and the working groups 
offered a response to Government requirements and place initiatives by feeding into 
the Incident Management Team (IMT), the Tactical Coordinating Group (TCG) and 
elsewhere as required.   

As work now begins on the refreshed joint health and wellbeing strategy, it is 
timely to explore with partners and colleagues the future of the UPB  and, any 
future iteration of the Board should consider activities linked with the strategy 
including broader health improvement areas and the wider determinants and health 
inequalities agenda – the focus of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s development 
session in March 2021.  

244



9  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Children and families partnership board
In September 2018 the Children and Families Partnership launched the 
Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 2021 which is 
a strategic document setting out the shared vision for children, young people 
and their families and the priority outcomes that need to be improved. The 
Partnership agreed that the current five priority areas and key actions were still 
relevant for 2021-23, and the focus of actions should remain on identifying 
where improved partnership working would add value. The refreshed action 
plan was shared with and approved by the Partnership Board and Health and 
Wellbeing Board in November 2020.

Priority leads for each of the Plan’s five priorities nominated have continued to work with partners 
and other key stakeholders to progress agreed actions over the past year (2020-21) and during this 
period Mrs Taylor CC was appointed Chair of the Children and Families Partnership in July 2020. 
Mrs Taylor met with priority leads in September 2020 to request a review of current action plans in 
readiness for the refresh of the Partnership Plan. Priority leads were asked to consider any action 
required in response to the Covid-19 pandemic as part of their updates.

Progress reports were provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board in July and November 2020 
highlighting key achievements summarised below, the full November update can be viewed here  - 
(item 247): 

CHILDREN’S HEALTH IN LEICESTERSHIRE

9.9% 72.1%

 WIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH12.2
PER 1,000

LEICESTERSHIRE 2018

30.6% Year 6
pupils overweight

16.7
PER 1,000

UK 2018

Under 18 conception rate 
for Leicestershire has been 
significantly lower than the 
England rate since 1998

(including obesity), this is 
significantly lower than the 
national average of 35.2%

(12,379) of children aged 
under 16 in Leicestershire 
were living in the area in 
families in low income, 
this is significantly better 

than the national average 
of 15.3% (2018/19)

(5,539) of children 
achieved a good level of 
development at the end 
of Reception year, this 

is similar to the national 
average of 71.8% 

(2018/19)

245

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=6109&Ver=4


10  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Priority 1 - Ensure the best start in life:

Over the past year importance has been placed on understanding the impact that the pandemic has had on children’s 
development which will be further developed during 2021/2022, along with promoting the school readiness video and 
campaign, together with raising awareness and sharing key messages on the 1001 critical days.
 
Priority 2 - Keep children safe and free from harm:

The partnership delivery plan for Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) is in place and being monitored by the Child 
Vulnerability Ops groups. Violent Crime surge funding has been secured to fund staff to deliver work on the delivery 
plan and during the next year there will be a focus on integration with the multi-agency team and existing governance 
arrangements.

The Intensification week during September 2020 produced a positive response, with vulnerable people being identified, 
virtual workshops held targeting young people and professionals and in October 2020 there followed the launch of a short 
video briefing GPs across Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland (LLR) and a social media campaign.  

Moving forward there will be further development of the regional standards into key performance indicators and adoption 
of the standards to formulate the action plan, focussing on targeted groups such as BAME, LGBTQ, prevention of missing 
and commissioning arrangements amongst others. 
 
Priority 3 - Support children and families to be resilient:

During the last year, Julia Smith, Chief Officer, Communities and Wellbeing, Harborough District Council has joined as the 
new lead for this priority. Work across the Early Help Partnership has developed a refreshed action plan, focussed on the 
effective partnership delivery of early help services. Workshops were held in July and December 2020 to agree new terms 
of reference and governance processes and also to confirm shared priorities for action with an online training event being 
considered for the next year to promote widespread, consistent and joined up understanding in regard to Early Help.
 
Priority 4 - Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support:

The previous year has seen the development of a LLR SEND Joint Commissioning Strategy, received approval from LCC 
Cabinet in September 2020 for the SEND Inclusion Strategy, launched the Inclusion Service website: www.leicestershire.
gov.uk/education-and-children/schools-colleges-and-academies/inclusion-service and the new Assessment and 
Resource Team (ART) service in January 2021, to provide therapeutic services that support step-downs from residential 
care.
 
Priority 5 - Enable children to have good physical and mental health: 

There has been a focus on Adverse Childhood Experiences/Trauma Informed Practice over the past year with a significant 
number of activities and events aimed at promoting and training in this area. Events have been organised and delivered by 
the new Trauma-Informed schools network, virtual workshops commissioned by the Violence Reduction Network and the 
ACEs Project, delivered by Leicestershire Partnership Trust, has continued to offer consultancy and workforce development 
to youth justice teams and is planning to extend their offer subject to funding. Over the next year further alignment is 
planned with the Strategic Partnership Board to become a trauma-informed system 

Eight practitioners (four in Rutland and Melton and four in North West Leicestershire) have been appointed and 
commenced their training to provide mental health support in schools, with the intention that they will be operational by 
January 2022. 

246

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/schools-colleges-and-academies/inclusion-service
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/schools-colleges-and-academies/inclusion-service


11  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Health and Wellbeing Board Progress  
and Achievements 

Coronavirus Pandemic Impact and 
Response of the Local Care System
Since the beginning of the pandemic in early 2020, the Board 
has received regular updates concerning the impact of the 
coronavirus within the County and the initial response of the 
County Council and the local care system.

The updates, which were jointly produced by partners, provided members with 
information concerning local infection rates, testing, impact on the NHS and 
social care systems and more recently the roll out of the vaccination programme 
and the recovery work to protect residents, local services, and in particular our 
most vulnerable groups.

The Board praised the way in which health, social care and community partners 
had been working collectively together to minimise the spread of the virus, to 
effectively treat and support people who contract the virus and to maintain 
services for patients and service users. 

Section B
247



12  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Suicide and Prevention Strategic Approach
As a result of the coronavirus pandemic, meetings of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in March, April and May were cancelled in order to 
ensure partners had maximum capacity to manage and deliver the 
necessary resilience response. 

Whilst the Board’s work was minimised during this period, there were several previously 
scheduled items which required Board member’s consideration. These reports were circulated 
to members electronically who were asked to note/comment on the information contained. 

One such report concerned the revised Suicide Prevention Strategy (Strategic Approach). 
The report sought member’s views on the draft Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan 
for Leicestershire 2020-2023 which had been developed by the LLR Suicide Audit and 
Prevention Group.

The report also provided an overview of what is known about suicide locally, including factors 
that impact on levels of suicide, identification of those who may be at higher risk, and the 
evidence for effective prevention.  

The Strategy and Action Plan set out nine strategic priorities, each with an accompanying 
action that form the overall Action Plan. The priorities reflected areas where significant gaps 
and opportunities had been highlighted locally. Progress against the nine strategic priorities will 
be monitored quarterly by the LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group and will be reported 
annually and periodically to the three Health and Wellbeing Boards in the area. 

Those who responded supported the Strategy and Action Plan which was subsequently 
approved by the County Council’s Cabinet on the 23 June.  

7.8
PER 100,000

LEICESTERSHIRE 2017/19

10.1
PER 100,000

UK 2017/19

the 2017-19 suicide rate in Leicestershire is 
significantly better than the national rate

248



13  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Sexual Health Strategy
A report concerning the Council’s revised Sexual Health Strategy was also considered by 
members outside of the formal meeting process.

The report sought members views on the Sexual Health Strategy for 2020- 2023 and also included an overview of 
sexual health locally as evidenced in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment chapter on sexual health.

The 2020-23 Strategy recognised the changing commissioning landscape, development of the Integrated Care 
System and its impact on partners. It built on the work of the 2016-19 Sexual Health Strategy, which made 
significant progress in aligning a fragmented system across organisational boundaries. The 2020-23 Strategy 
focused on sexual health improvement, leadership and policy in Leicestershire. 

The revised Strategy will look to address the changes in people’s circumstances 
as a result of the coronavirus and also to promote digital and self-service 
methods of delivery which have worked well during the pandemic.
 

Those Board members who responded supported the Strategy which was subsequently approved by the County 
Council’s Cabinet on the 23 June.

Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan
At the Board’s meeting in September 2020, members considered a report which provided 
an annual progress update on the LLR Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan 
published in 2017. 

In 2016, Leicestershire County Council, Leicester City Council and Rutland County Council commissioned the 
development of a three-year sector growth plan for health and social care in LLR, supplementing the earlier activity 
led by the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) that had focussed on other key sectors. This 
was in recognition not only of the scale of the health and social care sector and its importance to a vibrant LLR 
economy, but also of the opportunity it presented for key partners to work together on well-recognised challenges. 

In reference to the Covid-19 response, it was noted that there is no doubt that the Covid-19 period had been 
exceptionally challenging for and across the sector and as a result a number of cross-sector initiatives and working 
arrangements had been put into place at very short notice. 

The Director of Adult and Communities explained that the County Council had engaged 
extensively with adult social care providers throughout the coronavirus pandemic in 
order to understand the challenges they faced and the additional support they required.  
 

It was noted that the current Plan, which covered the period 2017-2020, was coming to an end. A new Plan 
will be developed in line with the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership’s Economic Recovery Plan, 
recognising the importance of the health and social care sector to the local economy. 

The Board thanked those who had developed and delivered the Plan over the past three years which had 
highlighted the importance of the sector across LLR and the need for its continued support to promote further 
growth and development.

249



14  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Report of CAMHS Action plan
The Board considered a report in September 2020 from Healthwatch 
Leicestershire detailing the findings of a special project focussing on 
experiences of using Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in 
Leicestershire

The report highlighted the experiences of CAMHS service users and noted that the analysis of the 
responses indicated that the majority of service users felt listened to and the treatment they received 
met their needs. 

The Director of Families, Young People and Children’s Services at Leicestershire Partnership Trust 
(LPT) valued the opportunity to understand lived experience of the CAMHS service explaining that in 
light of the experience of service users highlighted in the Healthwatch report, an improvement plan 
had been developed and a 24/7 mental health helpline had been established.

At the January 2021 Health and Wellbeing Board meeting, the LPT Head of Service introduced the 
improvement plan responding to the recommendations in the Healthwatch report. It was noted that 
the key performance indicators for routine and urgent assessments have been maintained, however 
there have not been significant reductions in waiting times for treatment post assessment due to 
Covid-19 and the diversion of resources. Since September 2020 there has also been a 25% increase 
of referrals particularly high-risk complex children, along with increases in children with eating 
disorders and CAMHS crisis referrals which has presented challenges. 

LPT is taking a leading role in system transformation that is reporting into the Children and Families 
Partnership Board, and as an organisation is working with partners to learn how to best deliver a 
pathway and ensure children can access services. Board members were actively involved with this 
item and requested that progress against the improvement plan be brought to a future meeting of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

The rate of HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS for mental 
health conditions in children under 17 in 2019/20 in 

Leicestershire is significantly higher than the national rate.

109.3 89.5
PER 100,000

PER 100,000

LEICESTERSHIRE 2019/20 LEICESTERSHIRE 2019/20

250



15  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Primary Care Networks 
At its meeting in November, the Board considered a joint 
report of East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG and West 
Leicestershire CCG which provided an update concerning the 
progress of Primary Care Networks (PCN) across LLR since 
their implementation in the summer of 2019. 

The Board noted that the introduction of PCNs enabled groups of GP practices to 
work together to improve the provision of care within their local footprint. Each 
PCN received funding in order to provide roles such as a clinical pharmacist, a 
social prescribing link worker and a physiotherapist.

PCNs had developed additional roles as a result of the coronavirus pandemic, 
which had seen them provide operational resilience across practices, delivery 
vehicles for the coronavirus vaccine and hot hubs, which would enable patients 
suffering from coronavirus symptoms to be seen safely.

Members recognised the importance of collaborative working between the PCNs 
and district councils and work to further establish these relationships, along with 
other stakeholders such as the police, would continue.

251



16  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Healthy Weight Strategy
The November 2020 Health and Wellbeing Board considered a 
report of the Director of Public Health which sought views as part of 
the consultation process on the Draft 2021 – 2026 Healthy Weight 
Strategy.

The 5-year Leicestershire wide strategy highlighted partnership priorities and the 
approach to promoting a healthy weight and to tackle obesity in Leicestershire. The 
three themes of the Strategy covered promoting a healthy weight environment, support 
for people to achieve and maintain a healthy weight and prioritising a healthy weight 
through systems leadership.

It was noted that the strategy was a response to a recommendation in the 2019 Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment chapter on Obesity: Physical Activity, Healthy Weight and 
Nutrition and forms part of Leicestershire’s prevention programme and highlights that 
obesity is a complex issue requiring a complex system response. This is Leicestershire’s 
‘whole systems approach’.

The Board fed comments into the consultation process and noted that the Strategy 
would need to take account of the impacts arising from the coronavirus pandemic, 
including the difficulties faced by certain groups, particularly carers, to find time to 
exercise as they took on additional responsibilities.

Following the Board’s consideration, the Healthy Weight Strategy was approved by the 
County Council’s Cabinet in March 2021. 

HEALTHY WEIGHT STRATEGY IN LEICESTERSHIRE

62.7%

62.8%

LEICESTERSHIRE 2019/20

NATIONAL AVERAGENATIONALLY 2019/20

OF ADULTS CLASSIFIED AS 
OVERWEIGHT OR OBESE

PHYSICALLY  
ACTIVE ADULTS 
In 2019/20

LEICESTERSHIRE

67.6% 66.4%

252



17  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Board Development Session
The Board’s first virtual development session was held in March 2021 
with the focus on the wider determinants of health along with the draft LLR 
Health Inequalities Framework that will be a key driving force to embed 
reducing health inequalities in all we do, in the Covid-19 recovery landscape 
and shape the shortly to be refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Board 
Strategy.  

The Public Health Consultant with a lead for the wider determinants agenda, offered attendees 
an introduction and background to where we are now and where we need to be in Leicestershire, 
along with highlighting the importance of focussing on wider determinants of health which have 
a significant impact on health outcomes.  

A presentation on the LLR Health Inequalities Framework and translation to place, gave attendees 
an introduction into the partnership process undertaken so far, the golden thread from system to 
place to neighbourhood and an outline of how health inequalities fit into place-based plans.  

Focussed breakout groups on housing and homelessness, communities, skills and work and the 
natural and built environment allowed attendees broader discussion on these areas supported 
by expert facilitators and business intelligence led data. Attendees were invited to make a pledge 
and commitment to reducing health inequalities and the Director of Public Health proposed 
the next steps linking in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy, the creation of a wider 
determinants action plan and recommendations from the session will be further considered at a 
future Health and Wellbeing Board meeting.

2019-20 VIOLENT CRIME RATES

19.1

29.5

PER 1,000 
13,370 offences

PER 1,000

LEICESTERSHIRE

NATIONALLY

80.6%

76.2%

PEOPLE IN EMPLOYMENT 2019-20

16-64 year olds, 
341,600 of people 

in Leicestershire

which is significantly 
better than the 

national average of

253



18  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

JSNA
The local authority and Clinical Commissioning Groups have equal and joint 
statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
for Leicestershire, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The purpose of the JSNA is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce 
inequalities for all ages.  It is viewed as a continuous process of strategic assessment and planning 
with the aim to develop local evidence-based priorities for commissioning which will improve the 
public’s health and reduce inequalities.

Each chapter reviews the population health needs of the people in Leicestershire in relation to 
the subject matter and sets out the unmet needs and recommendations arising from the needs 
assessment so that these can be taken forward by commissioners. 

JSNA 2018-21 
The three-year time period (2018-21) for the JSNA cycle came to an end in March 2021.  The 
following JSNA chapters were published throughout the three-year period and can be found at the 
following link: www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html 

• Demography Report

• Economy Report

• Housing Report

• Oral Health of Children and Young People

• Oral Health of Adults

• Mental Health of Children and Young People

• Mental Health of Adults

• Best Start in life (0-5s)

• Alcohol Misuse in Adults

• Substance Misuse in Adults

• Air Quality and Health

• Obesity: Physical Activity, Healthy Weight and Nutrition

• Multimorbidity and Frailty

• Sexual Health

• Loneliness

• Tobacco Control

• Children and Young People’s Physical Health (5-19)

• Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)

254

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html


19  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Engagement 
It is important that the findings from the JSNA are used and promoted as the key evidence 
base in commissioning and strategic planning within the health and care system. To help 
with this, the findings of a couple of chapters were presented to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board during 2020. The SEND JSNA chapter was also presented to the SEND board in 
November 2020. 

Communications Campaigns
The past year has been like no other for health and wellbeing 
communications following the announcement of the first coronavirus 
case in Leicestershire on Friday 6th March 2020. 

Coronavirus has been at the forefront of partners’ communications for the last year. 
Communications played a vital, early role in unpicking how the national lockdown would 
affect services and staff – and how messages could get out quickly to help protect residents. 
Websites and intranets were updated, briefing notes were written and messages were sent to 
staff, partners, media and residents.

Throughout the year a rolling communications campaign of preventative messages has been 
delivered to encourage residents to follow national and local lockdowns. These included get 
tested, stay home to stay safe, follow the hands, face, space guidance and get a vaccination 
when offered. All available channels were used – from social media, to local media, to iVans 
with static and animated billboards on the side, to LED signs by the side of roads and leaflets 
posted through doors, to name a few.

There was a break from these messages in the form of ‘thank you Thursdays’ and front line 
staff celebrated on social media each Thursday, as the nation joined in a shared clap on their 
front doorsteps for key workers.

Since Christmas, lateral flow testing has been a communication priority. Marketing was 
focussed on targeted Facebook advertising, alongside a media campaign and over 30,000 
people have visited the sites since early January, booking through the County Council’s 
website. The Facebook campaign reached over 700,000 people and nearly 4,500 clicked 
through to book.

Alongside the coronavirus work, partners across the Health and Wellbeing Board have also 
worked to deliver joined-up communications campaigns targeted to the health and wellbeing 
outcomes in our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2022.

Mental health and wellbeing have been at the forefront of these campaigns linked to the 
impacts of the pandemic. Two mental health resource packs – one for adults and one for 
young people – were developed as part of the Start a Conversation campaign. These were 
shared across partners and regularly signposted to on social channels. The resource packs 
highlight specific services aimed at certain age groups, including younger children, older 
children, working age adults and over-55s and include self-help, wellbeing and physical 
activity advice, alongside who to contact for immediate crisis support.

700k

4,500

OVER

PEOPLE 
REACHED

CLICKED 
THROUGH 
TO BOOK

NEARLY

255



20  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Encouraging people to take control of their own health and wellbeing and the self-care options 
available was also a focus of communications. Lifestyles services – stop smoking and weight 
management – continued to be promoted, including a new year social media campaign and 
communications to support the launch of the new weight management in pregnancy programme. 
Social media, press releases and articles in Leicestershire County Council’s residents’ newsletter – 
Leicestershire Matters were used to highlight stop smoking and weight management case studies.

The annual flu vaccination campaign began in late summer and partners promoted this through 
a range of communications. Just before Christmas the first coronavirus vaccinations were given 
in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The coronavirus vaccination programme – the biggest in 
NHS history – started strongly. Communications were targeted to priority eligible groups based on 
advice from the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) to encourage uptake and 
challenge myths and disinformation. 

The Leicestershire Warm Homes Fund Project and the Warm Homes Service (delivered via 
First Contact Plus) have enabled eligible residents to have fully funded gas connections and 
central heating installed, which have been promoted steadily with organic and paid social media 
campaigns, Leicestershire Matters articles, comms toolkits shared with partners and parish councils 
and press releases. Ther was also a paid-for Facebook campaign which reached over 40,000 
people, with 1,352 click-throughs to find out more. It was particularly popular with over-65s.

The work of the Falls Prevention Steering Group has continued to be promoted by expanding and 
promoting the falls prevention leaflets.

Alongside the children and young people mental health work, healthier eating and exercise 
resources to families have also been promoted. Two animated videos were created with the 
children’s weight management service focussing on different aspects of healthy eating. The first, 
“Why you should eat your five a day”, is aimed at a younger audience and explains the benefits 
of fruits and vegetables, what counts as a portion, and why we should “eat the rainbow”. The 
second, “What’s the connection between food and mood?”, is aimed at an audience of older 
children. It contains five tips for improving mood through the food we eat, covering the importance 
of regular meals for maintaining blood sugar levels, as well as the effects of protein, good fats, 
vitamins and minerals, and water on our mood.

A webpage was also developed on Leicestershire County Council’s website bringing together 
information on mental health support and heathier eating / exercise resources for young people and 
their families – this was promoted via social media and a press release ahead of children returning 
to school following lockdown restrictions being lifted.

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s Twitter account has continued to share messages alongside 
partners social media. The Twitter account now has over 1,100 followers and during the last year 
the pages tweets have had over 42,000 impressions.

To plan for the coming year, it is anticipated that the evolving coronavirus situation locally, 
nationally and even globally will continue to play a major role in communications throughout 
2021 and into 2022. As recovery continues and health and wellbeing services across 
Leicestershire adapt to the “new normal”, one of the main priorities will be to balance coronavirus 
communications with promoting other key health and wellbeing messages as services resume. 

ADULTS (18+)
67,615 PEOPLE ARE 
CURRENT SMOKERS

LEICESTERSHIRE 2019 NATIONALLY 2019

12% 13.9% this is similar to the 
national average of

40,000

1,352

OVER
PEOPLE 
REACHED

CLICKED 
THROUGH 
TO FIND
OUT MORE

256

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=uSzbpSwIUWA&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tm0tLgI9dh0&t=6s


21  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Healthwatch Leicestershire -  
Reflecting back-2020
2020 was set to be a promising year as the organisation looked to 
extend the quality and quantity of connection and involvement of 
patients, public and stakeholders across Leicester and Leicestershire.  
Healthwatch information stalls were held within “Local Offer” events at 
the Morningside Arena in Leicester as well as the Loughborough Town 
Hall. Staff liaised with voluntary and community groups and support 
organisations to organise presentations on Social Prescription at 
Thurnby Lodge Community Centre and The Wolsey Building, the latter 
being a presentation to a group of pre-dominantly South Asian Women 
supported by Vista.

Healthwatch were fortunate enough to carry out CAMHS survey activity at Westcoates 
Centre and The Valentine Centre at Gorse Hill before the pandemic struck.  

The impact of Covid-19 was not only unexpected, it was also unprecedented. Healthwatch 
Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire acted quickly to maintain services through remote 
working and rapid adjustment to online meetings, increased use of social media and new 
ways of working. The organisation connected with Leicester Community Radio to reach a 
wider range of people through radio despite the lockdown, staff and volunteers volunteered 
to support community support initiatives such as foodbanks and supporting isolated people 
to participate in virtual coffee mornings.

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire were shortlisted for a national award 
for its “Enter & View” Discharge Lounge Report but all “Enter & View” activity stopped as 
the reality of the pandemic became clear. Not being able to deliver traditional models of 
community outreach work and volunteering opportunities affected staff as well as volunteer 
morale and motivation. 

Despite staff turnover, including a change in management, Healthwatch Leicester and 
Healthwatch Leicestershire continued to play an effective role championing the patient 
voice, especially influencing health service engagement priorities in areas such as inclusive 
and accessible marketing and effective communications. Throughout the various phases of 
lockdown, the views of the public have continued to be championed and concerns raised 
including reconfiguration and consultation activities. 

The impact of Covid-19 was 
not only unexpected, it was 
also unprecedented. 

257



22  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

The pandemic and resulting lockdowns also affected user participation leading to 
reduced number of respondents to surveys and participation in online meetings. The 
BAME Connect initiative gained momentum attracting the interest and involvement of De 
Montfort University, and continues to be supported by voluntary and community groups 
and individuals as well as health services. Disability continues to be championed ensuring 
access to information and services.

The new management team and staff have worked hard to overcome initial challenges 
along with completing outstanding projects and work priorities.  Closer relationships and 
partnerships have been forged across health and social care and Healthwatch Leicestershire 
continues to work closely with colleagues at Healthwatch Rutland. Volunteers remain 
involved in scoping activity to review for example GP websites for information on how to 
complain, accessibility or participation in the armed forces veteran’s covenant.

Healthwatch priorities for 2021 have been established and agreed by the Health Advisory 
Board following public consultation events, and the new programme of activities will see 
increased patient and community empowerment and engagement, work with Children 
and Young people, work with Homeless and Rough Sleepers, Male suicides as well as 
continuation of work on Covid-19 and Safeguarding. Healthwatch Leicestershire will also 
be working more closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board and other committees to 
represent the patient and public voice.

258



23  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Looking Forward

Technology Enabled Care
In January 2021, The Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report 
concerning the diagnostic work undertaken to explore opportunities to 
maximise the use of technology enabled care (TEC) across the adult 
social care pathway which would support people to continue to live 
independently.

It was noted that based on the diagnostic work undertaken, the County Council’s 
Cabinet would be asked to approve the proposal to commission a Leicestershire wide 
transformation approach - establishing a new service with the responsibility for providing 
TEC to those people who were eligible for adult social care. The Cabinet approved this 
approach in February 2021. 

Later in 2021 the Board will be provided with an update on the new service, which will be 
commissioned through a strategic partnership with Hampshire County Council. The update 
will detail how the strategic partner has worked alongside the Adult Social Care Pathway 
to establish care technology and help the Council to develop a programme of cultural 
change and engagement which drives high quality referrals, better understanding of care 
technology amongst practitioners and better outcomes for service users.

Section C
259



24  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Integrated Care Systems
In February 2021, the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) 
published proposals through a white paper to develop the NHS long term 
plan, along with proposing primary legislation relating to public health, 
social care and quality and safety matters. 

One of the key changes within the NHS long term plan is to establish Integrated Care Systems 
(ICSs) as statutory bodies. ICSs are made up of two parts: the ICS NHS body responsible 
for the day to day running of the ICS and the ICS Health and Care Partnership that will 
be established with partners from across the NHS, social care, public health and wider 
stakeholders including the voice of the public. The partnership will have responsibility for 
developing a plan to address the system’s health, public health and social care needs.

The Health and Wellbeing Board and the LLR ICS Health and Care Partnership will work 
together and have joint regard to ensure that developing plans and strategies compliment and 
support each other.

 

Joint Health and Wellbeing  
Strategy Refresh
The Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to have a place-based 
leadership role in driving partnerships along with a statutory requirement 
to produce the JSNA and a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The 
JSNA as introduced earlier in the annual report is the overarching 
assessment of the health and wellbeing needs of our population across 
the wider health and social care economy, and the joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy is the plan driven by the JSNA to improve the health 
and wellbeing of residents and reduce health inequalities.  

The strategy is due to expire in 2022 and the focus of the coming year for Board members 
will be to seek approval to consult residents of Leicestershire and begin to develop a new 
partnership strategy to guide the work of the Board and as previously raised, the work of the 
sub-groups and wider place led groups. We are hopeful as a partnership to be in a position to 
explore priorities to underpin our strategy that reflect the residents of Leicestershire.  

One of the key changes within the NHS long term plan is to 
establish Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) as statutory bodies.

260



25  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Air Quality and Health Workstream 
The Leicestershire ‘Air Quality and Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’ was 
published in May 2019.  It contained a ‘next steps’ recommendation around the need 
for the development and co-ordination of interventions that improve local air quality 
for everyone, not just based around pollution hotspots and Air Quality Management 
Areas that are identified and monitored by our District or Borough Councils.  

This approach was identified as giving potential for greatest impact on improving health, as air quality can 
affect the health of our population throughout the life course at any age, and disproportionately affect the 
most vulnerable contributing to health inequalities.  Air pollution is the biggest environmental hazard in 
terms of mortality and preventable deaths due to particulate matter PM2.5 and is the third leading cause of 
preventable deaths in Leicestershire, with approximately 88 attributable deaths in 2018.

To underpin this work, the JSNA recommended a partnership approach to create improvements in how 
we understand air pollution, reduce our contribution to it and mitigate against its risks to health.  A cross 
organisational Air Quality and Health Partnership and associated action plan have been created, led by 
Public Health and Environment and Transport, to deliver against these recommendations.  The joint action 
plan was approved by Leicestershire County Council Cabinet in October 2020, with the responsibility given 
to the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board to monitor the progress against the action plan.  The 
overarching partnership commitments include; 

• Active and sustainable travel: This work should act as a catalyst for behaviour change and modal shift 
to green travel. Each authority with support from the Counties active and sustainable travel team will be 
expected to promote active travel to their residents and workforce.

• Planning and development strategies and proposals: Guidance and frameworks should be developed 
with and for planners to support measures to improve air quality and identify and address developments 
which may worsen air quality. Each authority will be expected to contribute to the healthy design guide 
programme of work.

• Information sharing and campaigns: It is important that steps are taken to understand the public’s views, 
knowledge, attitudes and motivations, in order that they can be engaged in developing actions which are 
aligned with their priorities. Each authority will be expected to promote county-wide campaigns. 

 
A number of cross-organisation partners attend the partnership meetings, including representatives from 
numerous LCC departments, district partners working within both Environmental Health and community-
based roles, Public Health England and the CCG, working collectively towards the action plan.  The group 
meets every 6 weeks, has a set Terms of Reference and the action plan has clear accountability around 
which organisations are responsible for achieving each action and associated timeframes.

Whilst work has been completed as a group (led by monitoring officers) around increasing the understanding 
of the state of air pollution in Leicestershire, the impact of measures to improve air quality and statutory 
obligations and national targets on air quality, next steps are to engage with the public to consult and raise 
awareness of air pollution, its impact on health and personal protection measures to promote sustainable 
behaviour change.  

261



26  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory responsibility to prepare 
a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for Leicestershire. The PNA:- 

• Identifies the pharmaceutical services currently available and assesses the need for 
pharmaceutical services in the future; 

• Will be used to help inform the planning and commissioning of pharmacy services by 
identifying which services should be commissioned for local people, within available 
resources, and where these services should be located; 

• Will be used to help inform decision making in response to applications made to NHS 
England by pharmacists and dispensing doctors to provide any additional pharmacy 
provision. 

Due to the ongoing pressures across all sectors in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment has been postponed. The next assessment will be 
published in October 2022 in line with national guidance.

 
JSNA Refresh
Due to capacity being shifted in response to the Covid-19 pandemic in 
2020, there were two chapters on the JSNA work programme that were 
postponed and are due to be published in late 2021, these are:

• Dementia

• Carer’s

Recognising the important role that the JSNA plays in illustrating the health and wellbeing 
of the population of Leicestershire, the recommendations of each chapter will be looked at 
proactively. This will help to build up a picture of the further actions needed to improve health 
and wellbeing, and will help to inform future commissioning intentions. The next cycle of the 
JSNA will commence in March 2022.  It will be helpful to seek views from the Health and 
Wellbeing Board later this year about the prioritisation of work in the next JSNA cycle so that 
the production of chapters can be scheduled appropriately to inform the Boards’ strategic 
thinking and the commissioning of services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  
There may be new topics that are emerging for consideration and new approaches to the 
presentation of data that the Health and Wellbeing Board wishes to explore.

262



27  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020 - 2021

Moving forward
The year that this annual report covers has been difficult and 
unprecedented for our residents and those in the health and 
care professions that have worked tirelessly through Covid-19 
and the pandemic. The Health and Wellbeing Board has 
received updates on infection rates, testing and the roll out of 
the vaccination programme, along with regular updates on the 
planned phased recovery during what will be a challenging year 
to come. The learning from the previous year will re-shape our 
services and priorities along with continuing to model values of 
collaboration and partnership working. 

A refreshed joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will take this learning and 
create new areas of focus for the Board, with the recent development session 
highlighting some of the key challenges facing Leicestershire considering the 
wider determinants of health and the impact and importance of continuing to 
consider health inequalities.

263



V0
16

6

264



 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD:  
 

8 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 
 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present Healthwatch Leicestershire’s (HWL) Annual 

Report for 2020/21 which provides a summary of the activity it has undertaken this year 
as a jointly commissioned contract with Healthwatch Leicester. 
 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The County Council, following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, is required to 

directly commission a local Healthwatch. The local Healthwatch in turn has a set of 
statutory activities to undertake, such as gathering local views and making these 
known to providers and commissioners, monitoring and scrutinising the quality of 
provision of local services and a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 
Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Report 2020-21 be noted. 
 
Background 
 
4. The purpose of HWL is to promote improvements in local health and social care 

services – improving outcomes for local people in Leicestershire. HWL believes that 
the best way to do this is by designing local services around the needs and 
experiences of local people.  

 
5. The Annual Report contains details on the statutory activities undertaken over the last 

year and demonstrates the impact that these activities have made on the 
commissioning, provision and management of local health and social care services.  

 
6. The report gives examples of the work undertaken with statutory partners and 

illustrates how Healthwatch has worked to support the public in accessing information 
about Health and Social Care services. 

 
 

Officer to Contact 
 

265 Agenda Item 18



 
 

Mukesh Barot - Chief Officer 
Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire  
Tel: 0116 2518313 
email: Mukesh.Barot@healthwatchll.com  
 
Appendix 
 
Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
7. HWL is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) applies to all functions of 

public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality Act 2010. Schedule 19 list 
does not include Healthwatch England or Local Healthwatch organisations, however as 
bodies carrying out a public function using public funding it is subject to the PSED 
general duty. 

 
8. ECS/ Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health 

and social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that 
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise the 
Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in service 
commissioning and delivery.  

 
 
 

 
 

266



Then and now

On equal terms

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire

Annual Report 2020-21

267



Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

2
268



Contents

Message from our Chair 4

About us 5

Highlights from our year 6

Theme one: Then and now 7

Theme two: Then and now 9

Responding to Covid-19 11

Volunteers 14

Finances 16

Next steps & thank you 17

3
269



We worked collaboratively with the local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and colleagues 
at Healthwatch Rutland examining the impact of Covid-19 and patient experiences in accessing 
primary and secondary care. We had over 1300 responses to the survey. The full report and 
findings can be found on our website.

Working with colleagues from Leicester Hospitals we carried out a desktop review of the 
Discharge Lounge at Leicester Royal Infirmary. While there was some improvement following 
our previous visit the year before, we do still have recommendations.

May I take this opportunity to thank all who have engaged with us at Healthwatch Leicester 
and Healthwatch Leicestershire in the last twelve months, those who shared their experiences, 
and all the providers who have made changes to improve services as a result of the feedback.

Harsha Kotecha, Chair of Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire

4

I am very pleased to present the Annual Report for 
Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire for 
the year 2020-2021. With the impact of ongoing pandemic 
restrictions, the Healthwatch Advisory Board (HAB) and our 
staff remained active by moving to online meetings.

We recognised however that not everyone can access 
digital technology and therefore looked into areas of digital 
exclusion. I want to thank all our Board members for their 
continued passion and dedication to Healthwatch.

Message from our Chair

"We have adapted our way of working in the past 12 months 
due to the pandemic and have had to pause our Enter and View 
programme. The Healthwatch team and volunteers have 
supported our communities with food parcels, prescription 
collection and marshalling at the vaccination centres. We have 
hosted several online engagement events to hear about patient 
experiences, offer support and stay connected with our 
communities."

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

Our Board Members bring a broad range of skills, experience 
and skills to inform our priorities and decision making whilst 
also participating with various committees and organisations. 

We are your voice to influence and make a difference to 
health and social care both across Leicester and 
Leicestershire.

270



1 2 3

5

Here to make health and care better
We are the independent champion for people who use health and social care services in Leicester 

and Leicestershire. We’re here to find out what matters to people and help make sure your views 

shape the support you need, by sharing these views with those who have the power to make 

change happen.

Helping you to find the information you need
We help people find the information they need about services in their area. This has been vital 
during the pandemic with the ever-changing environment and restrictions limiting people’s access 
to health and social care services.

About us

Our goals

Supporting you to 
have your say 

We want more people to get 
the information they need to 
take control of their health 
and care, make informed 
decisions and shape the 
services that support them.

Providing a high 
quality service 

We want everyone who 
shares an experience or 
seeks advice from us to get a 
high quality service and to 
understand the difference 
their views make.

Ensuring your views 
help improve health 
& care

We want more services to 
use your views to shape the 
health and care support you 
need today and in the 
future.

“Local Healthwatch have done fantastic work 
throughout the country during the Covid-19 
pandemic, but there is more work ahead to ensure 
that everyone’s views are heard. Covid-19 has 
highlighted inequalities and to tackle these unfair 
health differences we will need those in power to 
listen, to hear the experiences of those facing 
inequality and understand the steps that could 
improve people’s lives.”

Sir Robert Francis QC, Chair of Healthwatch England

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

271



6

Reaching out

Responding to the pandemic

Making a difference to care

Health and care that works for you

Highlights from our year
Find out about our resources and how we have engaged and supported 
people in 2020-21.

We heard from

6272 people
this year about their experiences of 
health and social care.

We provided advice and information to

196 people
this year.

We engaged with and supported

16150
People during the COVID-19 pandemic this year.

We published

8 reports
about the improvements people would like to see to health and social care 
services. From this, we made 39 recommendations for improvement.

14 volunteers 
helped us to carry out our work. In total, they contributed 1,046 hours.

We employ 6 staff
100% of whom are full time equivalent, which is the same as the previous 
year.

We received

£299,989.92 in funding 
from our local authority in 2020-21 which is 1.12% more than the previous 
year.

11153 people
Engaged through our website.

3583
Engaged with us through
social media.

272



7Then and now   |   Healthwatch  Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire|   Annual Report 
2020-21

Theme one: Then and now
Hospital Discharge

Then: Discharge from Hospital

In July 2019, we visited the discharge lounges at Leicester Royal Infirmary, Leicester 
General Hospital and Glenfield Hospital.

We wanted to understand the experiences of patients being discharged from hospital, how 
involved patients were in planning their discharge, if they were happy with the process of being 
discharge, and how comfortable they were with what was decided for their discharge in terms of 
where they were discharged to.

We found that most patient admissions were unplanned or emergency admissions. This would 
mean that their discharge planning would take place whilst they were in hospital and that no 
planning could take place prior to their admission as could happen with a planned admission.

Waiting for medication was a major cause for delays, with patients left in the discharge lounge for 
long periods of time with little or no information.

We were shortlisted under the ‘The impact our team makes’ category in the 
Healthwatch Awards 2020 for the hospital discharge project which has helped an NHS 
hospital understand how they could improve their patient discharge process.

273



8

In October 2020, we revisited the lounges to find out if there had been any changes or 
improvements. Due to Covid-19 restrictions, the interviews were conducted by the 
Matron and her team at Leicester Royal Infirmary only.

We found that University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) have introduced new Covid-19 pathways for 
all processes including discharge. The discharge lounges have been decorated since our first visit 
and they appear to be more comfortable and brighter for patients.

We have raised with UHL the need for better communications on the wards when organising the 
discharge for patients and the ongoing issues for patients having to wait for both medication and 
transport.

Nationally, the work is being used by NHS England and the Department for Health and Social Care 
to support the review of the discharge guidance and has highlighted the need for greater support 
for those with low level or short term needs leaving hospital. This is due to be outlined in the 
refreshed guidance.

Now: Improvements to the discharge 
process

Share your views with us

If you have a query about a health and social care service, or need 

help with where you can go to access further support, get in touch. 

Don’t struggle alone. Healthwatch is here for you.

www.healthwatchll.com

0116 251 8313

enquiries@healthwatchll.com

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

The discharge lounge at LRI

“Listening and responding to 

patient feedback is integral to our 

transformational approach to 

service redesign. We will be using 
this feedback within our safe and 

timely discharge quality 

improvement work stream to 

shape our discharge services 

going forward".

Gill Staton, Head of Nursing, Patient Flow 
and Discharge, UHL

274



9

Theme two: Accessing and 
using Children and Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) 

Then: What does CAMHS look like?

We wanted to understand the experiences of young people using the Children’s and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in Leicester and Leicestershire.

We have received feedback from parents over several years about delays in accessing treatment 
for CAMHS.

In 2016, Healthwatch Leicestershire visited the CAMHS Unit and young people told Healthwatch 
that there was a positive relationship between them and the staff. We saw evidence of a 
well-developed programme of activities (therapeutic and social) for young people. Staff told us 
that Carers’ Assessments are not routinely offered.

CAMHS was a national focus for Healthwatch England in 2017-18 and is an area of concern 
highlighted in several Healthwatch areas across the Midlands.

Work has been carried out by Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) to address the delays 
within CAMHS. We received feedback to suggest this may have moved delays from waiting to be 
assessed, to waiting for treatment. Further investigation was therefore needed to see if this is the 
case.

Then and now   |   Healthwatch  Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire|   Annual Report 
2020-21

275



10

We wanted to find out how people feel about different aspects of the CAHMS service. We 
attended clinics at Westcotes and Valentines Road to speak to people who were waiting for 
appointments.

90 people completed our survey. We shared our findings with LPT who reviewed and considered 
the findings and our recommendations.

Now: Improved CAMHS services

Some of the changes implemented:

The introduction of the Triage and Navigation service in May 2020 has enabled referrals for 
emotional and mental wellbeing to be appropriately directed to the right agency. This has resulted 
in a reduction of inappropriate referrals to Specialist CAMHS.

As part of the national response to the Covid 19 pandemic, LPT has operationalised an all age 
Urgent Care Hub for people in mental health crisis. This service offers urgent mental health 
assessment, initial treatment and signposting. This service is well utilised and will continue on a 
permanent basis going forward.

November 2020, saw the launch of ‘The Beacon’ – new mental health facility for children and 
young people in Leicester and Leicestershire. We asked for and received commitment to Young 
People being involved on the recruitment panel for the selection of staff who will be working at 
The Beacon.

Posters and information leaflets are now on display in all waiting areas advising Children and 
Young People (CYP) and their families on how to raise concerns or make a complaint.

The CAMHS website has been updated to include information on support services including Health 
for Teens and Chat Health as well as a clear link to accessing urgent mental health support 
through the Central Access Point which is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

With regard to access to services, LPT have established a working group looking at improving 
access to CAMHS for CYP from black and minority ethnic communities.

“Our vision at Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) is to 

‘create high quality, compassionate care and wellbeing for all’ –

and our patients and families are at the heart of this. We are 

proud of our close relationship with Healthwatch and value their 

independent voice and supporting our priorities around patient 

involvement and experience. In particular, our Patient 

Experience and Involvement Team have worked more closely 

with Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire over 

the past 18 months and they have been integral at supporting 

and championing the Trusts patient experience and involvement 

agenda."

Kamy Basra, Associate Director of Communications, LPT

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

276



11

Responding to
Covid-19

Healthwatch plays an important role in helping people to get the 
information they need, especially through the pandemic. The insight we 
collect is shared with both Healthwatch England and local partners to 
ensure services are operating as best as possible during the pandemic.

This year we helped 16150 people by:

• Providing up to date advice on the Covid-19 response locally

• Linking people to reliable up-to-date information

• Telephone befriending service

• Supporting the community volunteer response - we have given 42 hours of volunteer support 
and delivered 458 hot meals to families and individuals

•We reached 100,000s of listeners with appearances on BBC Radio Leicester and Radio Seerah

• Participating in the Covid-19 Mutual Aid UK Leicester video which has had over 77K views on 
Twitter

Then and now   |   Healthwatch  Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire|   Annual Report 
2020-21

277



“I have been on Healthwatch for a few months and was only 

able to join in Zoom meetings which I am pleased to discuss 

Deaf People’s problem with communications due to wearing 

masks. As I am the Chair for ‘Over 50’s Deaf Club’, I am 

aware that some do not have access to websites, computer 

or WhatsApp. With the lockdown I was able to contact them 

through Facetime or texting.” - Anne Lawrence

12

We adapted to new ways of working using 
online meeting platforms and new 
technologies, whilst also recognising those 
members of the public that increasingly 
became digitally excluded. Initial responses to 
getting information out to communities 
focused on traditional marketing and 
communications.

We were instrumental in voicing the 
communication needs of disabled and 
marginalised communities and suggested use 
of alternative methods such as the use of 
videos with presenters that reflect the 
communities being targeted. This has been 
very effective in reaching and influencing 
behaviours and awareness of Covid-19.

Top four areas that people have contacted us about:

Adapting to Covid-19

GP services

Support services

Dentistry

Vaccines

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

278



Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

13

Using Health and Care service during Covid-19 
lockdown

BME Connect

We wanted to understand how the national pandemic lockdown was impacting on how 

residents were accessing health and care services as well as how services were changing 

to meet the challenges of such restricted patient mobility.

In partnership with the local NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) we reached out to 

local people to share their views. We ran a survey between 29 April and 7 June 2021. In 

total 1383 responses were received with 835 responses from people across Leicester and 

Leicestershire who told us that:

• There was a good access to information available. However more consistent 

communications would have improved patient experience. There was almost too much 

information, so understanding what guidance to follow became much more challenging.

• Having a greater focus on online or phone triage within Primary Care services was seen a 

mostly positive for residents.

• A significant portion of residents have not sought help and support for health and care 

issues during lockdown. This is likely to impact on services once restrictions are lifted.

• It is widely felt that the pandemic has had an impact on people’s mental health.

The response to our survey from minority ethnic (BME) people was low and this 
limited our ability to analyse how the Covid-19 lockdown impacted on these communities.
Therefore, to understand further the impact of Covid-19 lockdown on minority ethnic 
communities, we established ‘BME Connect’ – a platform for communities to come together to 
talk about the issues that matter the most to them.

This unique project began looking into mainstream methods of marketing and communication 
and its impact, influence and connectivity to BME community settings. 

We have been working with NHS engagement leads, voluntary and community groups, De 
Montfort University (Stephen Lawrence Centre) “De-Centred” community podcasts and Leicester 
Community Radio to look at how minority ethnic communities are communicated with and 
involved by NHS and Council services. 

We continue to work with different community representatives across the City and County to 
improve sustained engagement, access and communications. 

Contact us to get the information you need

If you have a query about a health and social care service, or need help 

with where you can go to access further support, get in touch. Don’t 

struggle alone. Healthwatch is here for you. 

www.healthwatchll.com

0116 251 8313

enquiries@healthwatchll.com

279



14

Volunteers

At Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire we are 
supported by 14 volunteers to help us find out what people think is 
working, and what improvements people would like to make to services.

This year our volunteers:

• Supported our online ‘Healthwatch Hour’ sessions, activities and events

• Carried out website reviews for local services on the information they provide

•Helped support our day-to-day running

•Discussed additional support needs e.g. Training

• Volunteers participated in an end of year festive get together and quiz

Then and now   |   Healthwatch  Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire|   Annual Report 
2020-21

280



15

Volunteer with us

Are you feeling inspired? We are always on the lookout for new 

volunteers. If you are interested in volunteering, please get in touch.

www.healthwatchll.com

0116 251 8313

enquiries@healthwatchll.com

Moraig Yates

“I am a long-time member of Healthwatch 

and over the past year I have been involved 

in Zoom meetings with the Forum and Enter 

and View teams. I have also enjoyed 
accessing GP websites for a survey we have 

been doing, finding out which ones have easy 

access to information, and which are more 

difficult.”

Mark Farmer, Healthwatch Advisory 

Board Member

“As someone with mental ill health, I have 
used my Healthwatch role to champion the 
voice of service users and carers in the 
provision of mental health services. I have 
been working hard behind the scenes to 
ensure that something is done about the high 
rate of male suicides, the long waiting times 
for secondary mental health services and that 
services focus on keeping well and happy. I 
am pleased to report that all these areas are 
going to be prioritised.”

Then and now | Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire | Annual Report 
2020-21

Due to the ongoing pandemic restrictions, The Healthwatch Advisory Board (HAB) moved to 
host online meetings. Towards the end of the year, we were sad to see Rita Patel leave to 
continue her role in research. 

We have appointed a new member, Kash Bhayani who brings a wealth of board experience, 
and his early career was in social care working with various client groups who have difficulties 
including mental health, substance use, offending and domestic abuse.

281



Finances

To help us carry out our work we receive funding from our local authority under the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Income

Expenditure

16

£299,989.92

£50,680.00

£25,047.42

Total income
£375,717.34

Funding received
from local authority

Additional funding

Balance brought
forward from
2019/20

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

£18,323.81

£64,833.87

£252,116.21

Total expenditure
£335,273.89

How much it costs to
run our H/W

Operational Costs

Staff Costs

282



17

Next steps & thank you

Each year, Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire develop and deliver 
special projects based upon and informed by local feedback as well as identification of 
issues, gaps or barriers.

This work is in addition to our core programme of work and is supported by and agreed 
by our commissioners within Leicester City Council and Leicestershire County Council. Our 
initial focus will take into consideration the following areas.

1. Access to dentists
2. Personal health budgets

3. Social isolation and loneliness

Top three priorities for 2021-22
1. Reviewing the new models of care (changes in response to the pandemic) 

2. Male Suicide, particularly in ethnic minorities and LGBTQ+ communities

3. Homelessness – Access to primary care 

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire continue to play an effective role 
championing the patient voice, especially influencing health service engagement priorities 
in areas such as inclusive and accessible marketing and effective communications. 
Throughout the various phases of lockdown, we have continued to champion local 
people’s views and concerns including hospitals and maternity reconfiguration and 
consultation activities. 

The new management team and staff have worked hard to overcome initial challenges of 
staff turnover and the impact of the pandemic including completion of outstanding 
projects and work priorities. We have forged closer relationships and partnerships across 
health and social care and continue to work closely with our colleagues at Healthwatch 
Rutland.

Our new programme of activities for 2021-22 will see increased patient and community 
empowerment and engagement, work with Children and Young people, work with 
Homeless and Rough Sleepers, Male suicides as well as continuation of work on Covid-19 
and Safeguarding. We will also be working more closely with Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and other committees to represent and increase the patient and public voice. 

Next steps

283



18

Statutory statements
About us

Engaging Communities Solutions (ECS) is the contract holder for Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch 

Leicestershire. The ECS corporate office is based at: Unit 42, Staffordshire University Business Village, Dyson 

Way, Staffordshire Technology Park, Stafford, Staffordshire, ST18 0TW - www.weareecs.co.uk

The local office is based at: Clarence House, 46 Humberstone Gate, Leicester, LE1 3PJ.

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire uses the Healthwatch Trademark when undertaking 

our statutory activities as covered by the license agreement.

The way we work

Involvement of volunteers and lay people in our governance and decision-making.

Our Healthwatch Advisory Board consists of five members who work on a voluntary basis to provide 

direction, oversight and scrutiny to our activities. Our board ensures that decisions about priority areas of 

work reflect the concerns and interests of our diverse local community. Through 2020/21 the board met on 

a monthly basis with every other meeting being a public meeting. We implemented a new decision making 

policy and made decisions to approve areas of work to address health inequalities and other areas of focus 

informed from community feedback and enquiries. In particular we were instrumental in influencing the use 

of short Covid-19 advice videos with presenters reflecting diverse staff and people instead of the traditional 

use translations by service providers.

We ensure wider public involvement in deciding our work priorities by carrying out independent research and 

evaluations of health and social care. We rely on your feedback and experience of health and social care 

services to influence how services can be improved and how best practice can be shared. This is done via;

• Online consultations, feedback from social media, our feedback centre, direct conversations, forums, 

networking, collaborative meetings and community radio group interviews.

• Issues identified from phone messages and within reports or committee meetings.

Then and now   |   Healthwatch  Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire|   Annual Report 
2020-21

284



19

Methods and systems used across the year’s work to obtain people’s views 

and experience.

We use a wide range of approaches to ensure that as many people as possible have the 
opportunity to provide us with insight about their experience of health and care services. During 
2020/21 we have been available by phone, email, provided a webform on our website, provided 
a feedback centre, attended virtual meetings of community groups and forums, provided our 
own virtual activities and engaged with the public through social media.

We are committed to taking additional steps to ensure we obtain the views of people from 
diverse backgrounds who are often not heard by health and care decision makers. This year we 
have done this by identifying individuals and diverse organisations previously not known to the 
health and social care system.

We ensure that this annual report is made available to as many members of the public and 
partner organisations as possible. We publish it on our website at www.healthwatchll.com and 
share it with relevant committees.

Responses to recommendations and requests

We had 0 providers who did not respond to requests for information or recommendations.

This year, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, we did not make use of our Enter and View powers. 
Consequently, no recommendations or other actions resulted from this area of activity.

There were no issues or recommendations escalated by our Healthwatch to Healthwatch 
England Committee and so no resulting special reviews or investigations.

Health and Wellbeing Board

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire is represented on the Leicester Health 
and Wellbeing Board and Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board by Harsha Kotecha, Chair 
and Mukesh Barot, Chief Officer.

During 2020/21 our representatives have liaised with local authority democratic service 
officers and other leads to discuss papers for presentation and discussion at board meetings.

Then and now   |   Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire   |   Annual Report 
2020-21

285

http://www.healthwatchll.com/


Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire

Clarence House

46 Humberstone Gate

Leicester 

LE1 3PJ

www.healthwatchll.com

t: 0116 251 8313

e: enquiries@healthwatchll.com

@HealthwatchLeic

HealthwatchLL

HealthwatchLL

If you need this in an alternative format, please contact us.

286



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 8TH JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE HOUSING SERVICES PARTNERSHIP 
 

HOUSING UPDATE 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

update concerning housing and the Lightbulb Partnership, including key housing 
related projects currently underway across Leicestershire.  

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

 
2. Housing is critical to people’s health and wellbeing, it is also a key factor in the 

generation of health inequalities. The Lightbulb Partnership (hosted by Blaby District 
Council) supports people in remaining in their own homes by delivering a joined up 
approach to aids and adaptations and a comprehensive housing assessment called a 
Housing MOT.  The Housing Enablement Team (HET), funded by health, supports 
hospital discharge by placing housing specialists within discharge teams. 
 

Recommendation 
 
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report. 

 
Background 
 
Homelessness figures. 

 
4. The Chief Housing Officers Group (CHOG) continues to monitor homeless figures on 

a weekly basis to ensure early recognition of emerging trends.  As the table below 
illustrates, figures up to end of 14th June show a sharp increase in the number of new 
homeless cases, from 105 in week ending 6th June to 138 week ending 14th June.  
Additionally, there is evidence of increased numbers of people being asked to leave 
private rented accommodation, an impact of the lifting of the eviction embargo on 31st 
May 2021. Use of temporary accommodation due to Covid (those accommodated 
through Everyone In) continues to reduce as people are moved onto more long term 
solutions. 
 

5. CHOG are also monitoring availability of private rented accommodation as evidence 
is showing that it is increasingly difficult to accommodate people into private rented 
accommodation due to the high demand for such properties and landlords leaving 
the market. 

 
 

287 Agenda Item 19



 

        

        

Questions 

Snaps
hot 

 
13/1
0/19 

09/05/
2021 

16/05/
2021 

23/05/
2021 

30/05/
2021 

06/06/
2021 

13/06/
2021 

1 a) Amount of new rough sleepers this 
week? 1 8 5 9 0 4 10 
1 b) Total number of rough sleepers 
known to the district?  
(including anybody counted in 1a) 2 20 16 30 11 10 26 

                
2) Number of new cases of 
homelessness this week as a result of:               
                    a) Friends or Relatives no 
longer able to house? 41 45 37 45 36 37 47 

                    b) End of Private Rent? 21 16 21 14 18 15 26 

                    c) End of Social Rent? 6 2 6 2 4 5 5 

                    d) Domestic Abuse? 5 12 15 18 13 12 10 
                    e) Non Abusive Relationship 
Breakdown? 9 9 7 5 5 8 9 

                    f) Other 32 32 36 41 38 28 41 

                
3) Total New Cases of Homelessness 
this week?  114 116 122 125 114 105 138 

                
4 a) The number of Households who are 
currently in emergency 
 accommodation in response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic? 1 203 190 185 179 179 173 
   b) The total number of single person 
households 
 (individual/couples with no dependants) 
in Temporary Accommodation (Total 
households not people)? 60 562 553 551 540 532 502 
   c)The total number of family 
households in Temporary 
 Accommodation? (Total households not 
people)? 67 152 148 145 150 159 144 

 
 
Rough Sleeper Initiative 
 

6. The seven districts, together with Rutland were successful in securing £430,000 for       
from the Rough Sleeper Initiative 4 funding. This covers: 

 

 Continuation of CBC Lettings   - CBC Lettings is a Social Lettings Agency who work 
to identify private sector landlords with available accommodation and broker 
bespoke packages of support and assistance to persuade landlords to let to clients 
that would not normally meet their eligibility criteria 

 Continuation of Mill House  - Mill House has provided emergency bed spaces for 
those rough sleeping or at serious risk of rough sleeping  

 An extension of the Support Worker roles provided by the Bridge, split into 2 
dedicated outreach workers and 3 supported lettings workers 

 6 additional units of accommodation provided by EMH under a “Homes First” pilot  

288



 

 A rough sleeping co-ordinator  The co-ordinator will co-ordinate and allocate 
resources within the rough sleeping pathway as well as build formal links with other 
service providers to ensure that limited resources are targeted most effectively at 
those in greatest need and closest to the street to ensure that interventions 
maximise their impact. A pot for personal budgets to assist cases that’s needs fall 
outside the existing interventions. 
 

CCG Place Led Plans 
 

7. Housing leads are linking in with the discussions that are taking place within localities on 
Place Based plans. The importance of housing and homelessness data and the 
associated knowledge is recognised and will be considered in the developing plans. 
 

Other work being overseen by CHOG 
 

 Development of prisoner protocol and refresh of the 16/17 Homelessness and 
Leaving Care protocols 

 Overseeing Rural Housing enabler contract with an emphasis on site identification 
for new developments in rural areas. 

 Discissions with partners on the approach to customers with complex needs and 
sustaining tenancies 

 Warm homes funding opportunities  

 Domestic Abuse Act implementation  - consideration of the housing implications 
and linking in with the county DA group. 

 
Hoarding 

 
8. Following the agreement between the districts to jointly fund a hoarding pilot by top 

slicing some DFG monies within the Better Care Fund to smooth pathways for 
professionals and residents of Leicestershire, the updates on the pilot are detailed 
below:-  
 

 A Team has been recruited and currently undergoing specialist training.  

 A joint strategic protocol has been agreed, between social care and district councils 
to create a starting point for assessment of complex cases that require a multi-
disciplinary approach 

 During the pandemic there have been a number of enquiries directly from residents 
themselves to request help. Initial conversations have begun with professionals and 
customers to gain intel on the pathway, however as is the case nationally most 
have been reluctant to engage in any face to face work until restrictions are lifted. 
 

Next steps 

 To engage with professionals and work on supporting with ‘live cases’ 

 To develop a sustainable pathway for professionals post the end of the pilot 

 To gather evidence and feedback from residents to ensure they engage on a 
prevention pathway 

 
 

Lightbulb 
 

9. The team have provided core services throughout the pandemic, navigating restrictions 
by introducing a lot more self-service and virtual appointments. There has been a 

289



 

significant increase in urgent cases, which mainly consist of hospital discharges. This in 
turn has resulted in increased wait time for routine cases.  
 

10. Over 2020/21 the Occupational Therapists, Technical officers and Trusted Assessors 
supported 4,751 residents to remain independent in their homes 

 
11. As part of recovery works Lightbulb have:- 

 Introduced the adaptations grant and hospital discharge grant to allow professionals 
to refer for adaptations which supports the home first model. Also changed policy so 
that matches the D2A pathway which aims at reducing the gap of residents 
eligibility for grants 

 Lightbulb are currently working with OT service at UHL to smooth the process of 
discharge in particular looking at how to support access to properties when 
returning home from hospital 
 

12. Work will shortly start on the new business case for Lightbulb which is due to be 
submitted for approval in April 2022. 

 
Assistive Technology 

 
13. All districts have agreed to top slice some of their DFG funding to develop an Assistive 

Technology offer, aimed at integrating this into the Housing MOT, supporting people to 
stay in their homes longer. Recruitment is underway for a project manager to support this 
programme and, there will be close collaboration on this project with the County Council 
and their Technology Enabled Care offer. 

 
The HET Team 

 
 

14. The team continue to support the Integrated Discharge Team successfully with referrals 
numbers for 2020/21 reaching a third higher than the year before. Leicestershire 
Partnership Trust have agreed to continue to fund the additional HET support in 
community rehab for 2021/22, which will also support patient flow. 

 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Toman, Chief Executive, Blaby District Council 
Telephone: 0116 272 7576 
Email: jane.toman@blaby.gov.uk 

290


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2021.
	7 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh.
	Appendix A HWB Governance Structure
	Appendix B JHWS Project Board Attendance

	8 Overview of the Integrated Care System and its Purpose, Principles and Priorities.
	Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board ICS

	9 Outputs and Recommendations arising from the Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session held on 25 March 2021.
	Appendix A Development Session Agenda
	Appendix B Development Session Appendix Organisation list
	Appendix C Development Session Pledges

	10 Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Health Inequalities Framework.
	Appendix - Appendix A - HI Framework
	Appendix B - Stage 1 EHIRA- HIF

	11 Wider Determinants of Health Action Plan.
	Appendix - Action Plan - WD

	12 Air Quality and Health Action Plan.
	Appendix - Air Quality and Health action plan.

	13 Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan: Progress Update.
	14 Domestic Abuse Act 2021.
	15 Transforming Care for those with Learning Disabilities and/or Autism.
	Appendix A - LeDeR Annual Report 2020-21
	Appendix B - Summary of 3 Year Road Map
	Appendix C - Transfo Care LLR - Annual Report 20-21

	16 Framework for Integrated Personalised Care.
	Framework for Integrated Personal Care App A
	Framework for Integrated Personal Care App B

	17 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2020/21.
	Health and Wellbeing Annual Report
	Foreword - Mr Breckon 
	Introduction
	Integration And The Better Care Fund
	Key Achievements
	Unified Prevention Board
	Children and families partnership board
	Coronavirus Pandemic Impact and Response of the Local Care System
	Suicide and Prevention Strategic Approach
	Sexual Health Strategy
	Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan
	Report of CAMHS Action plan
	Primary Care Networks 
	Healthy Weight Strategy
	Board Development Session
	JSNA
	JSNA 2018-21 
	Engagement 
	Communications Campaigns
	Healthwatch Leicestershire - 
Reflecting back 2020
	Technology Enabled Care
	Integrated Care Systems
	Air Quality and Health Workstream 
	Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
	
JSNA Refresh
	Moving forward
	Section A
	Section B
	Section C


	18 Healthwatch Annual Report 2020/21.
	Healthwatch LL Annual Report 2020-21

	19 Housing Services Update.



